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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to HK$17,328,000 (2024:
HK$20,158,000) of which HK$15,990,000 (2024:
HK$15,104,000) was attributable to the business
of publishing and intellectual properties ("IPs")
licensing; HK$111,000 (2024: HK$2,597,000) was
attributable to digital marketing; HK$1,227,000
(2024: HK$2,457,000) was attributable to
retailing and wholesales business. Loss for the
year attributable to equity holders, taking into
account of taxation, was HK$27,963,000 (2024:
HK$20,782,000). The loss per share was HK1.7
cents (2024: HK1.2 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Following the COVID-19 pandemic, the overall
economy has yet to recover in the past
two years. Against the acute business and
economic environment, coupled with unstable
geopolitical factors, the Group remains focus on
conserving resources, restructuring operations,
and taking actions to control and reduce costs
and expenses, helped the Group fo preserve
its resources. During the year ended 31 March
2025, total revenue has decreased 14.0% from
HK$20,158,000 in 2024 to HK$17,328,000 in 2025.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

Publishing and IPs Licensing Business

The publishing and IPs licensing business
is stable. Revenue from this segment, were
HKS$15,990,000 in 2025 and HK$15,104,000 in
2024. The Company is putfting more effort on
publication book sales of IPs" owned or under
licenses, and to broaden the scope of licensing
business. Other than IPs licensing, the Group is
planning to expand including publishing and
distribution of certain comic title in the last
season of this financial year.

Digital Marketing

In streamlining its operations, following
the voluntary liquidation restructuring, the
remaining operations of the digital marketing
divisions in Beijing and Guangzhou have been
substantially scaled down. Revenue from these
divisions decreased sharply by 95.7% from
HK$2,597,000 in 2024 to HKS$111,000 in 2025. The
total number of employees was reduced from
3 to 1. This significant revenue decline resulted
from uncertain business recovery prospects
and substantial talent drain in operations. In
scaling down the digital marketing business, the
Company anficipates recovering and receiving
cash from the net asset value distribution upon
completion of the voluntary liquidation, which
will be retained as general working capital for
the Group. Furthermore, the voluntary liquidation
process remains ongoing for our non-wholly
owned subsidiary, Beijing Star Engine Information
Technology Co. Ltd. ("Beijing Star Engine"),
which was engaged in providing technical
support and services of our digital marketing
team to our customers.

Retailing and Wholesales Business

The Group’s premium wine is primary for
consumption by high-end consumer groups or
restaurants and are mainly sold on a wholesale
basis. Overall, sales are stable, but are subject
to market demand and revenue is not stable.
The Group is also currently put focus on selling
the wine in large lots to generate positive cash
flow and liquidity of inventories.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Natural Language Processing

Since commencing natural language processing
operations, the Group has leveraged ifs
expertise in Al technology and past research
and development experience to invest in the
development and production of sofftware and
chipset with natural language processing
tfechnology, with a focus on Chinese language
voice recognition. Several invention patents
have been obtained, and progress has been
made in product applications.

The Group is expecting this first application of
such fechnology will yield the first fruitful result
of years of efforts in supporting the research
and development of artificial intelligence for
Chinese language recognition. The Group
believes that Al speech recognition chips
(i.e., language chips), as one of the core
components for loT interaction, will be applied
in digital marketing research as analytical tools
and widely used in mobile phones, intelligent
home devices, loT applications, etc. During
this financial year, the Group has focused on
enhancing Al speech technology, particularly
on developing and improving software fo
facilitate real-time human-machine interaction.
Given the highly competitive Al market, the
Group has adopted a prudent strategy fo enter
the market primarily through collaborations
or licensing arrangements, which may noft
generate significant revenue for the Group in
the short term. For the twelve months ended 31
March 2025, net operating expenses amounted
to approximately HK$2,581,000, excluding
amortization of intangible assets, impairment
loss under ECL model and provision for legal
claim. This was mainly due to costs associated
with personnel and business promotion.
Headcount employed for this business segment
now stands at 14 and the Group will continue
to hire professionals in building a technical and
business development team.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
FRBEE

PROSPECT =32

We note that pivotal changes are occurring BMIENERERLEBERUESE BHER
in our operations. While striving to maintain BEXEKI>HNAFTEXRKENER L

sustainable development levels in existing BARESEREEINERSEREBEAT BT HAKRE
business segments, we aim to swiftly bring the BAEER ENRBAMRTEE BRESE
natural language processing division to market BEBSMEBRENEESELALE B
and generate profits for the Group. In light of the ERETEERERSG  TER S FKs
current market instability, the natural language H-BE-E-RAFE=ZB=+—H EI#&%A
processing business segment operates through 45N MEBEZZT-_MNFE=A=+—HA15A47
technology licensing collaborations, primarily AN BEHNERNEE EEFH—REBLLE
applied in intelligent home systems, intelligent BEBNAFTE NMERANBEEMRE — K
vehicle cockpits, smartphones, and related BYWIREFEH | AEFBETHEEEZERESEHR
areas. As of 31 March 2025, the total number RIFREERN FEE-LE/EREE—-FFL
of employees stood at 45, compared to 47 REBNNBEEREREEXKNER
as of 31 March 2024. The resurgence of Hong H—ZRIUBENEEERENER  AEIERN
Kong cultural nostalgia, driven by short dramas ERERE -

and films adapted from Hong Kong comics,
continues to gain momentum. Coupled with the
strong "Eastern Wave" trend sparked by original
IPs, the Group is collaborating with partners to
further revitalize the Group's IPs and expand the
scope of its comic business. while mainfaining
its traditional comic publishing and licensing
business. This includes launching a series of
products featuring our own IPs brands and Al-
generated dramas and movies content.

APPRECIATIONS B

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the RKAERBE—FEE=E - Miﬁﬁﬂt&%,%
Board of Directors, our management and staff T2 BEH UREAEE 2B C{HAE
for their continued dedication in the past year, B OERBERERRE2RIZE F %,ﬁ\js °

and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung EHELE
Managing Director AR
Hong Kong, 24 June 2025 &8 —E-_REXA=-+tHMA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025 increased by approximately
34.6% to HK$27,963,000 or HK1.7 cents per share
(2024: loss of HKS$20,782,000 or HK1.2 cents per
share). The analysis of consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group's overall revenue from operations
decreased by approximately 14.0% from
HK$20,158,000 to HK$17,328,000 of which
approximately HK$15,990,000, HKS111,000,
and HK$1,227,000 (2024: HK$15,104,000,
HK$2,597,000 and HK$2,457,000) were
attributable to our business of publishing
and intellectual properties ("IPs”) licensing.
digital marketing, and retailing and
wholesales respectively.

The revenue for publishing and IPs
licensing business slightly increased by
of approximately 5.9%, as an increase of
revenue from more publication of comic
book and IPs licensing during the year.

The revenue from the digital marketing
business significantly decreased from
approximately HK$2,597,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$111,000 for the year ended 31 March
2025. The downsizing of operations has
influenced this decrease in revenue. The
Group has prioritized cash and working
capital conservation in response to the
business’'s downward trajectory. The Group
confinues with the voluntary winding up of
the indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries
(details see description below).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EHE w5

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

1.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Revenue (Continued)

The revenue of retailing and wholesales
segment records the sales of premium
wine of approximately HKS$1,227,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HKS$2,457,000). Despite the recovery of
Hong Kong’'s economy, the pace is slowing.
Currently. There were no good opportunities
to sell the premium wine in lof. The Group is
confinuously working with the consultant fo
develop sales and distribution channels for
its premium wine.

Gross profit and gross profit
margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$7,627,000 with gross
profit margin of 44.0% for the year ended
31 March 2025 as compared to the same
period of 2024, which recorded a gross
profit of approximately HK$9,851,000 with a
gross profit margin of 48.9%.

The decrease in margin percentage
was due to the cost production of
digital marketing business segment was
recongised during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

3.

Selling expenses

The selling expenses from operations
decreased from approximately
HK$1,949,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024 to approximately HKSNil for the year
ended 31 March 2025. The decrease in
selling expenses was mainly due to a drop
in revenue and restructure of the operation
by consolidating digital marketing business
segment since 2024.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate
administrative expenses from operations
of approximately HK$26,391,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$28,909,000).

The major expenses components for the
year ended 31 March 2025 were staff cost
of approximately HK$11,915,000 (2024:
HK$14,498,000), depreciation of right-of-use
assets of approximately HKS1,924,000 (2024
HK$342,000), audit fee of approximately
HKS$1,000,000 (2024: HK$1,350,000),
listing and corporate services fee of
approximately HK$1,186,000 (2024:
HKS$1,190,000), advertising and promotion
expenses of approximately HK$602,000
(2024: HKS$738,000), and directors’
emoluments of approximately HK$3,282,000
(2024: HKS$4,204,000). The decrease in
administrative expenses from operations
wdas mainly due to reduced business
activities in digital marketing business
segment and streamlining of operations by
continuous effort of cost control.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EHE w5

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED)

5.

Other impairment losses

An impairment loss on right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$1,689,000 (2024:
HK$254,000) has been recognised due to
the assessment of the assets’ recoverability.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, an
impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately HK$552,000 (2024: HKSNil)
was recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
no impairment loss (2024: approximately
HK$560,000) was made for the unpublished
comic titles prepaid to suppliers.

Due to the continuous losses incurred
by an associate, an impairment loss of
approximately HKSNil (2024: HK$157,000)
was made for the year.

Other expenses

The other expenses from operations
recorded the research cost of
approximately HKS$1,481,000 (2024:
HK$2,423,000) for the development of the
natural language processing business.
In 2025, legal, consultancy and other
professional fees of approximately
HKS$3,919,000 (2024: HK$5,437,000) were
paid to lawyers for providing legal services
and paid to consultants for providing
professional advices on business operations
and development.

The reduction in other expenses from
operations was mainly due to the
streamlining of operations through ongoing
cost control efforts.

¥ =4 (&)

5.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THB WS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (CONTINUED) B EE (F)

7. Loss for the year 7. FEEIE
The Group recorded a loss from operations REBREBE-ZE-_HAF=Z/A=1+—
of approximately HKS$28,400,000 for ALFEFESZEBREKEEEZ2BEY
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: 28,400,000& 5T (ZZE P94 : 20,929,000
HK$20,929,000). The Group will contfinue to B IT) o ANEE B S 4 & BRENAT B LUHIRL A A
take actions to reduce costs and improve FIEESEMARRWEFREE S -

our profitability going forward.

Also, as at 31 March 2025, the Group had HIYEE R-E-_RF==+—H"
net assets of approximately HK$80,119,000 AEB2EEFENAS80,119,0008 T (=
(31 March 2024: HK$108,679,000) and net SENFE=ZA=+—H :108,679,000/&
asset value per share of HKS0.05 (31 March T) U EREEFEAEQMET (ZE
2024: HK$0.07). “HWE=ZA=+—H:007%8x) °

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF 13



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE w5

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and
bank balances with financial institutions in
aggregate of approximately HK$18,429,000 and
a total of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$883,000.

The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except for the
fransactions that are denominated in United
States dollars ("USD"), Australian dollars ("AUD"),
Japanese Yen ("JPY") and Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$") relative to Renminbi Yuan ("RMB").

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had a net
current asset of approximately HK$43,847,000
(31 March 2024: HK$101,411,000) and a current
ratio of approximately 3.5 (31 March 2024: 6.8).
The Group’s total liabilities as of 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HKS17,742,000 (31
March 2024: HK$17,603,000) and the gearing
ratio of the Group represented approximately
20.8% (31 March 2024: 15.5%) to equity
aftributable fo owners of the Company.

In May 2025, the Group obtained a fixed loan
of HK$2,000,000 from an independent third
party. This loan is unsecured and payable on
or before 16 June 2025, bearing interest at 24%
per annum. The loan was used as part of the
operating working capital and it was intended
that the loans would be repaid by the operating
cash of the publishing and IPs licensing
segment.

In conclusion, the Directors believe that the
Group will have enough liquidity to support its
daily operations. As always, we are committed
to being prudent and careful in managing our
financial position, ensuring we maintain the
greatest financial flexibility.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEPOSITS PAID FOR INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

As mentioned in Note 26, the Group had
deposits paid for the natural language
processing technology development
and production of software and chipset,
approximately HK$4,859,000 in total for the year
ended 31 March 2025. Such intangible asset
is for the design and implementation in both
sofftware and embedded chipset domains and
to produce kinds of offline Chinese language
voice recognition chips that can be broadly
applied to various electronic devices or
application environments.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2025, the Group had a total
of 45 employees of which 30 are based in
Hong Kong and 15 in the PRC. Total staff costs
from operations amounted to approximately
HKS$17,769,000 (2024: HK$21,061,000) and a
provision of staff fermination payable to a staff
approximately HKSNil (2024: HK$1,560,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2025 respectively. The
management periodically reviews remuneration
packages to ensure they remain competitive.
Certain directors and employees may receive
discretionary bonuses and incentive share
options based on the Group performance and
their individual merit and performance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE w5

PROPOSED ACQUISITION

Acquisition of Entire Equity Interests
in a Company involving issue of
consideration Shares under Specific
Mandate

On 28 May 2021, Vanity Holdings Limited (the
"Purchaser”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group, entered info an agreement with 4
Vendors, Guangxi Fuchuan Huafa Technology
Co., Ltd. (the "Vendor A"), Shenzhen Qunyou
Intelligent Education Technology Co., Ltd. (the
“Vendor B"), Luo Weizhao (the "Vendor C")
and Liu Jubo (the "Vendor D") respectively,
pursuant to which the Purchaser has agreed
to purchase and the Vendors have agreed to
sell the entire registered and paid-up capital
in amount of RMB50,000,000 of Imitation Brain
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. ({5 B & CF
) BR 2 7)) (the “IBT") for a total consideration
of HK$63,000,000, which shall be settled by
procuring the Company to issue and allot an
aggregate of 191,000,000 new Shares of the
Company to the Vendors at the issue prices of
approximately HK$0.33 for each Consideration
Shares.

This proposed acquisition is subject to the
approval by the shareholders of the Company
at Special General Meeting. Details of the
Proposed Acquisition were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 2 June
2021, 26 August 2021, 29 October 2021, 29
December 2021, 28 February 2022, 29 April 2022,
27 June 2022, 29 September 2022, 25 November
2022, 30 January 2023, 28 April 2023, 31 July
2023, 28 September 2023, 30 November 2023,
31 January 2024, 28 March 2024, 31 May 2024,
29 July 2024, 30 September 2024 and 4 October
2024 respectively. As of 29 November 2024,
the proposed transaction was terminated by 4
Vendors and the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROPOSED PLACING OF NON-
LISTED WARRANTS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE

On 16 April 2025, the Company entfered into
the Warrant Placing Agreement with the
Placing Agent in connection with the Warrant
Placing, pursuant to which the Placing Agent
has agreed to place, on a best effort basis,
up to 200,000,000 Warrants conferring rights to
subscribe for up fo 200,000,000 Warrants Share
at the initial Warrant Exercise Price of HKS$0.3
per Warrant Share (subject to adjustment) to
the Warrant Placee(s) who and whose ultimate
beneficial owner(s) (if applicable) shall be
Independent Third Parties. Each Warrant carries
the right to subscribe for one Warrant Share.

The Warrants are to be placed at HK$0.031
each. The Warrant Placing is conditional upon
several conditions as set out in the paragraph
headed "Conditions of the Warrant Placing” in
the announcement dated 16 April 2025.

The Subscription Rights aftaching to the Warrants
may be exercised at any time during the period
of 24 months commencing from the date of
issue of the Warrants.

Assuming the maximum number of the Warrants
are placed at the Warrant Placing Price, the
gross proceeds and net proceeds from the
issue of the Warrants will be approximately
HK$6,200,000 and HK$5,450,000, respectively.
The net proceeds from the issue of the Warrants
is expected to be used for general working
capital of the Group, including the payment of
salary, rental expenses, IT services and other
office overhead of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHE w5

PROPOSED PLACING OF NON-
LISTED WARRANTS UNDER SPECIFIC
MANDATE (CONTINUED)

Assuming the full exercise of the Subscription
Rights attaching to the maximum number of
Warrants at the initial Warrant Exercise Price, it
is expected that an additional gross proceeds
of up to approximately HK$60,000,000 will be
raised.

The aggregate net proceeds from the Warrant
Placing and the allotment and issue of
the Warrant Shares of up to approximately
HK$65,450,000 are expected to be used for (a)
as to approximately HK$43,630,000 (representing
approximately 67% of the aggregate net
proceeds from the Warrant Placing and the
allotment and issue of the Warrant Shares)
for working capital for the revitalization and
promotion of the Group’s intellectual properties;
and (b) as to approximately HK$21,820,000
(representing approximately 33% of the
aggregate net proceeds from the Warrant
Placing and the allotment and issue of the
Warrant Shares) for general working capital of
the Group, including the payment of salary,
rental expenses, IT services and other office
overhead of the Group.

Further details of the placing of non-listed
warrants are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 16 April 2025 and 12 June
2025.

This proposed placing of non-listed warrants
under specific mandate is subject to the
approval by Shareholders of the Company at
Special General Meeting.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group has
not conducted any equity fund raising activities
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VOLUNTARY LIQUIDATION OF TWO
NON-WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 June 2023, the Group announced that
the shareholders of Beijing Egmen Technology
Limited (Xt X Z F M A K ER 2 7A) ("Egmen”),
and the shareholders of Beijing Star Engine
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (dt = 357 5| &
=B R AR T) ("Beijing Star Engine”), have
passed resolution to set up liquidation group
fo liquidate Egmen and Beijing Star Engine
in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC. The voluntary liquidation
of Egmen was completed in March 2024 and the
voluntary liquidation of Beijing Star Engine has
not been completed as of the reporting date.

The Group considers the voluntary liquidation of
Egmen and Beijing Star Engine is appropriate to
reduce its losses and reallocate the resources
and management effort to the Group’s other
existing businesses, as well as to explore further
business opportunities should any arise.

DEREGISTRATION OF A WHOLLY
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES

During the year, the Group deregistered a wholly
owned subsidiary, E/MN & KRB HBRLQE, which
was engaged in digital marketing business. The
deregistration has completed on 4 July 2024.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2025, the Group did not have
any significant capital commitment and
contingent liabilities (31 March 2024: nil).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

The Directors present their annual report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal associate
and subsidiaries are set out in notes 19 and
40 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’'s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 are
set out in notes 19 and 40 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 and the state of the Company’s and
the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 77 fo 298.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
aftributable to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 86.5% of the Group’s turnover
from continuing operations, of which 28.7% was
attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable fo the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 74.9% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
28.2% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, "Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections
of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2025, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2024: Nil).

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HKS$5,000 on the acquisitions of property and
equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital and the share option schemes
of the Company are set out in notes 33 and
34 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2025, the Company has
no reserves available for distribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 299 and 300.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:
Executive Directors:

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin (resigned on 6 May 2024)
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason (Chairman)
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca (Vice Chairman)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Fon Chun Wah Andrew
(resigned on 6 May 2024)
Mr. Mung Yat Lik
Mr. Fung Ting Ho (appointed on 31 July 2024)

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors, and
Independent Non-executive Directors ("INEDs")
are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company. In accordance with Clauses 110(A) of
the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Mung Yat Lik,
Liu Ka Ying Rabecca and Kwan Kin Chung will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves, for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 56, joined the Group
in 1998 and was appointed as an Executive
Director and Managing Director of the Company
in March 2008, Mr. Kwan is a Chairman of
the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company, a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan held
the position as vice president of the Group from
1998 to 2002 and was appointfed as an acting
Chief Executive Officer of the Company in April
2007. During the period of serving as the Vice
President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also the
vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where he
gained wealth of experience in media industry.
He holds a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Economics
from Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC.
Mr. Kwan has extensive experience in businesses
restructuring and corporate investment.

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 70, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen resigned as
an Executive Director of the Company on 6
May 2024. Currently, Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen
holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada.
He is a Chartered Professional Accountant in
Canada and he is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certfified Public Accountants,
and of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen is an Independent Non-executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-executive Director of Hony
Media Group (stock code: 0419), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason, aged 61, was
appointed as Non-executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company in April
2022, Mr. Wong is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company.
Mr. Wong was appointed as a member of the
Audit Committee on 6 May 2024 and resigned as
a member of audit committee on 26 September
2024. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’'s degree
in business administration from the University of
Hawaii at Manoa in the United States. He has been
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 27 years of experience in fund management
and capital markets investment in Asia Pacific,
primarily investing in Al, TMT, gaming, consumer,
biomedical and more.
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Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Wong has been hailed as 'the godfather
of special purpose acquisition companies
("SPACs”) in Asia’, with pioneering frack
record in the SPAC space since 2014. He
has sponsored, advised, or held leadership
roles in numerous U.S.-listed SPACs, several of
which have successfully completed business
combinations. Beyond the U.S., Mr. Wong was
also involved in SPAC initiatives in Asia, including
having served as an executive director of a
Hong Kong SPAC. He continues to act as a
strategic advisor and sponsor representative
across a range of SPAC ventures.

Mr. Wong has been serving as the founding
partner and on the board of directors of
Whiz Partners Asia Limited, a joint venture
company co-founded by Whiz Partners Inc.
Whiz Partners Asia Limited has managed the
business development activities of the portfolio
companies of Whiz Asia Evolution Fund, and
Mr. Wong has been an investment committee
member for the fund since April 2013. Whiz
Partners Asia Limited also launched the China
Hero Fund as an exclusive gaming fund partner
with leading gaming company Sony Interactive
Entertainment.

Mr. Wong also served as a financial consultant
of Transpac Capital Limited (one of the largest
and oldest private equity funds and venture
capital funds in Asia) from May 1993 to February
2000.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Bamboos Health Care
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Shinsun
Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. from October 2020 to
January 2022 (stock code: 2599), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limifed.

Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebacca, aged 55, was
appointed as a Non-executive Director and as
Vice Chairman of the Company in January 2023.
Dr. Liu possesses experience in management,
finance, investment, as well as accounting
and financial management, she is currently
the senior vice president of Fortune (Shanghai)
Limited. Dr. Liu is a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA),
lllinois CPA Society (ICPAS) of the United States
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). Dr. Liu obtained a double
bachelor’'s degree in Business Administrative
Studies from York University, Canada with
major in management and in accounting (with
honour) in 1992 and 1994, respectively. She
also obtained a doctoral’'s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of
Switzerland in November 2011. Dr. Liu is also a
member of the Hong Kong Instfitute of Bankers,
Association of Women Accountants (Hong Kong)
Limited, and Hong Kong Professionals and Senior
Executives Association. She was also a former
member of the Tenth and the Eleventh Jilin
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.
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Non-executive Directors (Continued)

From June 1996 to March 2002, Dr. Liu served
as the general manager for the Asia and China
region of The PRG-Schultz International, Inc., (a
company listed on NASDAQ). In January 2007,
Dr. Liu was appointed as the chief executive
officer of AllPanther Asset Management Limited
and has served at such position since then.

Dr. Liu is currently an Independent Non-executive
Director of Logan Group Company Limited
(stock code: 3380), SITC International Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 1308) and
Paradise Entfertfainment Limited (stock code:
1180). all of which are companies listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Dr. Liu had been an Independent
Non-executive Director of Renaissance Asia
Silk Road Group Limited from August 2022 to
November 2024 (stock code: 0274), the shares
of the company is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Dr. Liu is the sister of Dr. Liu Hin Wang, Leris, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 53, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certfified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 23 years
of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions
gained from certain finance related positions in
companies listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Man Sang
Intfernational Limited (stock code: 0938) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (stock code:
1401), both of companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 67, was appointed
as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Mung has been appointed
as a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 6
May 2024.

He has 36 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as well
as cable media management. Mr. Mung acted
as the Vice President and general manager
of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable Media
Company Limited (BRE LR REFBEEFRAA)
and as a director of Hoteline Network Limited.
Mr. Mung is currently the Managing Director of
Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse Technology
Limited (ERBEIEZERFZBRAF) . the Vice
President and investment director of Xiamen
Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (BEFI & X YR
AR F)and the Vice President and investment
director of Shenxing (Hainan) Travel Limited (1%
7083 RITHBRQA).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 46, was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2015.
Mr. Fan was the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Fan resigned as an Independent
Non-executive Director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of
each of the Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee of the Company on 6 May 2024 due
to his personal business engagements which
require more of his dedication. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 17 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University of
Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Laws from
the University of London. Mr. Fan is a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a committee
member of the tenth to twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of the Zhejiang
Province, the fourth and fifth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Shenzhen,
the tenth to twelfth Vice Chairman of Zhejiang
Province United Young Association and a
member of the fourteenth National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent
Non-executive Director of Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Sing Tao
News Corporation Limited (stock code: 1105),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982),
China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code:
0762), China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1848) and China Overseas
Grand Oceans Group Limited (stock code:
0081), all of which are companies listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited from October 20714 to May 2021 (stock
code: 1443), the shares of all companies are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Fung Ting Ho, aged 59, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in July 2024. Mr. Fung was appointed
as the Chairman of Nomination Committee
and a member of the Audit committee on 26
September 2024.

Mr. Fung has over 34 years of experience
in corporate investment and business
management. Since September 2021, Mr. Fung
has been a director of Hoga Entertainment
(production) Co., Ltd., a company engaged in
intfroducing a world renowned electronic dance
music party presenter, "ARCADIA”", originated
from the United Kingdom fto Hong Kong, the
People’'s Republic of China and Macau.
Mr. Fung was the deputy general manager of
the Company from October 1998 to June 2003.

Mr. Fung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from the York University of Canada in
October 1990.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Dr. Liu Hin Wang Leris ("Dr. Liu”), aged 51, was
appointed as Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of
the Company on 5 March 2023, has more than
26 years of working experience with more than
11 years experience in information technology
and artificial intelligence industry in the People’s
Republic of China and Southeast Asia. Prior
to joining the Group, Dr. Liu was the CEO of
Intelligence Smart Company Limited, a company
principally engaged in information fechnology
and artificial intfelligence industry with the
main focus on e-commerce management and
information engineering. From 2010 fo 2020, Dr.
Liu was a Senior Consultant of Chia Tai Land
Co., Limited, a subsidiary of Charoen Pokphand
Group Company Ltd., which is principally
engaged in property, fund and investment
business, and was responsible for research and
marketing analysis.

Dr. Liu obtained a doctoral’s degree in business
administration from Victoria University of
Switzerland in November 2011.

Dr. Liu is the brother of Dr. Liu Ka Ying, Rebecca,
the Non-executive Director of the Company and
the Vice Chairman of the Board.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEREE

EEREREEAEZBAESR

(&)

BErEEL (BEEL)) 518 RZZT==
SREREZEAARATHRAR  BEEB220
FIELR RPEARANBREREENE
ABRERAIEETERERIFLRE - MA
rEBzA BEITEEIEEEBRERAT
MITHAS Z A TEREEMRERAL
BRETE TEIRESFEEREEIR -BZ
Z-ZTFEE_ZT_ZTF BEBELTEFEXREE
ERARZHMBAREREMEGR AR (FER
EE ESRREER)NSHER BEW
RRMIZDA

BEIR-_ZF——F+—-/A%
RENIHEREHFLEN o

Sint#ESZA =

BELAERABDFHPUTESRESS
REBLZHRE -

B EFE

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF

33



34

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Confinued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. Yue Chi Wing Toby, aged 59 joined the
group in 2014. Mr. Yue is a member of Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company and is
the General Manager of Culturecom Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group. He is responsible for the
overall planning, development and marketing
of the Group’s publishing business. Mr. Yue has
over 38 years of extensive experience in the
publishing industry and has been involved in the
publication operation of various comic books in
Hong Kong. He is also the founder of THE ONE
Comics Publishing Limited which was acquired
by the Group in 2014.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 57, joined the Group in
September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting. She is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting
and corporate finance.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option
scheme on its 2013 annual general meeting
held on 12 August 2013 (the "2013 Scheme”)
which expired on 11 August 2023. The Company
has adopted a new share opfion scheme (the
"2023 Scheme”) on its 2023 annual general
meeting held on 29 August 2023.

Subsequent to the expiry of the 2013 Scheme, no
further share options can be granted thereunder
but in all other respects, the provisions of the
2013 Scheme shall remain in force and all
share options granted prior to such expiry
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance therewith.

The number of shares available for issue in
respect of share options granted under the
2013 Scheme and the 2023 Scheme as at 31
March 2025 is 14,000,000 and Nil respectively,
totalling 14,000,000 shares which in aggregate
respectively approximately 0.84% of the
weighted average number of shares in issued for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

The number of share options available for grant
under the 2013 Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025 were Nil and Nil respectively.

The number of share options available for grant
under the 2023 Scheme as at 1 April 2024, 31
March 2025 and the date of the Annual Report
was 166,865,681 and approximately 10% of the
these issued shares of the Company (excluding
freasury shares) respectively.

The sublimit on the fotal number of shares which
may be issued in respect of all share options
to be granted to service providers under the
2023 Scheme together with all share options
and awards which may be granted under any
other share schemes for the time being of the
Company as at 31 March 2025 is 50,059,704.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(Continued)

No share option was granted, exercised, vested,
cancelled or lapsed under the 2013 Scheme
and the 2023 Scheme during the year ended 31

March 2025.

Details of movement of the share options
granted to the Directors and others of the
Company under 2013 Scheme as of the date of
this Annual Report are as follows:
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Number of share options

BREHA
Granted/
Exercised/
At Cancelled Lapsed At Exercise
1April  duringthe  duringthe 31 March price per
Date of Grant 2024 year year 2025 share Exercise period
W-B-mF FRERL/ i
RiLAH MR- fT/#% EREXM ZA=t-B SKAEE Gl
HKS
B
2013 Scheme
ZE-CEHE
(a) Director
£z
Wong Kon Man Joson 27 April 2022 (Note 2) 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 o 26 April 2025
IBX ZECZEMAZTER (Nofel) “ECCEMACTLRE
(K3E2) (R3t1) ZECREMAZTAA
(b) Others
Hif
Consultant of the 27 April 2022 (Note 2) 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 o 26 April 2025
Group
FEEER SECERACHER  (Nofel) “E-EMBCHHAE
(K3E2) (Rit1) ZECREMAZTAA
Total 14,000,000 - - 14,000,000
it
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Confinued)

Notes:

1

On 27 April 2022, 14,000,000 share options were
granted fo the non-executive Director (Wong Kon Man
Jason) and consultant (Chan Wai Kwong Peter) of the
Group, respectively, in order to reward the Director and
consultant for the business development of the Group.
These share options have an exercise price of HK$0.72
per share and an exercise period ranging from 27
April 2022 to 26 April 2025. The price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.72 per share.

The share options exercise period is commenced from
the date of grant for three years. The share options
may be exercised at any time within the options period
provided that the options have been vested. As at 31
March 2025, all share options have been vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Interests of the Directors

As of 31 March 2025, the interests and
short positions of each Director and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO")) which are required (a) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be nofified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Interests in the share options of the
Company
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R-ZZE-HF=A=Z+—H XQAAKE
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(D) R IEFE 5 K& Hi B R 5] 553521K 7B i 8%
EFMEZSMA EBRBLTATES
ETHSFRXZEETFAUENERA AR
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Approximate
percentage of
Nature of Number of Exercise price issued share
Name of Director Capacity interest share options per share Exercisable period capital
EERTRA
BEEps g% BaitE BREXA BRITER TEE  ZHBRESH
HK$
B
2013 Scheme
—B-ZEHH
Mr. Wong Kon Man Beneficial Personall 8,000,000 0.72 27 April 2022 to 0.48%
Jason owner interest (Note 1) 26 April 2025
B3 BRERA AR (K&t ZBRCCZEMAZTLA
z2

ZE_REMABZ+AH
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(Continued)

Interests in the share options of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. The share options exercise period is commenced
from the date of grant for three years. The share
opfions may be exercised at any fime within the
options period provided that the options have
been vested. As of 31 March 2025, all share
opfions have been vested.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2025, none of the Director nor Chief
Executive of the Company had interests
or short positions in any securities of
the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which are required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which he/she is taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be enfered in the register
referred to therein; or (¢) pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEREE

EaiE (&)

(A) = > s (&)

RELTEREZ B (HF)

MEEE -

1. BRESTEHERFZEHB ZFEW-B
BRETHRERECERB 28R ESREMAE
BITFE-BE-_ZEZ_AF=A=+—H0 2
BRECERS -

LA BRI RER -

BREXFIEBEEN R-ZZE-HF=A
Z=+-HB ARAFAEBRITHAZIHER
RABRFHEEMBEEE (EERESRB
BRPIEXVER) 2R S HhERAQREE
ZRBMEFRPEXVEETRE8DFAHNE
AABRBI (BERERSZRBERD
ZERIBEFRREAER 2ERIAXR)
F(L)REE F R M ERH E3521% A 87
HRMF 222 MR RE)RBELHA
AESETRSRZZBETAANER
REARBRFIZERZIARR

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF

39



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2025, so far as is known
to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, the following person had an
inferest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of

Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

B E (&)

(B) TER R

BE-Z-_RAF=ZA=1t—-H ®MELQH
FMESIITRAZAA - LTALTHESR
RARROBEEARD 2 EZINARRE
REESRBERMEXVEE2RE3D A
ZHERNBABARBRE  IREAQFE
R ERGIEIBOMAETURTFZE
C PR s 2 B HIX A -

RERGARGRIEER G2

Approximate

Number percentage of
of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HEBITRAE
alHE 5% RO E ZHBABED
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1, 2) 178,767,312 10.71%
BEREAA (M1 - 2)
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, inferests in a 276,975,112 16.6%
ZRBEE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
EREEBA ZEAQAT
RN BER (EET)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 276,975,112 16.6%

AEEZ+

controlled corporation and

interests of spouse (Notfe 2)
BEREEEA ZEQF

RN BER (aE2)
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEREE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS R E (F)

(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders (B) TERR = ()
(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Confinued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio ("Mr. Dizon") is beneficially
interested in 56,443,200 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has confrolling interests as to
65% in L&W Holding Limited ("L&W") and L&W is
beneficially interested in 178,767,312 shares in
the Company. Furthermore, Mr. Dizon is the legal
and beneficial owner as to 80% of Sociedade
Gold Mind Telecom, Limitada which in turn is
beneficially interested in 8,801,800 shares in the
Company. Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (*"Ms. Chow"),
the spouse of Mr. Dizon, is beneficially
interested in 32,962,800 shares in the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed to be interested
in 276,975,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO in aggregate.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse of
Mr. Dizon and has controlling interests (as to 35%) in
L&W. Accordingly, She is deemed fo be interested in
276,975,112 shares in the Company under the SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2025, the Directors and the Chief Executive
of the Company were not aware of any
person who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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ESEREE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated
finance statement, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any tfime during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely fo compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any fime during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office, or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR
REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company, with
written terms of reference in line with the code
provision set out in the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the "Code”) as
stipulated in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the ‘Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”), currently comprises
of three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Mung Yat Lik
and Mr. Fung Ting Ho, respectively. The Audit
Committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal conftrol, risk management and
financial reporting matters including the review
of audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of
the Group in all material aspect and there
were no circumstances of material breach
or non-compliance of applicable laws and
regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to achieving
environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws
and regulations regarding environmental
protection and adopt effective measures
to achieve efficient use of resources, waste
reduction and energy saving. For instance,
the in-house manufacturing facilities of the
Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group
reviews its environmental policies on a regular
basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG
Reporting Guide contained in Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report will be available
on our website in due course.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 47 to 67 of the annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the "Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set outf in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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ESEREE

AUDITOR

There were no other changes in auditor of the
Company during the past three years.

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited
by Gary Cheng CPA Limited ("Gary Cheng”),
who will retire and a resolution to re-appoint
Gary Cheng as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong. 24 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance. The principle
of the Company’s corporate governance is to
implement effective internal control measures
and fo increase the transparency of the Board
so as to be accountable to all shareholders.

For the period from 1 April 2024 to 31 March
2025, the Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "Corporate Government Code”) set
out in the Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as ifs
own code on corporate governance practice.
During the year, the Company has been in
compliance with all code provisions set out in
the Corporate Governance Code except the
following deviation:

CODE PROVISION B.2.2

Under the code provision B.2.2, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term,
should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term.
However, all Directors (including Executive and
Non-executive) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such, the
Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

LFERARSE

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Following the resignatfion of Mr. Fan Chun Wah
Andrew on 6 May 2024, the Company had two
Independent Non-Executive Directors ("INEDs"),
the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.10 (1) of the
Listing Rules.

After the appointment of Mr. Fung Ting
Ho as INED on 31 July 2024, the Company
has then complied with the minimum of
three independent non-executive Directors
requirements under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules.

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the written terms of reference,
the Corporate Governance Committee (the
"CGC") comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2021
and Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia on 13 January
2023 and the appointment of Mr. Wong Kon
Man Jason and Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June
2022, the Company currently comprises of three
Corporate Governance Committee members,
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason
and Mr. Yue Chi Wing respectively. The Board will
commence a process to identify replacement so
as to full the written terms of reference of Corporate
Governance Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE CHAIRMAN OF NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

Following the resignation of Mr. Kwan Kin Chung,
an executive Director, as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and the appointment
of Mr. Fung Ting Ho, an independent
non-executive Director as the chairman of
Nomination Committee on 26 September 2024,
the Company has complied with the nomination
committee chaired by the chairman of the
board or an independent non-executive director
requirements under Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed lIssuers (the "Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code
of conduct regarding directors’ securities
fransactions. Directors are reminded of their
obligations under the Model Code on a regular
basis. Following specific enquiry with the
Directors, all of them have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards as
set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2025, the Board comprises
of the Chairman, the Vice Chairman, the
Managing Director and three Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Board of Directors
is principally accountable to the shareholders
and is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Group including overseeing
the Group’s businesses, strategic directions,
financial performance, setting objectives and
business development plans, and monitoring the
performance of the senior management.
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l\_‘lﬁ EE#I:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board of Directors meets regularly
throughout the year to formulate overall
strategy., monitor business development as
well as the financial performance of the Group
and has formal procedures on matters for
consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
to the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. The
aftendance of Directors at the Board Meetings
and General Meeting held during the year is as
follows:

EEE2(A)

EEESFEEHARERE  UHTRERKE -
EEAKECEBRERMBERE  UHEF
ZERARZEERAEIABRF EZEER
TEREEAEETEIUNEERAEEHZAE
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S2HEREMT

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Annual
Directors Board Meetings General Meeting
HERE, HERE,
= Eszge3 ¥ BRRBEFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BB EE (EFHLLE) 5/5 1/1
(Managing Director)
Mr. Yuen Kin R BEE 0/0 N/A FE A
(resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=ZFZ-mF7H [N HBE)
Non-executive Director FHITEE
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason IBHXEE 5/5 11
(Chairman of the Board) (BEFELE)
Dr. Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BR&EL 5/5 /1
(Vice Chairman of the Board) (EEEHZFE)
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAKE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Mung Yat Lik ESail 5/5 /1
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew el Eﬁ'%ﬁf‘ﬁi 0/0 N/A FE A
(resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=ZF-mE7H [N HBE)
Mr. Fung Ting Ho BERLE 3/3 1/1
(appointed on 31 July 2024) (R=—F-WEtA=1+—H
BET)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent
Non-executive Directors to be independent.

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEO should be clearly established and set out
in writing. The Chairman’s roles are convening
meetings of the Board and make decision of the
Group’s business strategies. Dr. Liu Hin Wang
Leris was appointed as CEO of the Company on
5 March 2023. The CEO of Company is primarily
responsible for the daily operations of the Group
in accordance with the goals set up by the
Board.

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a strong
corporate governance stfructure in place to
ensure effective oversight of management.
With effect from June 2024, the CEO has faken
leave due to personal reasons. His duties are
being temporarily assumed by Mr. Kwan Kin
Chung, the Managing Director. The Board will
contfinue to review the effectiveness of current
management structure from time to time and
may make changes if and when appropriate.
The Board will also continue to monitor and
review the Company’s corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Code.
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LFERARSE

TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision B.2.2, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The current Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company are
not appointed for a specific term. However, all
Directors (including Executive, and Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company are
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meeting in accordance with Bye-Law
110(A) of the Bye-Laws of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

DIRECTORS’" CONTINUOUS
TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
confinuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as fo ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he/she is sufficiently aware
of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, all
Directors participated in continuous professional
development relevant to the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or aftending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.

FHTES ZEH

RETFRMENB22  FHTESZEZEEEE
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REEEERTATRMRIEA21G 28E
ERSESFEEXRE UEHRENANER
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference which
is aligned with the code provisions set out in the
Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from time to fime to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors of
the Company may request a meeting if they
consider that one is necessary. The Audit
Committee also provides an important link
between the Board and the Company’s auditors
in matters coming within the scope of its terms
of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of
three Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed
with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed about auditing, internal conftrol, risk
management and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial
statements and unaudited interim financial
statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Confinued)

During the year, the members and attendance

BEREEE (R)

FRETZEREZESER

ZHRERHERE

of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as wmE
follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERE,
= SRR
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAREE 4/4
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBRELE 0/0
(Resigned on 6 May 2024) (R=ZZF=[Y4F F F N HEE)
Mr. Mung Yat Lik R—hE%E 4/4
Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason ITB®X A% 3/3

(Appointed on 6 May 2024 and

resigned on 26 September 2024)
Mr. Fung Ting Ho

(Appointed on 26 September 2024)

(R-FBZPFERAANAEZEFRR=-ZF

ZHFEARZ=FNHEBE)
BEREE
(R=—FBZWFEAR =+ NNAEZE)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group has
been established in November 2005 with written
terms of reference in line with the Code. The
Remuneration Committee will meet as and when
necessary or as requested by any Committee
member to consider and recommend to
the Board the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure and fo review and determine
the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management. The Directors
are remunerated with reference to their
respective duties and responsibility with the
Company, the Company’'s performance and
current market situation.

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired by
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit. Details of emoluments of
the Directors from the Group for the year are
as disclosed in note 15 of the consolidated
financial statements.

l\_JM ﬁﬂ:

FMESS
FEBER-ZETRF+-ARUFHEES
IWW7WJ%AEE%%@I FMWEES
BEEYAREZESHEERAHNEGE  UE
BRHOEFEEZ LGB 2HFMBRRRE
URBRARBEERTEERSREEAEZH
WEB ES2HFMIRBESEARADH
ZBBERBE  ARFZEEREAMZTREE

%ﬁ@)ﬂ?ﬁ EHMEBLFATESER B
TESAN -FHEZEESCTREREERNELLE -
ZKEfZF%lE%Z@H%ZﬁFEA R & B
RMFEISHF T -

Statistics of each Remuneration Committee SN EE SR EHEYNEESSHE 24T

member’s attendance at the Remuneration s
Committee Meeting:

Attendance/

No. of Meetings

Directors (Note)

HERE,

SRR

2= (B =E)

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEARE 1/1

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELLE 0/0

(Resigned on 6 May 2024)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung
Mr. Mung Yak Lik

(Appointed on 6 May 2024)

BRRLE
=l i s

(R=ZFBZWF I AN HEIT)

1/1
1/1

(R=ZBZ-WFLHANHEZF)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written terms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy for
the Board’s consideration and implement the
Board’s approved nomination policy. The Board
of Directors has the power from time to time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
of Directors. The nomination shall be taken in
consideration of the nominee’s qualification,
ability and potential contribution to the
Company.

According to the writfen ferms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall be
Independent Non-executive Directors appointed
by the Board of Directors from time to time.
Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises
of three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Mung Yat Lik, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
and Mr. Fung Ting Ho.

Nomination Policy

The Company has also adopted the Director
Nomination Policy on 1 January 2019. Such
policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the continuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.

REZESE

REARB2RAAHE  ARFERZ
FZA-HABRYUREBZEES  AFIHAEME
HEHE UFERERRHESSZE 1Y
TRESEHENRERX -ESSRETH
ZREEFNATHAEES  UWERESSCRE
ZRPBMFES - REBFAZBREAZE
B TRRABRAAERZER -

REZHHESE REZEeR=-8EF4
B EHBY¥BEALREETERKREEZBLH
HITESZ - R REZEEHEEE=EBEY
FHUTES HR—HEE EERLTEREE
REE -

REBBE

RZEBE-NE-B—-—B ARAFAECRMNESE
BHER - ZBREAFBERERRE  REEAX
NEEESREREANESENETIRIZE
AE EERRESSRALCIAMSERRE - &
BRRZACNBETHERSENTEH  BR
%%‘%E’J%EI‘E’IEAEEQFE%&% i B
EEAG-

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy (Confinued)

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential conftribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following: character and
integrity; qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available time
and relevant inferest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee
member’'s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:

l\_JM ﬁﬂ:

REZEE ()

REBE (F)
EEREHERATERBREAZSEMR
WESEZEEEMNEE  SFEERRR @ 4

BEHE BEEARAAAXBREXRERE
MEXEER R ARRERSER . 87 HE
MZ it (BEERRAER - F#k (185 3 1L
b)) - XtR#BEES - Bk - BRER - Wt

HMBEERBRBESR)  RBELTRIVESSH Y
FHITESNERREBZBUFIITESNS
N UREREADDESER, RESEZE
EEMENTRARERETHE ZHBEAE

Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Directors (Note)
HERE,
2R
BEx (M &E)
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit FEERLE 2/2
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E S 2/2
(appointed on 6 May 2024) (R=ZFZWFERANHEZF)
Mr. Fung Ting Ho BEREE 0/0
(appointed on 26 September 2024) (R=ZEBZFALA=1+~H
EBZEEF)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung B fEEA £ & 22
(resigned on 26 September 2024) (R=ZBZIFAA=+HEE)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERELE 0/0

(resigned on 6 May 2024)

(R=ZBZWF I N HEE)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

The Company values gender diversity across all
levels of the Group. The following tables sets out
the gender rafio in the Board as of 31 March
2025:

REZES(R)

EEEREZUARE
EESCRMETIBNESERES TILER
(ESEREZTLRER] - EEEHES T
tBRREXEEBRETRZEHERZ BEETRR
TRl File s XL HBEESREXRER  BX
EHESENESZ NI - ARAZREEES
BERRIEZTERES T ARE  ARZK
ReEAEBRETOESSREEZS -

EEE2FHEZEERSUEBRREARE e
EHEREEEHNES TILNER -

AARERAEEERRENMERNZ T - T
REIWBE-ZE-_AF=ZRA=1T—-—HESEN
PHERIEE B

Category Female Male
5l oy S
Board 58 16.6% 83.4%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC") on 26 April 2010 with
written terms of reference. The CGC obligates
to advise upon any transaction of the Company
which the Board is proposed to enter or fransact
for and on behalf of the Company, and give
a collective opinion to the Board as to the
propriety, feasibility and prudence of entering
info such fransactions.

According to the written terms of reference, the
CGC comprised of 4 members. Following the
resignation of Mr. Huang Mingguo on 2 July
2021, Ms. Hung Wai Kwan on 8 August 2022, and
Ms. Chow Lai Wah on 13 January 2023, and the
appointment of Mr. Wong Kon Man Jason and
Mr. Yue Chi Wing on 28 June 2022, the Company
comprises of three CGC members. Currently, the
CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements for each financial
period which give a frue and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and of the results
and cash flows for that period. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis. The Directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group, for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Company’s auditor and its
affiliate company in respect of their audit
and non-audit services was HK$1,000,000
and HK$230,000 respectively. The non-audit
services are related to agreed-upon procedures
on interim financial information and tax
representative service.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set out
in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 68
fo 76.

EESE: A
EEHMBEHRRZEMR
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and infernal control systems
are reviewed at least annually fo ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, fraining programs and budget
of the Group’s internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, covering the material control, including
financial, operational and compliance
controls. The management are primarily
responsible for applying and for supporting
the risk management and internal conftrol
processes. The operating units and support
functions are facilitated and coordinated by the
management, and ensure that risk management
processes and mitigation plans follow good
practices and guidelines established in
their day-to-day operations. Any risk events
and incidents identified are reported by the
operating units and support functions to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’'s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk matrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk affer evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’'s attention and risk
responses.

Risk management process is integrated
with the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability fo handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies oufside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability fo
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Confinued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a risk
matrix which prioritises risks according to
the likelihood of their occurrence and the
significance of their impact on the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. Following
the review of the risk matrix, the Group selects
and deploys the corresponding risk responses
and investigates the mitigation procedures to be
executed to ensure the identified significant risks
were managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the
effectiveness of the Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The Group does not have an internal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal control
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Group continues to review the need for an
internal audit function annually. An independent
consultant (“the Consultant”) was engaged to
perform a review on the risk management and
internal control systems. The Consultant has
reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Board and management. The Board
and management are of the view that no
material defects are noted in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group fo ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the staff
manual and all staff is required to comply. In
addition, each personnel are granted a specific
level of access to the price sensitive and inside
information. The Directors, senior management
and employees are informed with the latest
regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full fime employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility to look
after the interests of its Shareholders. Pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and section 74 of
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
(the "Act”), the Board, on the requisition of
Shareholders of the Company holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company, can convene a
special general meeting ("SGM") to address
specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of writfen notice to the
registered office of the Company. If the Board
fails to proceed to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
written requisition must be valid in pursuant to
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient nofice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged by
the Company to attend the Company’s general
meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as telephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them tfo
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact the
share registrar of the Company, if they have any
enquires about their shareholding issues.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take into account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to fime. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and
the Dividend Policy does not constitute any
commitment or obligation of the Company to
declare dividends.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and transparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group'’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages with
shareholders and other investors through various
channels of communication to help ensure that
their views and concerns are understood and
addressed in a constructive way.

The Company’s constitutional documents have
been posted on the Company’'s website at
www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

LAFEAWSE

REZMIZR

EXESEERYE AWK AZHAENBE -
ERREREEA THAKENSRAREE
BRENTSEERE - AR UFTEBEME
ERERRRAMREEBRE  BHEARAILF
THRITULAEZRUENSTAEERRRREEN
RRREBIEE-

KRB 2EBRBNXHACHERADARI
www.culturecom.com.hk e R » KA\ ZE

BXHLEEREE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B XBEh RS

GRRY CHENG CPA LIMITED

7‘ Certified Public Accountants
A,

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
77 to 298, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2025, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policies information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the "Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RYR: e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS ERETSEIE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our BESSTEEAREMANEEHNEmS B3R
professional judgment, were of most significance PE NN G RREAEENSTE -

in our audit of the consolidated financial ELEEEEARMEHBEESAAMBRER L
statements of the current period. These matters EEAEETEE RAFSYHELEFEIZEM
were addressed in the context of our audit of BEENER -

the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRESERE EHERRNNUEEBREENSIE

We identified the NRV assessment of premium Our procedures in relation to the NRV assessment
wine as a key audit matter due to their of the inventories included:

significance to the consolidated statement EMEBFAFENTERFENEFEREUTEE:
of the financial position as a whole and the

significant judgment and esfimations involved Discussing with the management’s process

in the estimation of NRV of the Group’ s for evaluating the product-by-product
premium wines. regular NRV assessment view and
KMBEERE2I2R FETARENA —HER challenging the judgment exercised in
ENEE REAATBEERYSREVBERRKRER determining the allowances of inventories
BEA URAGE SEEESEE2UE2ES as at the end of reporting period,
BERFS R E R E R MGG - including their key controls and policies on

estimating the inventories allowances;
HEEENRTLRAENEREEEHTERF
EFEREFER RERBERSHATERE
BATAHE  BREGTFERGR ZBREZES
RBUR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Key audit matter

HRESER

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management
carries out inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. As further disclosed in Notfe 23 to
the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amount of premium wine
was approximately HK$30,045,000. The
management performed the inventory review
including the estimation of the respective
NRV which was determined as the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

HAARE M BERMRMTANE > EEENRBEHER
RENERETFEEE - uﬁJzZzD%*Aﬁﬂa%iﬁ%%W?
23E—HFHE BEBHENREMELNA30,045,000
BT EEEFHLTEELE BERBEXBAR
M EERFLHEEMTNATREABEENET
SR FEMET -

The estimation of the respective NRV takes into
account a number of factors including prices
of actual sales during and/or subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inven‘rories held by the Group.

AR FENGTLDETRZEREZ B8RS
HH Bk "BZEHENERFEEERREE BE5EE
EREZENBYMSEER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMERRNMTEERREETSEHE

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:
ZRUTAATGEEBYHFE SR FEMET
e M

1. Evaluating management’s identification
of any invenfories requiring specific
write-downs due to damage or other
quality issues with reference to the
information obtained during our
inventory count;
SERMNEFERHPESNERRTM
EEEHREBERNEAS ’%—TEF%EEH’E%F:—,E
ETEEMBANEFE 2T

2. Obtaining the external valuation
reports, assessing the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies
and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions and evaluating the
appropriateness of key input data
used in the valuation; and
EENREERS  SHEEEDENEES
REEBRENSEY WG EETRERN
BEREAHBNEEL R

3. Performing independent market
research to evaluate the market
information used by management to
estimate the latest selling prices of the
premium wines.

ETBYDSHE UG EEREBMEET
BERERMEEMEANTSER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RYR: e
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a frue and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern, and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

REERGESMBHRRAE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion solely tfo you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
fo provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal conftrol.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to confinue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
tfo contfinue as a going concern.

¥
=
=
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
fransactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the Group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and fiming of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal confrol that
we identify during our audit opinion.

RYR: e
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Confinued)

We also provide those charged with governance
with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we detfermine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting
in this independent auditor’s report is Ms. Lo Mei
Yan.

Gary Cheng CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Ms. Lo Mei Yan

Practising Certificate Number: PO8056

Hong Kong
24 June 2025

REMH BT RS BRRAEN
E1E (&)

EMEMAEERREYN HBERMEFEE
MEVMNEREXRERER  LRBMBEE
BN ENRRAEXERMBUMNAE
BAEREMNEMSE  UREERNERT - BHERK
B 2 T $REN B9 47 B = P ER A RO B S4B B ©

MEREEBBNBED  HMBEEWLESEIR
HEAPGEEVBERRNBARREZE EWMB
BERETSE RMAELBORSPHALE
LER BRIELZBEATAFLOHAREELS
B EBRKFRNBERT IRSEEBER
MBEESTEEESHERNEBEARBBES
MARFE - RAPRETBEREPBEZSE -

HERBYLEMKRENETEEESRES
fR#Z % o

mENEFMEXLFERQA
B EE AT

EXMzt

HEE SRR - POB056

&8
—E-HFARAZTMHEA

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_-REF —E-UE
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
it 5 THET FExT
Revenue ON 5 17,328 20,158
Cost of sales SHE A (9.701) (10,307)
Gross profit EF 7.627 9,851
Other income Higg A 6 565 4,638
Other gains or losses Hittg 2 &8 7 (1.743) 4,039
Impairment loss under expected FBHIEEEE ([FRHE
credit loss ("ECL") model, net of BEFEEERTZ
reversal RERE R (888) 808
Other impairment losses HibREEE 9 (2.241) @71)
Selling expenses HEEM - (1,949)
Administrative expenses ITHE A (26,391) (28,909)
Other expenses HthE A 11 (5.400) (7.860)
Finance costs B % & A 8 (133) (69)
Share of loss of an associate FE{L — B A A 1 (124) (386)
Loss before tax BREAIEER 11 (28,728) (20,808)
Income tax credit (expense) FREHER (BX) 12 328 (121)
Loss for the year FEEE (28,400) (20,929)

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRakEMZERRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E_ME
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
Other comprehensive income Hih2mksE (BAxX)
(expense)
Iltems that will not be reclassified to H#TEEH 7 EE
profit or loss: BEm2HE -
Exchange differences on HINGEEBBREZZ|
translation from functional EBMCELER
currency to presentation
currency 879 (7.376)
Fair value gain of financial assets BAFEETTAEM
at fair value through other THNEZERMEE
comprehensive income Z N EERE 5 2
884 (7,374)
Items that may be reclassified HAEAGREN 7EZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BmZHE -
Exchange differences arising on REBIEBZER
franslation of foreign operations =28 431 4,269
Reclassification of cumulative HE-—BHWBARE
franslation reserve upon disposal HEESTE L #E
of a subsidiary EFSE - (438)
Reclassification of cumulative THEH—BENEARR
translation reserve upon 18 RETE R
deregistration of a subsidiary BEFAE (1.475) 760
(1,044) 4,591
Other comprehensive expense FEHMEZEMAX
for the year (160) (2,783)
Total comprehensive expense for FE2HBM AR
the year (28,560) (23.712)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelREHMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHEF —E-ME
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
it 5 THET FExT
Loss for the year attributable to: BiLFEERIE :
- Owners of the Company . YNEIEZ ZEWN (27,963) (20,782)
- Non-controlling interests —JEEERES (437) (147)
(28,400) (20,929)
Total comprehensive (expense) B2 (X)) W&
income attributable to: HEE
- Owners of the Company S U/NEIE ¥ =N (28,303) (24,076)
- Non-controlling interests —EERER (257) 364
(28,560) (23,712)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE GBWL) 14 (1.7) (1.2)

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e MBI =

AT 31 MARCH 2025
R-ZE-HF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-NEF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B =t THERT FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment Y ENSE 16 113 81
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 777 273
Goodwill P 18 - _
Interest in an associate JF"—F'EJ GRE LT 2R 19 98 222
Infangible assets BILEE 20 29,761 5,625
Deposits ®Re 26 485 488
Financial assets at fair value BAFEEFABRE
through profit or loss ZERMEE 21 187 226
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEETTAHAM
through other comprehensive PHBRZEZEMEE
income 22 414 413
Loan receivables FE Uk & X 27 4,344 -
Deferred tax assets BIERIBEE 32 456 40
36,635 7,268
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 23 30,697 32,008
Trade receivables EWE S ERM 24 3.666 3,465
Contract assets EHEE 25 - 118
Other receivables, deposits and HihEWRIE - RER
prepayments FETRIE 26 6,233 35,325
Loan receivables FE & X 27 685 7,956
Amounts due from an associate FER—RBEE AT 2
g 19 750 -
Financial assets at fair value BRAFEEFTABRRE
through profit or loss ZERMEE 21 696 1.714
Cash and cash equivalents HeERBEESEEY 28 18,429 38,228
Tax recoverable ] Y [ % 18 70 200
61,226 119,014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MEBEKAR

AT 31 MARCH 2025
R-ZB-AF=RA=+—H

2025 2024
—E_-REF —E-UE
NOTES HKS$'000 HKS$'000
MIEE FE T TET
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B E SR 29 899 946
Other payables and accrued HibEAFRE R EL
charges &H 29 8,891 8,331
Conftract liabilities = OR=K 25 893 -
Loan from a shareholder RE—EBREZEF 30 - 4,364
Loans from directors REEECZER 30 3,000 3,436
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 2,131 526
Provisions B1E 42 1,565 -
17,379 17.603
Net current assets REBEESE 43,847 101,411
Total assets less current liabilities #BEERAHAR 80,482 108,679
Non-current liability ERBER
Lease liabilities HEEE 31 363 -
Net assets EERE 80,119 108,679

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= e MBI =

AT 31 MARCH 2025
R-ZE_RAF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E_ME
NOTES HK$'000 HKS$'000
Fft & THERT FET
Capital and reserves EXE#E

Share capital B AR 33 16,687 16,687
Share premium and reserves BoEERFE 68,797 97,100

Equity aftributable to owners RABHEEAEGER
of the Company 85,484 113,787
Non-controlling interests FEE R HE =R (5.365) (5.108)
Total equity MR 80,119 108,679

The consolidated financial statements on pages
77 to 298 were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2025

and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG

A {2 B2

Director

EE

FITEEFIVEZGENBERRNR-ZE_1F
AAZTTHNRELESSEH AL RERE I H
THEERREE:

WONG KON MAN JASON
IBX

Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FReHRIBDRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

Attributable o owners of the Company

ALARAAER
Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Contribution  redemption opfions Translafion  Revaluation Other  Accumulated confrolling
capifal premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-fotal inferest  Total equity
s RiHEE B4ER E1EDEE  BRESE ELGE EfiER AR 2ikE Mt FERER 2R

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
TR TR TEL TiEn Fin Tin TiEn TR TR TR TR TR

(nofe i)
[iE3)

A1 April 2023 WZZZZEmA-A 16,687 2,004,406 760 446 3,783 2,466 - 4218 (2.125,097) 138,550 8,850 147,400
Loss for he year FERE - - - - - - - - 8) (2078 n o)
Other comprehensive income Eb2ERE
Exchange differences on BNEERREEE)

translation from functional EBZENER

currency fo presentation

currency - - - - - (7.887) - - - (7.887) 511 (7.376)
Exchange differences arisingon -~ #EBHEHZER

franslation of foreign operafions 28 - - - - - 4269 - - - 4269 - 4269
Reclassification of cumulative HE-BHELAS

translation reserve upon KEHER R

disposal of a subsidiary ENAE (HiFa)

(Nofe 36) - - - - - (38) - - - (3 - 3)
Reclassification of cumulative dH-EHEARAR

tronslation reserve upon ZHERRRERD

deregisfration of a subsidiary E (3360)

(Note 36b) - - - - - 760 - - - 760 - 760
Fair volue gain of financial assets ~ RAFEE AL B2

at fair value through other EhEEREED

comprehensive income TEERE - - - - - - 2 - B 2 - 2
Total comprehensive (expense)  FE 2 (%) W&

income for the year a5 - - - - - (3.29) 2 - (20.782) (24.076) 364 (B.12)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Nofe 36a)  HE-BHELT

(HE360) - - - - - - - - - - % %

Disposal of parial inferests in HE-EHELELZ

a subsidiary (Note i) BamH (i) - - - - - - - (687) - (687) 687 -
Release of non-confrolling inferest %~ EHEATH

upon deregistration of BREERER

a subsidiry (Note 36b) (H3£36b) - - - - - - - - - - (1.709) (11.709)
Retur capifal to a non-controlling i #-EHEA T4

inferest shoreholders upon nFEREERR

deregistration of a subsidiary it -0 - - - - - - - - B B (3:34) (34
Af 31 March 2024 RZF-RE=ZR

=t-8 16,687 2,004,406 76N 446 3,783 (830) 2 3531 (2.145,879) 113,781 (5.108) 108,679

E It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * €L R1,00058 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FeEQBIER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENCE PN, 1
Capital Non-
Share Share  Contribution  redemption Translation ~ Revaluation Other  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-fotal interest  Total equity
e REER RABE HIRERE EXGE EfifE AftiE RitB8 N FERER #Ex
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS000
TEn Tén TiEn TiEn Tin Fén Fén Tén FEn TEn Tén
(note i)
()

At 1 April 2024 RZZ-MEME-B 16,687 2,064,406 171,671 446 (830) 2 3,831 (2.145,879) 113,781 (5,108) 108,679

Loss for the yeor EEER 5 5 5 - - - @963  (21,963) @n (28400

Other comprehensive income Ef2ENE

Exchonge differences on HYRERREERS

translation from functional BBCERER

currency fo presentation

currency - - 700 - - - 700 179 819
Exchonge differences arisingon ~— RERNEBZE

fronslation of foreign operations ~ £8 - - - 431 - - - 431 = 431
Reclassification of cumulative TH-ENELRE

transaction reserve upon KEHERBREN

deregistration of a subsidiary 78 (H36b)

(Note 360) - - - (1.475) - - - (1.475) - (1.475)

Fair volue gain of financial ossets A FE@ T AL

at fair value fhrough other 2ENEZEHER
comprehensive income AYEENE - - - - 4 - - 4 1 5
Total comprehensive (expense) B2 (Fx) W&
income for the year 88 - - - (344 4 - @963) (28303 (@51 (28.560)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=f
=t-8 16,687 2,064,406 171,671 446 3,753 (1,174) 6 3,831 (2.173,842) 85,484 (5.365) 80,119

Notes: B &

(i) Contribution surplus represents the difference () EBRHEKENBEIFEFMREMBATGZRAEMER
between the nominal value of the share capital of REBEHRHEEWBREMBTZ2XILESZE
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of ARAF ([AQA ) BAHEBEZEEE -
the share capital of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) issued as consideration for the acquisition
as at the date of the group reorganisation in prior
years.

(i)  On 4 April 2023, the Group entered intfo an agreement (i) RZZZ=FNAENA AKEEE-EBIE=FF]

with an independent third party to dispose 7% equity
interests of MESCEEEERK (KB ERARCRE
&) with no consideration. Accordingly, the Group's
effective interests in & & has been reduced from
100% to 93%. The carrying amount of the partial interests
in R disposed by the Group of approximately
HK$687,000 was credited to equity as non-controlling
interests during the year ended 31 March 2024. The
disposal was completed upon which the Group
tfransferred respective equity interests of M to an
independent third party.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Ve HERETEBEENE (B8 ARLQF
(THRBE]) 7%RfE - EMAE - Hit - AEBERRIES
ZEBREEZHI0NRAENR% BE-ZT-_NF=A
=ST-HLEFE FAEEHENRETSHBI BHENIR
E{E#687,0008 T B FH AFZRER - ZEHESE
Bl AEERABUE=STEERECHSERE -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024
—_E_REF —E-UE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss for the year FEEBE (28,400) (20,929)
Adjustments for: BT HIEEFHFAE
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 3.322 488
Depreciation of property and MERREBINE
equipment 23 54
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (FREBEEEITE 1,924 342
Gain on deregistration of a HHE-BREARZ
subsidiary g = (10.942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—BWEBARZ
W & - (823)
(Gain) loss on fair value change BAVEEFABER
of financial assets at fair value (A FEEFAE
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") mR|)ZERMEEZ
NEEEZE (KR)
g (175) 6,326
Gain on disposal of financial HERAFEETA
assets at FVTPL BRRkeemEEZ
g (272) (390)
Gain on disposal of property and HEMERSREZ
equipment Uy % = 3
Loss on written off of property WEEMERBREZ
and equipment ] 1 S
Impairment losses recognised in AT HRIEERZ
respect of: WERE
- Associate AN =" 157
- Prepayments —FEFE = 560
- Right-of-use assets —-FREEE 1,689 254
- Intangible assets -BRERE 552 -
Impairment loss under ECL RHREEFERETZ
model, net of reversal WEEE - HREE 888 (808)
Impairment loss reversed in SFABRKRZVMERR
profit or loss of property and BREEERE
equipment (49) =
Recovery of impairment loss on EAIRAZERE S
trade receivables previously R EEEED
recognised - (609)
Share of loss of an associate e — e AREER 124 386
Income tax (credit) expense FRigH (8% ) B (328) 2
Bank interest income IRITRE WA (120) Qa77)

* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

Y fE£ 82 11,0008 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RF —E-WF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Investment income from financial EAFEETAEM
assets at fair value through 2EWR (TRAFE
other comprehensive income Bt ARt 2 EE D)
(*FVTOCI") ZERMEENRE
Y 3 (77) (46)
Subsidies W a9 9
Provisions of legal claim EEBRREE 1,579 -
Dividend income from financiall RATFEEFABRE
assets at FVTPL ZERMEENRE
ON (%) (85)
Interest expenses FERX 133 69
Written off of other receivables il 88 B i FE Uk 3R 18 281 -
Written off of other payables T 88 HL b FE A3 FRIE (202) (658)
Written off of trade payables M RN E 5 R = (53)
Operating cash flows before EEESEHAIZ
movements in working capital KeERERE (19.131) (26,780)
Decrease in inventories BFERD 1.311 2,331
Decrease in tfrade receivables EWE 5 BRFOR D 519 7,063
Decrease (increase) in contract EHEERD (M)
assets 118 (118)
Decrease (increase) in loan FEWEFR D (i)
receivables 1,317 (7,789)
Decrease in other receivables, HihEWFIE - RERTE
deposits and prepayments FFEIE R A 275 9.816
Decrease in investments held for BEEEZRERY
frading 1,504 745
Increase in contract liabilities BHEBIEM 902 -
Decrease in trade payables EAE SRR (47) (423)
Increase (decrease) in other Hit B RIER EFHE R
payables and accrued charges B O 2) 765 (3.803)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REmAZES (12,467) (18,938)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-UE
HK$’'000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Income tax refund (paid) RE (B#) e 42 (807)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REEKAZRE
ACTIVITIES FH (12,425) (19.745)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEK
Purchase of property and BEWERSE
equipment ®) (36)
Proceeds from disposal of property HEWERRE S
and equipment I8 = 6
Acquisition of financial assets RAFEETAHMES
at FVTOCI HhBEzEMEEZ
W - (419)
Bank interest received EWRITFE 120 177
Dividend income of financial assets & A F{EE ABHE &
at FVTPL ZEMEEZREKA 5 85
Investment income from financial RERAFEEFAH
assets of FVTOCI tEERREzEME
EZ2RERA 77 46
Advance to an associate —BBE RN 28N (750) -
Return capital to non-controlling T — BB AR RM
interest shareholders upon IR ESERERE
deregistration of a subsidiary ER - (3.342)
Net cash outflow on disposal of a HE-—BHBARZ
subsidiary BeRHFEE - (47)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTMENT BREEKAZ
ACTIVITIES B FHE (553) (3,530)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FeBeRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_ME
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHExT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES L& K
(Repayment to) advance from (BE)RRERZBR
shareholder’s loan (4.364) 4,364
(Repayment to) advance from (BB)ESERZER
director’s loans (436) 3,436
Interest paid EARE (133) (69)
Repayments for capital element of (EEHEEBENER
lease liabilities i) (2.149) (2,273)
Subsidies Rk 19 19
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MELE (FA) e
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ZEEFE (7.063) 5,477
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH ~ B&RBELZEWRH L
EQUIVALENTS FH (20,041) (17.798)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYHEENRIEESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 38,228 61,497
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXxEgeg o 2E
RATE CHANGES 242 (5.471)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FREERREZEYD
END OF THE YEAR 18,429 38,228
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda with
limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of the Company’s registered
office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is Suite 1502,
15/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries (fogether with the
Company, the "Group”) are set out in Note
40. The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC").

The Company’s functional currency is
Renminbi ("RMB”). For the convenience
of the financial statements’ users, the
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"),
as the Company’s shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

—REH

XEBEEEEERAR (TAXAT])REH
EREM(—AN—FQAE)FMREL
RERERERETAR  HRORE B
EXGMBERLE (TBRA]) ER Lo
KA\ 2 & M E E 3k v AVictoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda ' mMEFE&
EMBAEBCEEREIGGREREAMTP
T 1581502% o

ARAR-BREERAT - HEEH B
AT ERART GBI AEE) 2B
EHMAWEA  AEE T BEEBY
AEERTEARLNE (HRED

ARBZHEEBEBARB TARE]D -
REMNBBHEERZERE BREARTZ
BORBRFET  REPBERRUBT
(Bl 25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied
the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA™") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to Lease liability in Sales
HKFRS 16 and Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of
HKAS 1 Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and
related Amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities

HKAS 1 with Covenants
Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Hong Kong Presentation of
Interpretation 5 Financial Statements
(Revised) - Classification by the

Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains
a Repayment on
Demand Clause
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application
of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the "2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for
the first time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification
and additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer seftlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

(i) specify that the classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that
are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the
classification should not be affected
by management intentions or
expectations to setftle the liability within
12 months.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

FE Rl RASIER] BB M 3
HEEAFEER (E)

REAFEBEHER Z2EBTER
MBHEENETER (B)

BRTXFEN  RAFERBEETE
B BHREENSH ENHAEERNFEE
RBEFE2UBMRRARKRAR HZE
REMBHRRAIBEBEELREEALE -

EREBETERFIR K BELE
BRBRFTERIGEEEREFESN 25
J(—E-FF)([ZF-FF2ET)ERE
BEEETEREIRZEE - BERFZZH
MEBEE(ZFEZZFZET)HTE

AEBERAFEERNEAZEER] -

CECIERFEZBIRTAEREEHES
DEERZENST @A ZERELT BB
%ﬁgl\hﬂ 5l U\HglﬁﬁAi\%mb@_ﬁ%uw@]
Hep:

() PERKEEEZIRBIERBOERE
ERBEPREFEZEN - BEM
S OROBETESEEEEERESR
HI1I2EBRNBEEEBZHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards that are

mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments

to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the "2020 Amendments”) and

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

(iiy clarify that the settlement of a liability

can be a transfer of cash, goods or
services, or the entity’'s own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the "2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date which
are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that
an entity is required to comply with on
or before the end of the reporting period
affect the entity’s right fo defer settlement
of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance
with the covenant is assessed only after
the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments
also specify that covenants with which
an entity must comply after the reporting
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or
non-current at the reporting date. However,
if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a
liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after
the reporting period, an entity discloses
information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within
twelve months after the reporting period.
This would include information about the
covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have
difficulties complying with the covenants.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

R E] RS T BB B W
ZAGFER (E)

7N =

i3
y==1
=

REAFERFNERZEEBITER
MBHEENESTER (B8)

EREBETERFIR ;K  BEDE

BRBEHFTERGEEEZEEST 2
BT (ZFE-FF) ([ ZF=-FF2K:T))
REEBEEREIRZIEET BHEREZ
HRBEE(—FE-_FZET)HWEE
(&)

HRBEEEREEHBEZEZL+ @A
ZREF (LNEBFRERAGY) ==

ZETBAEE BRAEANBREDHRIZ
BT REFEYELERLEEERERN
HREBPHRBREERLD T @A ZER > B
FRENETHRERKE ABPHETME -
TR CEBEINEH BEREEA
HENBEBT 2RE (RREZHE) T
EEBENREBPIEARBHIERE -
KM HERLEEEEEENEANZIRN
EERBEHRE T -EARNEFZE A
EREREERNUFHREBRRNFEAEDY
THZSEENREHET _EAREE
BENRAKR ZEERBEERLE HBEE
BZRABEURRBEEIAEAHLUETR
FHNEERBR(WMEA)

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF

93



94

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the "2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

In accordance with the transition provision,
the Group has applied the new accounting
policy to the classification of liability as
current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the
current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

2. ERAFHITREETEBHBR
HEEAFEER (E)

A =T+~

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

New and Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective

EHEMEERERZHETRES
AEBUBREERSER

The Group has not early applied the AEETHERFEATIEEMESRE

following new

accounting standards

and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

Amendments to  Amendments fo the EANKBREED SRIAEMSEER
HKFRS 9 and Classification and FORREBHHE BB
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial HEAETHR 2
Instruments® & 5]
Amendments to  Contracts Referencing BEEVKREER KBERERNEXD
HKFRS 9 and Nature-dependent EOERE B A2@°
HKFRS 7 Electricity® EERETRZ
&=
Amendments to  Sales or Contribution of Assets EBANKEBELED REZFHEHEEENT
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its FI0REEEE REEQATZEZ
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture' FTHERISE285% = BEHEREA
&2
Amendments Annual Improvements to EAUBBEED BTBUBREEL
to HKFRS HKFRS Accounting Standard S ER 2 BT S EMNEENR
Accounting - Volume 11° -1
Standards
Amendments o Lack of Exchangeability? EBEER R A R
HKAS 21 2185 2 185T
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in ERMBRELEN MBEBRRPHZIR
Financial Statements* 5189 wE
Hong Kong Hong Kong Interpretation 5 BEBREESE EBREESE K
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial (&AEET) WMREV-ERA
(Revised) Statements Classification by HESREREER
the Borrower of a Term Loan RRZEHERZ
that Contains a Repayment o8&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_TAF=A=1T—-HLFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

New and Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue
but not yet effective (Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors
anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Confinued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and
Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements, which sets
out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will
replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting
Standard, while carrying forward many
of the requirements in HKAS 1, infroduces
new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes fo
the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other
standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected
to affect the presentation of the statement
of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the
process of assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of
consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is
considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance ("CQO").

The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the

fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would
take those characteristics info account
when pricing the asset or liability at
the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing fransactions that
are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable
value ("NRV") in HKAS 2 Inventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of

consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement
in ifs entirety, which are described as
follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other
than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs for the asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

BHRR EBREERE
BRER ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &=EH
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL g
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

o

3.2 EREFBERER

information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

HEEE

REVBBREBELARARZAQF
BEHcBERRAMNB AR ZMBRE -
A THER - AIARREREGESRE:

AHREHRTERED

is exposed, or has rights, fo variable ZHREHR CEBMAET
returns from its involvement with the & IEl RS EEESERALO
investee; and m R

has the ability to use its power to

4H*

BRENIETEARIMPEZ

affect its returns. B3R ©
The Group reassesses whether or not HMEEERFERBE R LM =HZEGHE
it controls an investee if facts and Zh B—EBHZULLHAESH K&
circumstances indicate that there are BEeEEHTHERSEHREHR -

changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Confinued)

When the Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient
to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group’s
voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of
voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the
Group, other vote holders or other
parties;

rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

any additional facts and
circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have,
the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the fime
that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses confrol of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains confrol unfil
the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
tfo the owners of the Company and
to the non-conftrolling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-conftrolling
inferests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’'s
accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All infragroup assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

Non-conftrolling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the
Group'’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership inferests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EREHBERER ()

information (Contfinued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing conftrol over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity tfransactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted
fo reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the
non-conftrolling interests according to
the Group’s and the non-confrolling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and
aftributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policies

information (Contfinued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained
inferest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the sulbsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assefs or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEBEBRRZGEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEEHR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

w

2EREHBEREN (A)

Goodwill P

Goodwill arising on an acquisition WIEEKMEEHERNAREER (R
of a business is carried at cost as FNEHHBER)EERALIMNAARE
established at the date of acquisition SEREER(WE)IER-

of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment BBEAAMS  HESRIETHE
testing, goodwill is allocated to each HEeZEREHBRIENEAERS
of the Group’s cash-generating units ReELEBEN (BeEEELE M) (H
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is ReE4EBEMAER) MEELRE
expected to benefit from the synergies NARERANEEENEEZEEN
of the combination, which represent BREKFEFEFABBEEDHE-

the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for intfernal management
purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the
unit (or group of CGUs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EREHBERER ()

information (Contfinued)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which
the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities
of the associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in an
associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. When the
Group'’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is
accounted for using the equity method
from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable
assefs and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, affer reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is
acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is
objective evidence that the interests
in an associate may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exisfts,
the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing ifs recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to
any assets, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in the investee with @
resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate
and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from
disposing of the relevant infterests
in the associate is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by
that associate would be reclassified
fo profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the
relevant associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEBEBRRZGEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEEHR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EREHBERER ()
information (Contfinued)

Investment in an associate R—EBELATZRE (E)
(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its ﬁﬁlgﬁ—gﬁazlxﬁlz B N\ BT
associate of the Group, profits and EEBRE LTI EZEARER
losses resulting from the transactions ﬁEﬁZ%,RT FTEeERGEEHEHRE
with the associate are recognised in FHERERELNINETREEEZ
the consolidated financial statements B o

only to the extent of interests in the
associafte that are not related to the

Group.

Revenue from contracts with EF&EH WA

customers

The Group recognises revenue when REBR (SPEE) THRENSIRE (B
(or as) a performance obligation is HEBEENETHENERKREH
satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the [EHIfE | EHEFEFR)BRWA -

goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
tfransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a BAEREENI2ERERE (5 —
good or service (or a bundle of goods AEmIERE) N—RIKRHER 2
or services) that is distinct or a series EEIESERES:

of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &Z"EHM
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Regst
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EREGHBERER ()
information (Contfinued)

Revenue from contracts with EESHWA (&)

customers (Continued)

Except for granting a licence that is BREHEEMAZERIRE TR 2
distinct from other promised goods or HEN HFEUTHEP —FEAE,
services, control is transferred over time Al H|EEREERE MR ARZE
and revenue is recognised over time TrETHEBNEEZERBRM
by reference to the progress towards e RF R

complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously . RNEAEEENRE  ZEERERE
receives and consumes the WHEAREBERBYMEMRZFIR

benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group

performs;

the Group’s performance creates - AEEEBHNELESIRA-EE
or enhances an asset that the E OMZBEBEENAEBEBAR
customer controls as the Group HEFES =

performs; or

the Group’s performance does - AEEBANUARAELEZELAEES
not create an asset with an BRAZzEE BXRKEEHE
alternative use to the Group and SCERBHNZNZEEA EE
the Group has an enforceable AT ZRER -

right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at SR MAREFESER B RKR
a point in fime when the customer TEIRHIRE 2 AR BHERR

obtains confrol of the distinct good or

service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EREHBERER ()

information (Contfinued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

For granting of a licence that is disfinct
from other promised goods or services,
the nature of the Group’s promise
in granting a licence is a promise to
provide a right fo access the Group’s
intellectual property ("IP*) if all of the
following criteria are met:

the contfract requires, or the
customer reasonably expects, that
the Group will undertake activities
that significantly affect the IP to
which the customer has rights;

the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer to
any positive or negative effects
of the Group’s activities identified
above; and

those activities do not result in the
tfransfer of a good or a service fo
the customer as those activities
occur.

If the criteria above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise fo grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the
Group considers the grant of licence as
providing the customers the right to use
the Group’s IP and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time
at which the licence is granted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

A contfract asset represents the
Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods that the Group
has fransferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is
due.

A conftract liability represents the
Group’s obligation fo transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EREHBERER ()

information (Contfinued)

Revenue from contracts with EELHWA (&)

customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance AEZHENEFZEA (BFDH
obligations (including allocation of K BERE)

tfransaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the
Group allocates the fransaction price
to each performance obligation on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying
each performance obligation is
determined at conftract inception.
It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or
service separately fo a customer. If a
stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such
that the fransaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.

HENFEEBB-—HBNEMLE &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the
goods or services fransferred to the
customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in tfransferring
control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using the most likely
amount, which better predicts the
amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress tfowards
complete satistaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the exftent
that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when
the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.

At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated
fransaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting
period.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognitions:
measurement of progress fowards
complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above criteria,
the Group shall recognise revenue for
a sales-based or usage-based royalty
promised in exchange for a licence of
IP only when (or as) the latter of the
following events occurs:

the subsequent sale or usage
occurs; and

the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-
based or usage-based royalty has
been allocated has been satisfied
(or partially satisfied).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMEBEBRRZGEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEEHR (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

32EAREFHEREN (E)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For the sale of products with a right
of return/exchange for dissimilar

BEFEHUA (&)

WwERE TR EAHE

BMARE ERFEERENNE
MIBEMS  AREBIAUTFIA

products, the Group recognised all of
the following:

(a) revenue for the fransferred
products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled (therefore,
revenue would not be recognised
for the products expected to be

(o) BXREEEFARRDNRES
B CEEERIWE (Bt
BT ERBETRE MENER
ERWE) ;

returned/exchanged);
(b) a refund liability/contract liability; (b) BRBE EHNEE &
and
(c) an asset (and corresponding (c) MEBEFUREERMERNR

REE (RYHHEEXTFHEESR
B) Y2IAEAWEREER
BEENER -

adjustment fo cost of sales) for
its right to recover products from
customers and are presented as
right tfo returned goods asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a
contfract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have
incurred if the contract had not been
obtained.

The Group recognises such cosfts
(i.e.. royalty expenses) as an assef if
it expects to recover these costs. The
asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with
the fransfer to the customer of the
goods or services to which the assets
relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RETHERER (B)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREFTBEER ()

information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with EEEHWKA ()
customers (Continued)

Contract costs (Continued) BRI (&)
Costs to fulfil a contract B R A

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a
contract in its digital marketing
business and publishing and
intellectual properties ("IPs”) licensing
business. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for
recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which
it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(a) the costs relate directly to a
confract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can
specifically identfify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance
resources of the Group that will be
used in satisfying (or in continuing
fo satisfy) performance obligations
in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be
recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently
amortised to profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent
with the fransfer to the customer of
the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset
for a period of tfime in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or
modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from
business combinations, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the fterms
and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to
components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease
component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components. The Group
also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from
lease component, and instead account
for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets include:

the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;
and

any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group.

Right-of-use assefs are measured
at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease
tferm.

The Group presents right-of-use
assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are
accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease,
the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value
of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date if the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;
and

payments of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease
liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a
separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification
as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the
scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the
leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone
price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments fo
that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Contfinued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBERENA ()
Lease modification (Continued) HEBR(E)

For a lease modification that is not
accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease ferm of
the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised
discount rafte at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains
one or more additional lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration
in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component.
The associated non-lease components
are included in the respective lease
components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements
of each individual group entity,
tfransactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies
are refranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in ferms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
seftlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)
information (Contfinued)

Foreign currencies (Continued) S (E)

For the purposes of presenting the MEINGEUBERERMS  AEEXE
consolidated financial statements, the B EEREBEYUSHEHRRIT
assets and liabilities of the Group's CERBEAAREEB L2 EH (A
operations are translated into the EIT) oW ARBMLERBUEBRE
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. YEXRBE  BRIFEZRZHB AR
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing RENRIMERIGR > EHRBRT > BIEA
at the end of each reporting period. RXEEACER - FTEACELER
Income and expenses items are (MB) AHME2EKEER L EE
translated at the average exchange EMWEZREBET ZT (FBNFEE
rates for the period, unless exchange BREZ(MEBEH)) -

rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling inferests
as appropriate).

Foreign operation is a subsidiary or an BHNEBRAERAT ZHE A TS
associate of the Company, of which AE HINgE B R AR D F E R I EE
the functional currency is different B2 BHEKNG 2INEEE B
from the functional currency of the "NEE

Company, either before or after the
change of functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Confinued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a
foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), the
exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
resulting from translation to functional
currency of the Company attributable
to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial
disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing confrol over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences
is re-aftributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence),
the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Foreign currencies (Confinued)

Exchange differences relating to the
retranslation of the Group’s net assets
in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HKS) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the franslation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their infended use or
sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such fime as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains
outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their
expenditfure on qualifying assefs is
deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised
until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the
condifions attaching to them and the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis
over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related
costs for which the grants are infended
to compensate.

Government grants related to income
that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivables. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit
plans are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benéefits

A liability for a termination benefit is
recognised at the earlier of when the
Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit
and when it recognises any related
restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered
the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in
the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any
amount already paid.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Other long-term employee benefits
obligations

The liabilities for long service leave and
annual leave that are not expected
to be seftled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related
service. These obligations are therefore
measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided
by employees up to the end of the
reporting period using the projected
unit credit method. Consideration
is given to expected future wage
and salary levels, experience of
employee departures and periods of
service. Expected future payments
are discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period of
high-quality corporate bonds with terms
and currencies that match, as closely
as possible, the estimated future
cash outflows. Remeasurements as a
result of experience adjustments and
changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments
to employees are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled
share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market
vesting condifions is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve). At
the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions.
The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to
the share options reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

When share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will
be fransferred to accumulated losses.

When the terms and conditions of an
equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement are modified, the
Group recognises as a minimum, the
services received measured at the
grant date fair value of the equity
instfruments granted, unless those
equity instruments do not vest because
of failure to satisfy a vesting condition
(other than a market condition)
that was specified at grant date. In
addition, if the Group modifies the
vesting condifions (other than a
market condition) in a manner that
is beneficial to the employees, for
example, by reducing the vesting
period, the Group takes the modified
vesting conditions into consideration
over the remaining vesting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions (Continued)

Share options granted to
non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment
tfransactions with parties other than
employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received,
except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the
equity instfruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum
of current and deferred income tax
expense.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from ‘loss before tax’
because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on
temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred assets
and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the fime of the
tfransaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in
subsidiaries and inferest in an
associate, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised fto the
extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient faxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient tfaxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is seftled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of ifs assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred
tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are afttributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the
tax deductions are attributable to the
lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities
and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can
be ufilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxation entity by the same
taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect
is included in the accounting for the
business combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment held for use
in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as fo
write off the cost of assefs less their
residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is
determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Infangible assets with finite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.
Infangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Continued)

An internally-generated intangible as
set arising from development activities
(or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing
the infangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic
benefits;

the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to
complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

information (Contfinued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
(Continued)

the ability to measure reliably
the expenditure atftributable to
the infangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible asset
is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset
first meets the recognition criteria listed
above. Where no internally-generated
infangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred.

Subsequent fo initial recognition,
infernally-generated intangible assets
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same
basis as intangible assets that are
acquired separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination

Infangible assets acquired in a
business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are
initially recognised at their fair value af
the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition,
infangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less
accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEWBBRRZGEHREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AREFBERER (B)
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)
information (Contfinued)
Impairment on property and WERRE RAREERBEFEE
equipment, right-of-use assets and H4 J5t 18 (7 & BR 5P)
intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the RBEBR AEEEFHEEHFHER
Group reviews the carrying amounts of AERFH2ERSLE FRES
its property and equipment, right-of-use ENEFEEZ2REE UEEES
assets and intangible assets with B SBERZEEEHERER
finite useful lives to determine whether BemEMBERTRKELEARE"
there is any indication that these VHBEEZAWE £ F UMt #®
assets have suffered an impairment MEEREBE (NE) 2REE- BE
loss. If any such indication exists, the HERUFAFHCETFEEURE X
recoverable amount of the relevant ARERACERLEEYNBEESED
asset is estimated in order to determine —XREANR  BEBEENRETZ
the extent of the impairment loss (if SEETREZSHE HETI2ESH
any). Infangible assets with indefinite B -
useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and
whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired.
The recoverable amount of property MERRE FREEEREREE
and equipment, right-of-use assets 2B L ZEEBI{EE - B F o8
and intangible assefs are estimated st ERIER Ak E £ 580 - &NE
individually. When it is not possible BiitZ2EEffBz2RSELEENZ
to estimate the recoverable amount Ay e £ ZE o

individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to
which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to
the relevant CGU when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group
of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount
is determined for the CGU or group
of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an
asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a
CGU) is reduced to ifs recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assefs which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a CGU, the
Group compares the carrying amount
of a group of CGUs, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with
the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit or the group
of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Impairment on property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a CGU or a group of
CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average
method. NRV represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL KEFBERER (8)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHEER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contfractual
provisions of the instruments. All
regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a frade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assetfs within the
tfime frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value
except for frade receivables arising
from confracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL") and at fair value
through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL and FVTOCI
are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an
infegral part of the effective interest
rate, fransaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured
at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
to collect contractual cash flows;
and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

BHRR EBREERE
BRER ()

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. &=EH
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL g
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies

mJHH

o

32 EAREFBKRER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured
at FVTOCI:

the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows;
and

the confractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are
subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of
a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is not
held for trading.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near
term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group
manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-
term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not
designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that
are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Contfinued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I E(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Amortised cost and interest income oA RFE WA

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, inferest income is
recognised by applying the effective
intferest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from
the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve;
and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments,
and will be transferred to accumulated
losses.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
profit or loss when the Group'’s right to
receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in
the “other income” line item in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Contfinued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assefs that do not meet
the criteria for being measures at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other gains or
losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on
financial assets (including frade
receivables, other receivables,
deposits, loan receivables and bank
balances, short-term bank deposits
and cash at financial institutions) and
confract assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessments are done based
on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific fo the debtors,
general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets. The ECL on these assefs are
assessed individually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEER (FB)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EARETHEER ()

information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Contfinued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal
fo 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credif risk

In assessing whether the credit
risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience
and forward-looking information
that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following
informatfion is taken intfo account
when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or infernal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability fo meet its
debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FEMBBRZGEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFABEREHR (B)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)
information (Contfinued)

Financial instruments (Continued) THTEA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets and REBTEBUBREERFIRETR
contract assets subject to impairment BEFtzeREERGNEEZRE
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) (&)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk () FEERRAELFAE)
(Continued)
an actual or expected - EBAREEBHBRERR
significant deterioration in FEHEEEL K
the operating results of the
debtor; and
an actual or expected . BEFEANEE « KES M
significant adverse change REHRERSBHERE
in the regulatory, economic, RANEE  AJREERER
or technological environment ANEBEREDKIETHRE -

of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’'s ability fo meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above T bz NS R o &AE
assessment, the Group presumes that BRAE EEHNNREEBEEI0
the credit risk has increased significantly X AIBYBEAUREERR
since initial recognition when contractual CREEFEN RIELAEESES
payments are more than 30 days past BHAXZEWERER -

due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate
tfo ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking info account
any collaterals held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the
Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or the borrower;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
(Continued)

(b) a breach of contract, such as
a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower,
for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted fo the
borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable
that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHEER (FB)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)
information (Contfinued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I E(E)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets and BB E B U %8RS %R FIRET R

contract assets subject to impairment Bt eRmEERGHNEEZRE

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) (&)

(iv) Write-off policy (iv) HEE BUR
The Group writes off a financial MEERBRHEFLEREY
asset when there is information KR B S|ERR Y E A 8 - fl a0
indicating that the counterparty HFEREETEEHCEANRE
is in severe financial difficulty and BF ZIREREZRRMS
there is no realistic prospect of ERcECAEHEB=F (UK
recovery, for example, when the BREERE) FEESHME
counterparty has been placed TRMEE - EZREELAEER
under liguidation or has entered B EHWESREEDARER
into bankruptcy proceedings, or EEMKERFEHEGEHIT -
in the case of trade receivables, MEBARLERAEIE -FAH
when the amounts are over BETHREHNERER

three years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may sftill be subject to
enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL

The measurement of ECL is a
function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of
the probability of default and
loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Confinued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the
Group takes intfo consideration
the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past due status;

Nature, size and industry of
debtors; and

External credit ratings where
available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure the
constituents of each group
confinue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of
ECL (Continued)

Inferest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of frade
receivables, other receivables
and loan receivables where
the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32 EAREHHBEER (B)

information (Contfinued)

Financial instruments (Continued) @I E(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE ()
Derecognition of financial assets RIEBREWMEE

The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the confractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to
another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset at
amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment
in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is fransferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are
classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instfruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including frade
payables, other payables and accrued
charges, loan from a shareholder,
loans from directors and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEBBR2HFEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REFTHERER (E)

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies 32EAREHERER(E)

information (Contfinued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims and make
good obligations are recognised
when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is more likely than
not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligatfion; and
the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

tHMITA(E)
THAEREE (B)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policies
information (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement
is deftermined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one
item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present
value of management’s best estimate
of the expenditure required to seftle
the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period. The discount
rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s
accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision
and fufure periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that may have
a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
management carries out inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group
performed the inventory review including
estimation of the respective NRV which was
determined as the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The Group estimates the NRV for inventories
by taken into account a number of factors
including prices of actual sales during and/
or subsequent to the reporting period and
independent market information in relation
fo each of the inventories held by the
Group. The amount of allowance would be
changed as a result of changes in current
market conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories was
approximately HK$30,697,000, net of
allowance of HKSNil (2024: HK$32,008,000,
net of allowance of HKSNil).

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances
are assessed for ECL individually. In
addition, the Group uses practical
expedient in estimating ECL on frade
receivables which are not assessed
individually using provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on debtors’
aging as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimate. The information about the ECL
and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Notes 24 and 38b, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for loan
receivables

The Group makes allowance for loan
receivables based on the ECL model on an
individual basis which requires significant
judgement and management estimates.
Elements of significant management
judgement includes: (i) the selection of
appropriate models and key inputs used
in the ECL model, including the probability
of default and loss given default, and (ii)
the selection and use of reasonable and
supportable forward-looking information
without undue cost or effort in the ECL
model.

The provision of ECL is sensitive fo changes
in estimate. The information about the
ECL of the Group’s loan receivables are
disclosed in Notes 27 and 38b, respectively.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment assessment
of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired,
the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the confinued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount
rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assefts), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash generating unit to which
the assets belong, including allocation
of corporate assefs when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, oftherwise recoverable amount
is determined at the smallest group of cash
generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment assessment
of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amounts of property and equipment
and right-of-use assetfs, and subject to
impairment assessment were approximately
HK$113,000 and HK$777,000 (2024:
approximately HK$81,000 and HK$273,000)
respectively. During the year ended 31
March 2025, impairment losses of HKS$Nil
and HK$1,689,000 (2024: HK$Nil and
HK$254,000) in respect of property and
equipment and right-of-use assets that have
been recognised respectively. Details of the
impairment of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets are disclosed in Note 16.

Estimated impairment of an
associate

The Group determines whether impairment
loss should be recognised or reversed
for its interest in an associate requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of
the relevant associate which is the higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The management of the Group to
estimates the value in use using the present
value of the estimated future cash flow
expected to arise from the associate. Where
the recoverable amount is less than or more
than expected, an additional impairment
loss or reversal of impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying
amount of the interests in an associate
was approximately HK$98,000 (2024:
{522 2500.0) b I mp airment- Laiss (of
approximately HKS$Nil (2024: HKS$157,000)
was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Useful lives and amortisation
charges of intangible assets

The Group’'s management determines
the estimated useful lives and related
amortisation charges for the Group’s
infangible assets with reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. Management will revise
the amortisation charges where useful lives
are different to that of previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives.
Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore amortisation
expense in future periods. The Group’s
management determines the estimated
useful lives and related amortization
charges for its intangible assets with finite
useful lives disclosed in Note 20.

Fair value of financial assets at
FVTOCI

As at 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s
financial assets amounting to approximately
HKS$414,000 (2024: HK$413,000) are
measured at fair value with fair value
being determined based on significant
unobservable inputfs using valuation
tfechniques, judgement and estimation
are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant
imputes thereof. Changes in assumptions or
inputs could affect the reported fair values
of these instfruments. Details of valuation
methodologies or inputs are set out in Note
38c.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment assessment of
intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives

The Group conducts fests for impairment of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
annually in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards. Determining whether
the intangible assets are impaired requires
an estimation of the fair value less cost o
sell or value in use on the basis of data
available to the Group. Where future cash
flows are less than expected, an impairment
loss may arise.

Recoverability of intangible
assets

During the year, the management has
evaluated the impairment of intangible
assetfs by way of higher of value in use
calculation by reference to the discounted
cash flows derived from financial budgets
approved by the management of the
Group or fair value less costs of disposal
("FVLCD") with reference to the latest
market fransactions or market search. If the
higher of the value in use or FVLCD is less
than the corresponding carrying amounts,
an impairment loss may be required.

4.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recoverability of intangible
assets (Continued)

During the year, the Group reconsidered
the recoverability of the Group’s Intellectual
properties right and Proprietary technology.
The contfinuous challenging market
conditions and loss from the operating
segment have caused the Group to
reconsider ifs assumptions regarding future
market shares and anticipated margins on
these products. Detailed sensitivity analysis
has been carried out and the Group is
confident that the carrying amount of the
assets will be recovered in full. This situation
will be closely monitored, and adjustments
made in future periods, if future market
activity indicates that such adjustments are
appropriate.

The carrying amount of Intellectual
properties right and Proprietary tfechnology
at 31 March 2025 was approximately
HK$28,376,000 (2024: HKS4,140,000).
An impairment loss of approximately
HK$552,000 (2024: HKSNIl) was recognised
during the year. Details of the impairment of
intangible assets was disclosed in Note 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Determination of functional
currency

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 21
to determine the functional currency of the
Group’s entities. This determination requires
significant judgement. When indicators are
mixed and the functional currency is not
obvious, management uses its judgement
fo determine the functional currency that
most faithfully represents the economic
effects of the underlying transactions,
events and conditions. Once the functional
currency is determined, it can be changed
only if there is a change to those underlying
fransactions, events and condition.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

5. REVENUE 5. KA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) EFERNBAZDH
from contracts with customers
Year ended 31 March 2025
BE-ZCRFZACH-RALEE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and IPs Digital and  language
licensing  marketing  wholesales  processing Total
HIRR A HEL BER HARE
ERRE miEkE B 4 B8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEn TEn TEn
Timing of revenue recognition: BARAZKE:
At a point in time: RERY:
- Comic books sales -BEERME 1297 - - - 1297
- Royalty income from IPs - REABEERE
licensing Z IR A 3,019 - - - 3,019
- Salles of wine - BEHE - - 1,227 - 1,227
Over time: RERR
- Social media marketing -ERBRTSEE - 11 - - m
Total et 15,990 m 1,227 - 17,328
Geographical markets: HETS
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BE(gxfEH) 15,990 - 1,221 - 17,217
The PRC e - m - - 111
Total o 15,990 m 1,227 - 17,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue
from contracts with customers
(Continued)

5. WA (&)
() BFAHRAZSH (&)

Year ended 31 March 2024
HE-E-ME=R=t+-HILEE

Publishing Retailing Natural
and IPs Digital and  language
licensing  markefing ~ wholesales  processing Total
iV EES gEL ZEH HAZE
ERRE iR oz i3 L
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEn Thn
Timing of revenue recognition: BRAMAZEE
At a point in time: RERE:
- Comic books sales -BRERNE 12,419 - - - 12,419
- Royalty income from IPs -RENBERRE
licensing ZIRERA 2,685 - - - 2,685
- New media adverising revenue - Sl BES WA - 2,484 - - 2,484
- Soles of wine - BEHE - - 2,457 - 2457
Over time: RERR :

- Social media markefing -HREETGER - 113 - - 13
Total @it 15,104 2,597 2,457 - 20,158
Geographical markets: BEHS

Hong Kong (place of domicile) A (ExfEYH) 15,104 - 2,457 - 17,561
The PRC HE - 2,597 - - 2,597
Total h 15,104 2,507 2,457 - 20,158
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
Publishing and IPs licensing

The revenue from publishing and IPs
licensing includes comic book sales
to the wholesale market and royalty
income from IPs licensing.

For comic book sales, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
control of the goods has transferred
according fo respective agreed terms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’'s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to refurn
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard confract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its IPs to customers. Without
any promise to deliver other goods or
services, the customer can benefit from
the license that are readily available
and the license is considered as a
distinct performance obligation.
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ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Publishing and IPs licensing
(Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s IPs as they exist at the point in
tfime at which the license is granted.
Given there is no explicit or implied
obligation for the Group to undertake
activities during the license period to
change the form or functionality of the
IPs, or support or maintain the value
of the IPs, revenue is recognised at a
point in time.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the IPs are provided to
customers; or 2) sales-based royalty
income that are attributable to a
license of the IPs when the subsequent
sales occur. For sales-based royalty,
customers agree the sales volume with
the Group each month and seftle the
royalty with a credit term of 60 days.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website.
The marketing services include 1)
design and coordination of new
media advertising; 2) IPs digitalisation
for production and 3) social media
marketing with content development.

For new media advertising, since the
Group does not have an enforceable
right fo payment for performance
completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when
the conftrol of services or goods is
tfransferred to the customer, being
when the services are rendered and
control of goods are fransferred to
the customers. Certain contracts
with customers contain mulfiple
distinct performance obligations to
be performed by the Group. The
Group uses its best estimate of selling
prices by expected cost plus a margin
approach of these service obligations
as the basis for the allocation of the
fransaction price.

For social media marketing, revenue
is recognised over time when the
customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group
performs, i.e. the broadcast of the
advertisement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Digital marketing (Confinued)

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 120 days to customers
and requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits. When the
Group receives a deposit before
production commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities which
represent the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has
received considerafion (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the
customer. Conversely, contract asset
is recognised over the period in which
the social media marketing services
are performed representing the
Group'’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are condifioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
fransferred to frade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e.
upon completion of all performance
obligatfions within a contract.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations for

contracts with customers
(Continued)

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the goods are delivered and
titles have passed. The normal credit
term is 60 days upon delivery.

Natural language processing

Revenue from natural language
processing business is primarily derived
from the sale of products and the
services with Al speech recognition
and natural language understanding
technology. The products include
software and embedded chipset, in
addition to devices installed with chips.
The services include licensing the code
to customers. Revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the control of
services or goods is transferred to the
customer, being when the services are
rendered and control of goods are
fransferred fo the customers.

(iii) Transaction price allocated

to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with
customers

All goods or services provided by the
Group are for contracts with original
expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. Hig A

2025 2024
—E_-REF —E-E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Bank interest income RITRE WA 120 177
Consultancy income R YA = 41

Dividend income from financial assets #ZEAFPBEFABRZRZ

at FVTPL TREEZREWA 5 85
Imputed interest income from loan FEWRERNEER S WA

receivables 268 183
Investment income from financial RAFEEFARMEE

assets at FVTOCI KEzEMEEZRE

N 77 46
Recovery of impairment loss on trade  %ATERZERE S EXR

receivables previously recognised WEEERRE (M)

(Note) - 1,491
Recovery of impairment loss on T AR 2 B RIBRE

prepayments previously recognised EEEE (MEE)

(Note) = 2,453
Subsidies e 19 19
Sundry income HIEUWA 76 143

565 4,638

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
recovery of impairment loss on trade receivables
and prepayments previously recognised were
made in respect of civil complaints by the Group
against the suspected misconduct behaviour
of customers and suppliers in digital marketing
business.
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OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

7. HtWHENER

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Gain (loss) on fair value change of BAVEEFABRERZ
financial assets at FVTPL TREECAFEES
Bz Wiz (B8)
- Held for trading -BEEE 447 439
- Others - Hit - (6,375)
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary T84 — KB Q7 2 Uz
(Note 36b) (Hi3E36b) - 10,942
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-—BHBEAG 2 WEH
(Note 36a) (FF5E360) = 823
Gain on disposal of property and HEMERREZWE
equipment - 3
Impairment loss reversed in profit or RIERPREENYERSE
loss of property and equipment BREEE 49 -
Loss on written off of property and MM ERFREER
equipment m %)
Net foreign exchange loss ELEEFSE (580) (2.499)
Written off of other receivables il 88 H b FE W TR 8 (281) -
Written off of other payables i1 85 L b FE (S FR1E 202 658
Written off of trade payables MEEEA B Z IR — 53
Provisions for legal claim (Note 42) SRR ZEEBE (MPEE42) (1.579) _
(1,743) 4,039
FINANCE COSTS 8. MKEH
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-UE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TERT FET
Interests on lease liabilities HEEGBZFE 133 69
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

9. OTHER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES 9. HitpiEEIE
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-WE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FiET
Impairment losses recognised in BTHEEECERZ

respect of WEEE
- Associate (Note 19) - B~ E (FEE19) =" 157
- Prepayments (Note) - A RROE (MEE) - 560
- Intangible assets (Note 20) - BEREE (MaE20) 552 -
- Right-of-use assets (Note 17) -EAEEE (ME17) 1,689 254
2,241 971

10.

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025,

*

impairment loss of approximately HKSNil (2024:
HK$560,000) in respect of prepayments to
suppliers in publishing and IPs licensing.

It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief operating
decision maker ("CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.
This is also the basis upon which the Group
is organised and specifically focuses
on the Group’s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the CODM
have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

- Publishing and IPs licensing:
publication of comic books and royalty
income from licensing IPs of comics.

- Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication, IPs
digitalisation and agency of IPs services
in the PRC.

- Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine.

- Natural language processing: Al
speech fechnology with real-time
human interaction, including design
and implementation in both software
and embedded chipset domains.

10. &

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

BEHR(E)

ZFRR  BESBUHEHREERFEIFELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by operating and
reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2025

10. 2 #BEH (48)
DR AR E &

UTRAEE 2B ARFEREER ATH
HDBFTEZ DA

BEr—_E-_aF=-HA=+—HILEFE

Publishing Retailing Natural

and IPs Digital and language
licensing  markefing  wholesales  processing Consolidated

HR R AR BBl B
ERRE TEER  TERRE RERE L

HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TR THR THR THT

Revenue WA
External sales MpEE
Segment results ANEE

Unallocated expenses AAREX
Unallocated income AABBA
Other gains and losses HbERER
Loss before tox BHAEE

15,990 111 1,227 - 17,328

1,738 (916) (60) (8,605) (8,550)

(20,645)
59
408

(28,728)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

10. 7 WEHR (&)

DEBAREE (B)

BEr—_E-pWE=—F=+—HIFE

Publishing Retailing Natural

and IPs Digital and language
licensing markefing ~ wholesales  processing  Consolidated

R A HEl B
ERRE TEER  TEEME EERE &8

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TEn TR TRR

Revenue
External sales

Segment results

Unallocoted expenses
Unallocated income
Other gains and losses

Loss before tax

15,104 2,597 2,457 - 20,158

1384 2236 (887) (2.873) (140)

(25.717)
238
4811

(20,808)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies as described in Note
3. Segment results represent the loss before
tax incurred by each segment without the
allocation of certain other income, gain
(loss) on fair value change of financial
assets at FVTPL, gain on deregistration of a
subsidiary, impairment loss of right-of-use
assets and unallocated corporate
expenses. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are only
reviewed by the CODM as a whole and
hence no analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by operating segments is
disclosed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

10. 7 WEHR (&)

Other segment information H 5 5 &
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE—_E_LF= A=+ —HIFE
Publishing Retailing Natural
and IPs Digital and  language Segment
licensing ~ marketing  wholesales  processing total  Unallocated Consolidated
ERR AR B RS
ERER nEEE  BEEME ZERE AREH AAE &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER ThER TEr TEr TR TR TER
Amounts included in the measure of 3 A BERFEEL
segment profit o loss: k2 B
Amortisation of intongible assefs & EEHH 488 - - 2,834 3,322 - 3,322
Bank interest income RAFEHA (94) (13) o = (107) (13) (120)
Depreciation of property and NERREZTE
equipment - 5 - 4 9 14 23
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEEZINE 470 - - - 470 1,454 1,924
Finance costs HHER L) - = = 4 92 133
Impairment loss under ECL model, BHEEFEELT
net of reversal ZAEFE
Il ! (721) -* - 1,611 890 2 888
Impairment loss on inferestinon ~ A-BELAREEZ
associate HERE - - = = & = +
Impairment loss on right-of-use FREEEL
assefs REFE - - - = - 1,689 1,689
Impairment loss on infangible EVEEZHERE
assets 552 - - 552 552
Share of loss of an associate Eii-BEELFL
B 124 - - - 124 - 124
Provisions for legal claim FERZRE - - - 1,579 1,579 - 1,579
Amounts regularly provide to CODM E @ EE &% %
Ritzem
Addition fo non-current assets REFRBEE 1,234 = = 28,341 29,575 2,888 32,463
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. Y 2P N1,000%E T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

10. 7 HEHR (5)

(Continued)
Other segment information Hitt o HER (8)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 Br—_FE-_mE=—H=+—HIFE
Publishing Retailing Naturol
and IPs Digital and  Language Segment
licensing  marketing  wholesales  processing total  Unallocated  Consolidated
iE R AL (4 R
ERRE mHEEE  TEERE ZERE ARa AAR Ga
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TiEn TER ThEr TR TER TER TER
Amounts included in the measure of 584 BERFEEZ
segment profit or loss: &8
Amortisation of intongible assets B EEHH 488 - - - 488 488
Bank inferest income EGEIELON (75) ) - o) (168) O amn)
Depreciation of property and NERZETE
equipment 36 8 3 47 7 54
Depreciation of right-of-use assefs ~ EREEEZIE 342 - - - 342 342
Finance costs BRER 2 - - - 2 4 69
Gain on deregistration of a THE-BHELAFZ
subsidiary % - (10942  (10942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHELTZ
W (823) - - (823) (823)
Impairment loss under ECL model,  BHIESEREET
net of reversal ZEERE
NB&EE 012) (83) - 6 926) 118 (808)
Impairment loss on inferestinan - EEL A DERE2
associate HEFE 157 - - - 157 157
Impairment loss on prepayments BAREZAERR 560 - - - 560 560
Impairment loss on right-of-use HREEEL
assefs HESE - 254 254
Share of loss of an associate Eif-ElEAT
B 386 = 386 386
Amounts regularly provide to CODM EH @ EL &% %
Ritze8
Addition to non-current assefs REFRBEE 21 s = 19 280 8 288
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in the
PRC, including Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue
from external customers is presented
based on the location of goods physically
delivered to or location of services
provided fo the customers and information
about its non-current assets is based on
geographical location of the assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

10. 2 & ER (58)

= & F
AEEZELSLERARTE (BESEH) o

FRAKEXRBNMFEFZ2BAZERTS
REERERXMF 2t mE S RAR
B2 MEBEFRBEEZE
BLEREEZFREHRE -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REMBEFZBWA RBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—TECRE —E-NE ZE-RHE —ZT-UE
HK$°000 HKS'000 HK$°000 HKS'000
FTHET FTHET THET FTET
Hong Kong 7
(place of domicile) (EEFTiEHe) 17,217 17.561 5,461 6,080
The PRC F 111 2,597 25,288 21
17,328 20,158 30,749 6,101

Note: Non-current assets excluded those relating to
deferred tax assets and financial instruments
including financial assefs at FVTPL, financial
assets at FVTOCI, loan receivables and deposits.

ME FRBDEETEREAEENEEERERMTA
(BRERLATEEFABRERZEREE LD
FEESFAHMZARS2EREE BRE
REREE)EBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 EER ()
(Continued)
Information about major ERTEEFZ2ER
customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of total sales of
the Group are as follows:

HEFERBEMAEBAHEEREI0%
ZEFEZWAMT :

2025 2024

—E-HHF —EF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A' EFH 4,973 5,648
Customer B' 2FZ' 5,748 5,133
Customer C? EFR’ N/A 7@ A° 2,457
Customer D' Z2ET! N/A i@ fB? 2,362

Revenue from publishing and IPs licensing
segment.

Revenue from retailing and wholesales segment.
The corresponding revenue did not contribute

over 10% of the Group’s total revenue in the
respective year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. 2 EER ()
(Continued)
Revenue from major products FEERRBRBERA
and services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s AEEZITEERRBRBEEEZRADN
revenue from its major products and mr
services:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE__ME
HK$’000 HKS$000
FERT FHET
Comic books BEEE 12,971 12,419
Premium wine BEBE 1,227 2,457
Royalty income [ N 3,019 2,685
Digital marketing BTG ERE 111 2,597
17,328 20,158
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

11.LOSS BEFORE TAX 1MN.RBEAER
2025 2024
“E-HE C—ZT-@OF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Loss before tax has been arrived at MR AIE B S HBR (BT A)
after charging (credifing): T5 &8 :
Staff costs ETIRA
Directors” emoluments (Note 15) EEM S (MIzE15) 3,282 4,204
Other staff costs: Hh8 TR :
- Retirement benefit scheme - RIKBEFIFT B
conftributions 500 601
- Salaries and other benefits -FEeRHEHMEF 12,537 14,972
- Long services payment expense - REBRE A RBE X 117 -
16,436 19,777
Auditor’'s remuneration AN
- Audit services - BETARTE 1,000 1,350
- Non-audit services - EEFTRE 230 250
Cost of inventories recognised as BRBBAIZEEALR
expenses 8,323 8,860
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFEHNZHEAR
customers 1,378 1,447
Depreciation of property and MERRBZITE
equipment 23 54
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 1,924 342
Amortisation of intfangible assets B EE#E 3,322 488
Legal, consultancy and other R RBAREMEZE
professional fees (included in other BRGIAHEMER)
expenses) (Note) (P =) 3,919 5,437
Staff termination cost RIEE T A - 1,560
Research cost (included in other FEBA (FrAEA
expenses) (including staff costs of ) (BEEI/RAK
approximately HK$1,333,000 (2024: #91,333,000 7T
HK$1,284,000)) (ZB=mEF
1,284,000/ 7T)) 1,481 2,423
Expenses relating to short-term leases EHEEHHEEEBE R X 666 714
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary 3 — KB D 5 2 W - (10,942)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BMEAR WS - (823)

Note: The amounts represent fees paid to lawyers
and consultants providing legal services and
professional advices on business operations and

presented under “other expenses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

12.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 12.Fr8% (K& BEX
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-WE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET

Current tax Bl AR 18

- Hong Kong Profit tax - BEBREH 88 154
Deferred tax IEAER IR

- Deferred tax credit (Note 32) - EEBIEE % (FIRE32) (416) @
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBERE

- Hong Kong Profit tax - BEBRAEH - (24)
Income tax (credit) expense Frigfi (%) B (328) 121

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income tax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%
(2024: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits for both years.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying
for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
confinue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of
the qualifying group entity is calculated
at 8.25% on the first HKS2 million of the
estimated assessable profits and at 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits above
HK$2 million.

REAREZEURSAS AR E
FEOBARBREHMEMAEN

B 5% 118 B TY R 95 718 48 B2 3> 4 5 FE SR B
HRIR16.5% (Z B I © 16.5%) 2 BEE
HER

REEBFESHMAT SEREEER
H&1R8.25% 2 M EFMIEF B2E BB THM
BIE > WARI65% B EHMNBB2EE
BLTUAEFBE2RE - FTHERNERHMR
BERZEEER 2 ERNSEBERRE B
ER165%HB - At SEREEERN
BERANEHZMLTERBENE2AEEB T
f98.25%=t & » MBB2E B8 T (L5t FE
b A B 4Z16.5%:T & ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

12.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE  12. fi{8%i (£ %) B (&)

(Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise
Income Tax (the "EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%
for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is

calculated at the rates prevailing in the
relevant jurisdictions.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

12.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 12, fiE% (%) B (&)

(Continued)
The income tax expense for the year can FRAESEBXTHEHESEZREMET
be reconciled to the loss before tax per the WHERAHIBRBAISEEERNT:

consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024
—E-HF CZEINOF
HK$’000 HK$000
THET FET
Loss before tax RERIEE (28,728) (20,808)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 2B & FT 5B E25%
25% (Note) B> HE (KEE) (7.182) (5.202)
Tax effect of income not taxable in %””ﬁ%%%ﬁiﬁ?}%ﬂﬁ’,j%ﬁ
determining taxable profit WA 2B BEE (102) (3.068)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FHEERF R %IJT\—H:D b
in determining taxable profit X zBMBEEE 2,442 3,076
Tax effect of share of loss of an e —RBE AREEZ
associate BT E 20 63
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRERFIEE B 2
g£E 3,438 6,168
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BRI ARERERFE
recognised B8 (310) (3.445)
Utilisation of deductible temporary AR AREES T
differences previously not recognised 15 & i = 48 (173) (2)
Effect of different tax rates of REMAERERE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARZ T RFHEZ
jurisdictions & 1.629 2,673
Tax effect of deductible temporary RE 2R E R E5A
differences not recognised ZHBEE 1 43
Income tax at concessionary rate BREEREFEZEH 89 (158)
Tax concessions HEER (2) 3
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBRERE - (24)
Total income tax (credit) expense FrEH (&) A4 %8 (328) 121
Notfe: The domestic tax rate (which is PRC Enterprise Mz B AEBARNERAER ZEEZERA
Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction where the MEB(ANPECEFRESHBIER) o
operation of Group is substantially based is
used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_TAF=A=1T—-HLFE

13.DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2024: HKSNil).

14.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share aftributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the following data:

13. kB
RBE-Z-AF= H +t—BLEFEL
AEﬁ‘SZL%A[’EﬁH » B EHARE T

BRI MR E (—7 e FHBT) o

14.8REE

RARABAFEEANBREEBREARBESFED
RIBETHHEBE -

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-ME
‘000 ‘000
TR TR
Weighted average number of shares  FARHESREAR
for the purposes of basic and diluted  #58&18 = 4
loss per share TR 1,668,657 1,668,657
2025 2024
—E-HF —ZE-ME
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR ESRERNKREE
of the Company for the purpose of BiEZANNTES AE
calculating basic and diluted loss per (AR FEEIE
share (27,963) (20,782)

The computation of diluted loss per
share does not assume the exercise of
the outstanding share options since the
assumed conversion would result in a
decrease in loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

HRBRREREEFBRE_T_HAFR=
E_NF=ZA=Z+-HLEFEZSRERE
B WA ESRBEERS I ERRT
e RITE 2 BIRHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fReMBRRME

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules
and the CO, is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

15.E% - TRAIRSREEA

EFYES
() BERFTHRARZHS

REEREHRAR X ERGIKE 2
FEESERTHRERZHMESNT:

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
FER BURR
ik Rt HE I3 Bg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TAn TAn TER
2025 “ECRE
Executive directors (Note i) HIES (W)
Kwan Kin Chung BfeR 120 556 18 694
Yuen Kin (Note v) {2 (Htiv) 12 74 1 87
Non-executive directors (Note i) FHTES (W)
Wong Kon Man Jason Iy 120 1,080 18 1,218
Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BZ% 120 480 18 618
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors (Note iii) (Rt i)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew (Note v) ERE (Mitv) 2% - - 2
Wong Kwan Kit EEA 240 - - 240
Mung Yat Lik S| 240 - - 240
Fung Ting Ho (Note vi) BER (Hzv) 161 - - 161
Total B 1,037 2,190 55 3,282
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments

15.EF - THAIRSREEA

B (&)

(VESRGFRARZMS ()

(Continued)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  confributions Total
HER BUET
fe Rft g HE [ L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TER TER TER
2024 —EC-NE
Executive directors (Note i) HES (WD)
Kwan Kin Chung BRE 120 556 18 694
Yuen Kin (Note iv) wf2 (W) 120 816 18 954
Non-executive directors (Note i) FHTES (W)
Wong Kon Man Jason Iy 120 1,080 18 1,218
Liu Ka Ying Rebecca BR& 120 480 18 618
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors (Note iii) (Biraiii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew (Nofe v) sz (W) 240 - - 240
Wong Kwan Kit EEA 240 - - 240
Mung Yat Lik S 240 - - 20
Total aE 1,200 2,932 72 4,204
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’'s emoluments
(Continued)

Note i

Note ii:

Note iii:

Note iv:

Note v:

Note vi:

The executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Yuen Kin has resigned as an
executive director with effective from 6
May 2024.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew has resigned
as an independent non-executive
director with effective from 6 May 2024.

Mr. Fung Ting Ho ("Mr. Fung”) has
been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effective from
31 July 2024.

During both years, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as a
discretionary bonus or an inducement
fo join or upon joining the Group or as
a compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under
which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during both

years.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

 E-E_AF=RA=+—BLFE

15.E% - TRRAIRSREEA
ExM< (B

() ESRFRERZMS ()

MizEi: LEXHMIBTESMEIRKESR
HAEEARARAEEER 2 RN

Mistii: EXFRPIFBATESZHMEDNHRRES
BEARFAESRERREZME -

Miskiii: EXFRIBYFHNTESZMETIH
BEREADRAESMEARSE 2 M

Mizv: RBRELEBEHNTESZ B-F
THERASNBREER

Mskv: ERELALECHIBILIITES
B-ZE-_MERASBRBER -

Miztvi: BESREE(BEENDCEZESR
BYFHTES BE-ZE-NFtA
=t+—-HEBEXR-

REMEFEHE AEELEGRE
EXNHEFERANBRAIBERES
DN E N9y IDN Sk 3 =3
ZHE

BEARESHRARNEREMEF
EREEAME 22 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_TAF=A=1T—-HLFE

15. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 155 - THAIZESREEA
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EzME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Employees’ emolument (b EEZHE
The five highest paid individuals with AEEBSFRERALTH  —F (=
the highest emoluments in the Group, EINEFE WMB)RELAES  KE
one (2024: two) was director of the ZHMEE N LXK EIS(@)FREKE -
Company whose emoluments are HBNEZ(Z2E-_WE =) At
included in the disclosure in Note 15(a) e ENT:
above. Emoluments of the remaining
four (2024: three) individuals are as
follows:
2025 2024
—EBZHEHF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Salaries and other benefits %’ré&ﬁ{ﬁﬂﬁ 3.188 3,698
Retirement benefit scheme RIRE R EIMHR
conftributions 85 62
3,273 3,760
The number of the highest five paid SHMEBERUTESHEBYIERANTES
employees who are not the directors of NESHLBZEEHBEWOT
the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:
Number
AE
2025 2024

—E-RE —ENEF

Nil fo HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000% 7T 3 1
HK$1,000,001 to HKS1,500,000 1,000,001% T E

1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HKS$2,000,000 1,500,001 % T &

2,000,000 7T - 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

16. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. MERFE
Vehicles,
Leasehold  furniture and
Improvements equipment Total
AEN% AE - &
k8 kit g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn ThR
cosT B
AP T April 2023 RZEZ=ERmA-A 487 3,041 3,528
Additions hE - 36 36
Disposals HE - @7 @7)
Written off s (78) (12 (0)
Exchange redlignment EZH2 - Q) Q)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=t-H 409 3,023 3,432
Additions HE - 5 5
Written off s - (797) (79
Exchange realignment EzgE - ) )
At 31 March 2025 RZE-RE=A=1-A 409 2,230 2,639
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT ZHAERNE
AP T April 2023 RZEZ=EMA-A 487 2,952 3,439
Provided for the year REERE - 54 54
Eliminated on disposals HEB - (34) (34)
Written off ik (78) 0 (85
Exchange redlignment EZHR - ) (%)
At 31 March 2024 RZECME=A=1-A 409 2942 3,351
Provided for the year TEERE - 3 2
Impairment loss reversed in profit or loss RERTREZAERE - (49) (49)
Written off s - (796) (796)
Exchange realignment ExH% - ®) S)
At 31 March 2025 WZE-TE=Zf=1-H 409 2117 2,526
CARRYING VALUES FHfE
At 31 March 2025 RZE-5%=fA=1+-H = 13 13
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-H = 81 81
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 16. M¥ERZE ()

(Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates

per annum:
Leasehold Shorter of the lease
improvements term or 10%

Vehicles, furniture 15% to 20%
and equipment

As at 31 March 2025, property and
equipment with an aggregate cost
of approximately HK$2,281,000 (2024:
HK$2,957,000) were fully depreciated but in
use.

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Due to the loss from certain reportable
operating segments, the directors
concluded there was an indication for
impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on recoverable amounts
of certain cash-generating units which
included property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (including corporate
assets allocated). The recoverable amounts
of certain cash-generating units have
been determined based on value in use
calculation.
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16.PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Impairment assessment for
property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Based on the result of the assessment, the
directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of cerfain cash-generating units
are lower than the carrying amounts. The
impairment amount has been allocated to
each catfegory of property and equipment
and right-of-use assets such that the
carrying amount of each category of
asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less cost of disposal, its
value in use and zero. Based on the value
in use calculation and the allocation,
an impairment of HK$1,689,000 (2024:
HKS$254,000) has been recognised against
the carrying amount of right-of-use assets
and no impairment loss recognised of
property and equipment for both years.

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-AF=B=+—HLFE

MERZRE(E)

MERZBEARERAEEEZR
EFE ()

BRIAGER EBHEETREELE
UzAREEREREREE - BRESH
EIBREEENERRBURERESE
E EEREECREBEFAERNBAER
REAFEERHERS HEMREE"
URZB(ZEDRRESE) - BREAREEST
BUR LMo E CHREABEEZRE
B R(ET,689,0008 T (ZE =W :
254,00078 7T) » T % M 8 F E 19 R R
ERFRBZREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRAEEE
Leased
buildings
HEZTF
HK$'000
FExT
As at 31 March 2025 R=ZEB-HAF=ZA=+—8H
Carrying values BREE 777
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZB-ZNF=ZA=+—H
Carrying values BREE 273
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_Z_HF=A=+—-HLEFE
Depreciation charge EXH 1,924
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 18 # 52 KR E 18 % 1,689
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_ZE_NMF=A=+—-HLFE
Depreciation charge EXH 342
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss 118 % 2 KR E R & 254
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Expenses relating to short-term leases EREHHEEEB B X 666 714
Total cash outflow for leases HERSARLAR 2,948 3,056
Additions to right-of-use assets nEFAREE 4,117 252
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17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various
offices and warehouse for its operations.
Lease confracts are entered into for fixed
term of one fo two years (2024: one tfo two
years). In determining the lease tferm and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Company applies the definition
of a confract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-ferm
lease for office premises and warehouse. As
at 31 March 2025, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar fo the portfolio of short-term
leases to which the short-term lease
expense as disclosed above.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

EHEEE (&)

REBEFEAR  AEERELEHEZE
MAERRE -FAYUZEHEGNEER
PE-EMF(CZE-_LOF: —EMF) -
BEEENRFEATHERERER &
NAEREHNZER  URREEHNZE
A e

REEERAMOEYWERER LEHME
E-R-ZFE-HAF=ZRA=1+—-H EHH
ERAHEEYMKEEHEERN X 2ES
HEASHEM -

HEFEFREAMEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

18. & & KR B

ASSESSMENT
Total
wnE
HKS$'000
FET
COsT 5%
At T April 2023 R-ZE-_=FDMA—H 22,026
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— R E QR (2.504)
Deregistration of a subsidiary HE—RBEMELAR (18.483)
Exchange realignment e (1.039)
At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_MNFE=ZA=+—AHAK
—E_RF=A=+—H -
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT RETREE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FIAB—H 22,026
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB QT (2,504)
Deregistration of a subsidiary AR E AT (18,483)
Exchange realignment ERRE (1.039)

At 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

REZZZEF=A=+—-HR
—EZRF=ZRA=1+—H

R A
R=B-HF=H=+—A

R-ZZBE-ZNME=A=+—~H
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to two
individual CGUs, each comprising a
subsidiary, namely Egmen Technology
Limited* (A =B FHFRIZRBRAT) (CEgmen”)
and Hyperchannel Info Tech., Ltd* (4t R EE &
Fx = ERF AR A F) ("Hyperchannel Info”),
both subsidiaries are in digital marketing
segment. An individual CGU is considered
fo be impaired when its recoverable
amount declines below its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal.

In addition to goodwill above, property
and equipment, intangible assetfs and
right-of-use assets (including allocation
of corporate assets) that generate cash
flows together with the related goodwill are
also included in the respective CGU for the
purpose of impairment assessment.

* English name is for identification purpose only

18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

e KR ER M (E)

RBEAERMS BECIEEMEES
ReE4AEN  SEH—RBNBAREK
MERZHFFAMZBER2A(TZHFMD K
TREEHEEENRERAA (EES
B ZWMEWBRARAYBRIBLTSEE
Eo®H-EREELECRATRE S
BRIEENAEREAESRERRE T
BEcEAEREERQFEERLER
RUABRSERE) -

BREABEN EEREREBZIMWERR
B BREEREAREE (BELXEE
2h) EREEFETRBRENEFARTR
ZEEELEMN -

* X BTEHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

18.

19.

GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

Egmen

The goodwill had been fully impaired as at
31 March 2021.

The goodwill had been fully derecognised
upon deregistered during the year ended
31 March 2024. Further details are set out in
Note 36b.

Hyperchannel Info

The goodwill had been fully impaired as at
31 March 2022.

The goodwill had been fully derecognised
upon disposal during the year ended 31
March 2024. Further details are set out in
Note 36a.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE

(a) Interest in an associate

18. B & KB ENME (5)

2 % 9

R-ZZEZ—-F=A=Z+—H BELEZH
/UHE°

BE_FT_NFE=-"A=1tT—-HLFE &
BEOREHEEEBRLER - E-FFHE
R HMEE36b ©

R-CEBE-_—F=A=+—0B BECEH
WA

BEZE-Z_NFE=A=+—HLEE &
BONHENTBHKRIIBR - E—DHE
R HEE36a °

19.R—REBE AT 2 ER R
—EBE QAT ZFHIE

(o) R—RIBE & A > %

2025 2024
—E-HF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FHET

Cost of investment in an unlisted R—REFLTmEE QAT
associate RERA 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses FEAL UK B & B 18 (1.378) (1.097)

Impairment loss recognised on REE AT RS PRER

interest in an associate HEEE =" (as7)
98 222

It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

EEHEPRN1,000/8 T °
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19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE (Confinued)

(a) Interest in an associate

(Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s associate as
at 31 March 2025 are as follows:

19. R —

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-HAF=A=1T—HLEE

[ B ’AnZ*Eﬁ/EELBZ
—EBE QT ZRIR(E)

() R — B A B M3 ()

R-ZZB-ZREF=ZA=+T—-—BFXKEB
ERAZFMERNT :

Proportion of nominal

Form of Place of value of used share
business incorporation/ Class of capital held by the
Name of associate  structure operation shares held Group Principal activity
gMEL/ HAZERECE R
BENTER EBRBES EENE s IR 43 8 5l REEEEIL FEXH
2025 2024
“2-RE CEIME
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18% Production of digital
& Entertainment confent and
Limited ("CMEL") enfertainment
(Note) services
YBEFRER AR BiE LER HENARER
BER2AR (TCMEL]) RERH
(M)

Note: The Group has the power to appoint
two out of the four (2024: two out of the
four) directors of CMEL. In the opinion of
the directors, the Group has significant
influence over CMEL and it is therefore
classified as an associate of the Group.

The directors consider the associate is
immaterial and no financial information
is set out accordingly.

Mz AEEEREACMELNZEEEEPIWE
(ZE-NF - NEEPWMSE) ~ EBSHR
B REBENCMELEBEXREE D B
BRI EAREEBE QT -

EZRD ZBERAWTRE ¥
WA BRI E AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_RF=A=1+—HLEE

19.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN
ASSOCIATE (Confinued)

(b) Amounts due from an
associate

CMEL

The amount is unsecured, interest-free
and has no fixed repayment terms.

19.R—BMBERN Rz #E BY
— BB E QR RE(E)
(b) FE g — RO 2 3 2 F0R
Maximum
amount
outstanding
31 March during 31 March
2025 the year 2024
e 3 FRES —E-mE
=A=+-—H REEBEEH =A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FERT FET
750 750 -

ZEHEMERA REHRERBTER
H e
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20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

20. B EE

Customer
contracts
and related Intellectual
Club customer property  Proprietary
memberships  relationship Software tights  fechnology Total
L SGLL
gfer HBEFBE gt ViET BRI ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin TiEn TiEn TEn TEn TiEn
(Nofe ) (Nofe ii) (Nofe i (Note il (Note iv)
(B i) (i) (B i (W i) (FizEiv)
CosT S
At 1 April 2023 R-EZZERA-A 1,385 4,994 5,465 4,880 - 16,724
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHELR - (2,132) - - - (2,132)
Deregistration of a subsidiary HH-AKELA . (2,655) (2,086) - - (4741)
Exchange realignment Expz - (207) (339) - - (542)
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=]
=t-H 1,385 - 3,044 4,880 - 9,309
Addition hE - - - - 28,341 28,341
Exchange realignment EXHE - - 97) - (257) (354)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=ZR
=+-H 1,385 - 2,947 4,880 28,084 37,296
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION ~ Zir#&RHE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=EMA-H - 4,994 5,465 252 - 10,711
Charge for the year ik - - - 488 - 488
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary R4 &E-EHEATE
i - (2,132) - - - (2,132)
Eliminated on deregistration of a RiH-EREAAE
subsidiary ik - (2,655) (2,086) - - (4741)
Exchange realignment ExpZ - (207) (339) - - (542)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=]
=t+-A - - 3,044 740 - 3,784
Charge for the year ERik - - - 488 2,834 3,329
Impairment loss recognised EREANAESSE
for the year (Note il (GBI - - - 552 - 552
Exchange realignment Exp% - - 97 - (26) (123)
At 31 March 2025 RZEZRE=]
=t-H - - 2,947 1,780 2,808 7,535
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2025 RZEZREZ]
=t-H 1,385 - - 3,100 25,276 29,761
At 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=R
Sr=l 1,385 - - 4,140 - 5,525
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BHE_ZC

EFE=ZRA=+—-HLEE

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Confinued)

Note i

Note ii:

Note iii:

Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the
club memberships are considered by the
directors as having an indefinite useful life,
the memberships are not amortised until
their useful lives are determined to be finite.
After considering the prices quoted in the
second-hand market, no impairment of the
club memberships is made during both
years.

The carrying amount of customer contracts
and related customer relationship and
soffware is amortised on a straight-line
method over its remaining useful life, i.e. 5
years.

Intellectual property rights represent the
acquired intellectual properties in the form
of publishing and distribution rights of
various fiction writers under the ownership
of the Group. The rights are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives based on underlying intangible assets
expected to contribute to the future cash
flows, i.e. 10 years.

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the directors of the Company conducted
impairment review on the Infellectual
property rights in view of the continuous
challenging market conditions and failure to
meet the budgeted financial performance
derived from the products under these
Intellectual Property rights with reference
to the valuation reports prepared by an
independent valuer.

The recoverable amount of the Infellectual
property rights has been determined based
on a value in use calculation, which is
based on the cash flow forecast derived
from the financial budgets approved by
management covering the remaining
useful life of the Intellectual property rights.
Such income approach is an appropriate
valuation method that can reflect the value
of cash flow generated by continuous
operation of the assets, which is consistent
with the requirements under HKAS 36
in determining the value in use of cash
generating units.

20. B EE (&)

Fd &

Ft & -
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SFEREREREMZKELRAENE
EZ-HREEENESEAARERT
ERFH HEREEEACRAFREAS
RAT A REBH - KEB-_FHSHR2
BRE URAREMEFEHSHIEE
ETRE -

EFANENBEFEARRMEZERE
EHRESEAERERT A FH (B55F)

AREERERBEASBEERSEARE D
FERE H R R BRI KB A
WERE ZERADREFHITR/RRE
ERETREMNWEBEEREER G
AERER (BN0F) RiREAREHE -

BE-Z-_AF=A=t-HLFE £
REBERLNTSRARREENZEA
BERATERNBEEMBERE  FA2F
ESC2ZHUAEMBEHNMLERS
HAMBERETRESS -

HEERNTRESHECSREEAEES
HERE ZTEEREEEMENREN
BEENGEAFHNDBERESHN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Confinued)

Note iii:

Note iv:

(Continued)

The key assumptions for the value in use
calculations are discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin. The discount
rates used in the impairment assessment of
Intellectual property rights as at 31 March
2025 were between 16.54% to 20.54%. The
discount rate reflects the specific risks
related to the business and industry in which
the cash generating unit operates. The
growth rate and budgeted gross margin is
determined based on the past performance
on similar Intellectual property rights and
management’s expectations for market
development. The directors of the Company
are not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate
adjustments to its key estimates.

Based on the results of the assessment,
the recoverable amount is lower than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$552,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as
other impairment losses expenses during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

The carrying amount of Proprietary
technology is amortised on a straight-line
method over its expected useful life, i.e., 5
years.

The Group carried out reviews of the
recoverable amount of its Proprietary
technology as at 31 March 2025, having
regard to the market conditions of the
Group’s products. These assets were used
in the Group’s natural language processing
business. The management is of the view
that the carrying amount of intangible
assets as at 31 March 2025 could be
supported by the future economic benefits.
Thus, no impairment loss was recognised.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

 E-E_AF=RA=+—HLFE

20. B EE (&)

Ff & i

Mt v

()

EREEFENEREBRRABNER
EURBEENER- F_q_ﬁi H
=t—RB  ARFENEREREBENI
BENF16.54%F20.54%2 B o 1R =
RRERSTELENVMEXEBEREXN
ENEERR BREREEENERDIR
BEOAABEENBEIXRRAREEREY
TERRNEPMERE - XAQXBESEA
YRABEMEMAIEFTERBRAEIE
HETEEE -

RBFMHER > TRESBENREE
HMREBE-_Z-_AF=ZA=+—-BLF
E ERGAEZRHEGZEKRBERPE
R 1B 18 £9552,0005% 7t & E AR B
EEMAX -

ERRITHRE BN E TR LA FH (B
5%F) RIRE KR EEE -

EZERENAEEERNTEER  AEEH
HEFFMR -_ZE-_HEF=A=+—H
AT E £ 3EETTHR - ZEEERAR
AEBNERBEETREER -EEER
A BREENR-Z-RF=HA=+—H
HEEEETERARLSENZZE - Bt
W EEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

21.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR

21. RAFVEEFABRZERZEH

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR EE
LOSS
2025 2024
—E-RHE C—ZT@OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Listed equity shares, at fair value: EHRARSG  BATFEE:
Hong Kong BB 883 1,940
Overseas g AN o _x
883 1,940
Analysed as: pal il =
- Non-current - ERE 187 226
— Current - "B 696 1,714
883 1,940

* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held a
portfolio of listed investments approximately
of HK$696,000 (2024: HK$1,714,000) for
tfrading and are classified as current. In
addition, the investments in the listed equity
shares of approximately HK$187,000 (2024:
HK$226,000) are held for long-term strategic
purposes and are classified as non-current.

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.
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* EEHEPRN1.0008 7T -

R-ZB-_RAF=ZA=+—0 AEEEHE
EFHIREAEH696,000/8 T (ZE =M :
1,7140008 ) FEE Y2 EAHRH -
o A ETHRAR G 2R E£187,000%
T (ZEZ M @ 226,000 7T) HIERH
REABRRDERERE -

RBEHR EHRARD 2D FEETD
REFBRESFXZMANEZHEMHRE
ABEE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22,

23.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR 22 B AFEESFAHMZEKE
VALUE THROUGH OTHER ZEMEE
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Unlisted investments FEHmRE 414 413

The unlisted investments are not held for
tfrading, instead, they are held for long-term
strategic purposes. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate
the unlisted investments as at FVTOCI as
they believe that recognising short-term

FLETREXFBFEXZAE - Bk H
FFEREXBEREZE AR ESFCEER
FETREEESBRATEEFAHMLR
HWE ARARERABRBEZTHEARE
AFEENEHRDEFAEEEEREN
EIRPENTERARMRBAEINE

fluctuations in the investment’'s fair value BENE A — 3 o
in profit or loss would not be consistent
with the Group’s sfrategy of holding the
investments for long-term purposes and
realising their performance potential in the
long run.
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2025 2024
—E-HFE ZEQF
HK$°000 HKS'000
TERT FET
Premium wines (Note) BB HEE (M) 30,045 31,289
Others Hity 652 719
30,697 32,008

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
marketed the premium wine in more distribution
channels including online platform and wine
dealers.

ME BE-F-_RF=RA=1T-HLFE T5H
EEZHHREEHEELR BELKLYE
KB RAREHE o

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

23.INVENTORIES (Continued)

24.

No allowance of inventories was made

during both years.

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were with
NRV higher than the carrying amount.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. 78 (%)

RMmEFERRE  WEFERFERE -

REBERSHR ARERMBEZEEE

ATRRFEENREE -

24. B E 5 IR

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-E

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FTEx

Trade receivables FEUR B 5 BRX 3,889 4,408
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEBERE (223) (943)
3,666 3,465

The following is the aged analysis of frade
receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of

UTARRERPEI 2HNBREEBER

Bz RWE S IR Z IR D AT o

billing.
2025 2024
—E-HE —E_ME
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
0 - 60 days 0-60H 1,706 1,439
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 701 442
91 - 180 days 91 - 180H 1,108 1,264
Over 180 days HBiB180H 151 320
3,666 3,465

Culturecom Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024-2025




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

25.

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, included in
the Group’'s frade receivables are
approximately HKSNil (2024:HK$38,000) due
from CMEL, an associate of the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate gross amount
of approximately HK$386,000 (2024:
HK$1,837,000) which are past due and also
past due over 90 days as at the reporting
date, of which approximately HK$222,000
(2024: HK$942,000) are considered
credit impaired. Included in the past due
balances for 90 days or more, allowance for
credit losses of approximately HK$222,000
(2024: HK$942,000) has been provided as of
31 March 2025.

Details of impairment assessment are sef
out in Note 38b.

CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

24 EWWE B R (58)

R=B-HF=A=+—0 AREHE
WEZERBERERANEE —HKEE DT
CMELWE ST (B =04 : 38,0005 37T) ©

E{‘:;_E$ B=+—8 > A&EEEWK
g A B IR B EE386,000/8 T (=
g:lﬁ 1,837,000 t) 2 EWE 5 iR
FoERFKEAHCEE A BB
» T H R 4222,0008 T (ZE = P9 £
942,000;‘%7‘5) WRABEERME - BHE0A
U LR 4222,00008 T (ZE =
F:942,0008 ) 2EEFER -4
F=ZA=+—HE/EEE-

HE R B E RN M EE38b ©

25. 6N EBE SHER

a. Contract assets a. BNEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EZE
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET FET
Contract assets related to social Bt XIS HEEHEBEN
media marketing EHEE - 118

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

25. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

25. 8 WEE/AaNEaE(E)

a. Contract assets (Continued) a. BREE(E)
The contract assets primarily relate EHNEEFERASEEEHEBEANT
to the Group’s right to consideration B MEARNEN TIEREBERERNGEE -
for work completed and not billed EZEREANRAEGEHERE (MIEER
under the relevant contracts. The BHR) EHNEENEBZRERE
contract assets are transferred to SR o
tfrade receivables when the such rights
become unconditional other than
passage of fime.
The Group classifies these contract TEBEZECNEEIEARDE
assets as current because the Group to E EXAEEFEF TR —FRUKE -
be recovered within one year.
Details of impairment assessment are RWEFEFIEEHNM 380 ©
set out in Note 38b.
b. Contract liabilities b. 2#%&8E&
2025 2024
—E-HHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Contract liabilities related to HEARZESEIEBHEEN
natural language processing aHEE 893 -

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Confract liabilities relating to services
are balances due to customers under
the services contracts for which
advanced consideration was received
from customer.

The Group receives a certain portion
of the contract value as deposits from
customers when they sign the sale
and purchase agreement, which will
give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract. The deposits result
in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the agreement period until
the performance obligation has been
satisfied.

HERBEBzENEE  NERER
BENENTEF IR MZ
EFHECALHIMEFRE-

EXFETEEHRR AEESW
MBI ENERERES KBRS
WABRKELESNEE ZERER
RE[HZNESERRAENEE
EENMBEBENEERETRL -



26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

26. Hitb B FIE - MERFANRK

AND PREPAYMENTS b |
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-ME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Other receivables H i FE UK 718 170 200
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEBERE (120) (120)
50 80
Deposits and prepayments (Note)  #R&RFEMNKRIE (M) 6,670 35,737
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (2) (4)
6,668 35,733
Total other receivables, deposits HMERRIE  ZERBEAR
and prepayments 15 44 58 6,718 35,813
Less: amounts that will be settled W BR-—FREERBAZ
or utilised within one year Fhig (6.233) (85,325)
Amounts that will be utilised for BR—FERBAZRE
more than one year 485 488

Note: As at 31 March 2025, the amount mainly
comprised of deposits paid for intangible

B ARE

ME R-Z2-_RF=A=+-R ZEEIEL
REEBKMBUIEF=ZFIAHE

assets of approximately HK$4,859,000 (2024:
HK$33,269,000) to independent third parties under
natural language processing business.

As at 31 March 2025, included in deposits and
prepayments are HKSNil (2024: HK$220,000) paid
to CMEL, an associate of the Group.

Details of impairment assessment are sef
out in Note 38b.

FEE®RE4,859,0008 T (ZE M E :
33,269,000 7T) °

RZB-ZREFE=ZA=+—-H EeRHENMKE
FEREET(ZE M4 : 220,000 5T) X1
F AR B — R A TICMEL °

BB R d 2z AR E R M E38b ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

27.LOAN RECEIVABLES 27. EWWER
2025 2024
—E-RE —EME
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Loan receivables from independent BIYFE=F2EKRER
third parties 6,736 8,068
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEBERE (1.707) (112)
5,029 7,956
Analysed as: pal il I
- Non-current - ERE
- Current - RE 4,344 -
685 7,956
5,029 7,956
The contractual maturity dates of REBEKWERNENEER
the Group's loan receivables WwT
are as follows:
Within one year —FRr 685 7,956
In more than one year but not ZR—FEETLZHME
more than two years 4,344 -
5,029 7,956
During the year ended 31 March 2024, BE-ZE-_NF=ZA=Z+t—-—HLFE XK
the Group has entered into certain loan SEEBYE=LIYETERBE -

agreements with independent third parties.
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27.LOAN RECEIVABLES (Confinued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group had agreed to extend the loan
maturity date with all borrowers and certain
corresponding borrowings had been
reclassified and presented as non-current.
As at 31 March 2025, carrying amount
of loan receivables of approximately
HK$5,029,000 (net of allowance of
approximately HK$1,707,000) (2024:
HK$Nil, net of allowance of HKSNil) were
considered past due despite the extension
of repayment due date.

The loan receivables were unsecured,
interest-free and receivable on respective
maturity date. Fair value of the loan
receivables on inifial recognition is
deftermined based on effective interest rate
ranging from 3.15% to 3.71% (2024: 3.50% to
3.71%) per annum. The difference between
the principal amount of the loan and its
fair value determined on initial recognition
amounting to approximately HK$518,000
(2024: HK$384,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

All of the Group’s loan receivables are
denominated in RMB.

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

EWwE R (&)

BE-Z-_RAF=ZA=+—HBLEE K
SECRERHEMBEEARALERERIH
B m&THEBRCEF 2 ELIIEF
RBERE R-_ZFE-HF=ZA=+—8"
BREENIBEOCELER  REEAARK
5,029,000% T (F R HE £1,707,000%
TNZZEZNF 28 x - {IRBESET)
ZERERNERAHED -

ERERAEKF RERENRSIHA
EE-BRERRIKREIRNATEE
RIE315%EI71% (ZZE MW F : 3.50%
BITIR) 2EANEEERFNERE - B
RASHEHEEREIASEETE2ATEE
Bz Z5# 45180008 T (ZEHF :
384,000/ 7t) °

LB BT 1 R 1B BRI FE38b ©

REBFRERRERIGUAREIIE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

28.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

28. RERREEEY

2025 2024

—E_RE —E-UE

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Cash on hand BE 219 228
Cash at bank RITER 15,044 38,000
Short-term deposits HHITF R 3,166 -
Cash and cash equivalents BekBEEEEY 18,429 38,228

Cash at bank and financial institutions
carrying interest at market rate ranges from
0% to 0.350% (2024: from 0.001% to 0.875%)
per annum.

The short-term bank deposits are made
for periods within three months (2024:
Nil) depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn
inferests range from 3.10% to 3.40% (2024:
Nil) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment are set
out in Note 38b.

RITRETHMEBENREEFEDTSFEAR
N F0%E0.350% (Z B =F : N F
0.001%%E0.875%) 5T & °

ZERBBRITERZEFHA=ZBAR(ZZE
—WE ) DREAEENEESER
mAEH » ER RN FII10%E3.40% (==
—mEE) o

BB 2 A R E A M E38b ©
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29.TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER

PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of frade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.

29.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

BNEZRR  HMGEMNKE
kEEH

UTARBENEARZBEZEAH2I 2B
NHE SRR ZRE DT -

2025 2024

—E-HHF —EINF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

0 - 60 days 0 - 60H 649 717
61 - 90 days 61 - 90H 231 216
Over 90 days HBiB90H 19 13
899 946

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 15 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables
are seftled within the credit timeframe.

As at 31 March 2025, other payables
and accrued charges included deposit
received approximately HK$485,000
(2024: HK$285,000), accrued operating
expenses approximately HK$5,064,000
(2024: HKS$5,158,000), accrued salaries
approximately HK$1,494,000 (2024:
HK$916,000) and accrued staff termination
cost HKS1,560,000 (2024: HK$1,560,000).

BEEmzFPYEERN FISE0AR - &
EECHENBRABRERRK  UERHA
BRARERGERBERATUSEE -

R-ZB-REF=ZHA=+—H HMEAR
BREGERAEES WIRSE 485,000%8
T (ZZEZ Q4 : 285,0008 t) « BT &
& B X 45,064,000 T (Z 2 W& :
5,158,000/ jt) - FEET H € #1,494,0007%
T (ZZEZMF : 916,000 T) R E R
B8 T 451,560,000 5t (ZE =MW :
1,560,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

30.LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER 0. RE—EBERRERRESZEX
AND DIRECTORS

2025 2024
—E_RF —E-UE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FET
Loan from a shareholder RE—ERRZEXR = 4,364
Loans from directors REEEZER 3,000 3,436
3,000 7,800
During the year ended 31 March BE-Z-_NE=A=+—HLEEE K
2024, the Company entered into loan RAHE-ZRRITLERBH Bt —
agreements with a shareholder pursuant ZRE@A R TIRM 4,364,000/ T 1Y
to which, a shareholder granted a loan B ZERABEAR KREREAREXR
of approximately HK$4,364,000 to the BE ZEEFRCOCHRBE_ZE_-_8HF=AHA
Company which is unsecured, interest-free ET-HLEFEREBHEE -
and repayable on demand. The loans were
fully repaid during the year ended 31 March
2025.
During the year ended 31 March 2024, BE-_Z-_WE=A=+—HLEFEE &
the Group entered into loan agreements EEEESITVERGZ B - EEMD
with directors pursuant to which, directors AEERMH3,436,0008 THER » ZERM
granted loans of HK$3,436,000 fto the REER REREAREREBE-BTE
Group which is unsecured, interest-free M436,0008B TENBE-_ZE_HF=A
and repayable on demand. Certain loan =t+t—HLEFEEREE-

amount of HK$436,000 was repaid during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

31.LEASE LIABILITIES 31.fAE8EF
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_ME
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FTExT
Lease liabilities payable: HESBER T HREEN :
Within one year —FR 2,131 526
Within a period of more than one REN—FEFRZ
year but not more than two years 7 7 B 363 -
2,494 526
Less: Amount due for settlement W RRBAEEPET
with 12 months shown under RI2E A REIHRENS 2
current liabilities EX] (2.131) (526)
Amount due for seftflement after 12 RIEFREBEBHERRI2ME B
months shown under non-current BIPE STz E
liabilities 363 -
The weighted average incremental AREEEBMEFHEBREREN RS
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities FENF5.00%£576% B (ZF=MF :
range from 5.00% to 5.76% (2024: 5.00%) per 5.00%) °
annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

32.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
(LIABILITIES)

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assefs and
liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. EXEKRAEEE (RE)

AREAMBRRERFP L2 B TIELER
HEERBECHEFE - UTRMBRS
PR IEIE B T ER R 0 AT

2025 2024

—E_RE —EUE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET FET

Deferred tax assets B IBEE 584 85
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (128) (45)
456 40

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred tax
assets (liabilities) of the Group during both
years are as follows:

MEFEBUIA T3 LU RS E AR IS B AR A
46 2 15 20 A M 2 B 08 B R B o
AEEZEEREEE (B RBEFE
RZEBMT :

Right- Allowance for
of-use Lease expected
assets liabilities credit loss Tax losses Total
RAGERE
EREEE BEAR ik hEE#R AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TER ThR THR TER
AFT April 2023 WZE-=£MmA-H - - 3 - 3
(Charge) credit to profit or loss BB (1) &t A
for the year (45) 85 (31) - 9
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+-A (45) 85 - - 40
(Charge) credit to profit or loss & B (1) 3t A
for the year (83) 326 - 173 416
At 31 March 2025 R-B-EF=A=1-H (128) 411 - 173 456
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * E£ 5 N1,00058 T ©
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32.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(LIABILITIES) (Confinued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HK$583,884,000 (2024: HKS$568,170,000)
available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$1,048,000
(2024: HKS$Nil) of such losses. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining unused tax losses of
approximately HK$582,836,000 (2024:
HK$568,170,000) due fto unpredictability
of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax loses are losses of
approximately HK$63,889,000 (2024:
HK$63,856,000) that can be carried forward
for five years from the year in which the
respective loss arose. Other unrecognised
tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had
deductible temporary differences of
approximately HK$3,519,000 (2024:
HK$492,000) mainly arising from impairment
losses on property and equipment,
right-of-use assets, frade receivables, loan
receivables and other receivables. Deferred
tax assets has been recognised in respect
of impairment loss on trade receivables
and right-of-use assets approximately
HKS$1,690,000 (2024: HKS$255,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised
for deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$1,829,000 (2024:
HK$237,000) as it is not probable that
taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences
can be utilised.

32.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fReMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

EERAEE (BEFE) (&)

MR-ZBE-RAFE=ZA=+—B K&EBATA
ARIEEARGEINNETRBARES
184 £583,884,000/8 T (Z =2 = g F :
568,170,000 ) - Mz EEHE A2
T EMRA1,048,0008B T (ZFE MW F :
ZERERN)ZELEBBEE BEERKREH
i 18 B 18 49582,836,0008 T (=& =M
fF : 568,170,000 5t) M & » R K&
MNAEEETIBRENE  RLKRERBBIE
ERMEEE EABRZBHEBEH 8
63,889,000 jt (=& =4 : 63,856,000
Br) TEEAHBEECFERLER
FoHMABRABESEBUERBLEE -

R-ZB-_RF=ZA=+—80 X&EBET
OB B B = 88 493,519,00008 T (=2 =
F:492,0008 ) r TEREWERKRE
FAREE ERESZEREZR EREXK
HERREMELEZREBE CSHE
W E 5 R TR {E 518 491,690,000 7t (=
T 4F : 255,000/8 ) BRIELEFEE
E-HRAAUHEEEERB SRHZE
AR ERFERER RABBEZZETN
WA E5E2491,829,0008 T (Z 204 :
237,000 ) BRIELEREEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

33.SHARE CAPITAL 33. kA&

Number of Share
shares capital
igrig - Q=] IR 2
‘000 HKS$'000

TR FET

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREECOIEBT 2 EER

Authorised: SEE

At 1 April 2023, at 31 March 2024 R-ZBEZ=FTE—H -
and 31 March 2025 R-EBE-_MNE=HA=+—H
E—_E-_FEF=H=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000

Number of Share
shares capital
RHEBE ;&N
‘000 HK$'000
TR FET
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
At 1 April 2023, at 31 March 2024 RZE-_=%1MAB—A8 -
and 31 March 2025 R-IEBE-_NE=A=+—H
ER=ZZB-HEFE=H=+—H 1,668,657 16,687
34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 34. B ESTE

Pursuant to an ordinary resolufion passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

2013 Scheme

Major terms for the 2013 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

®

(il

(iii)

The purpose is to provide incentives to:

award the participants who have
made conftributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
("Invested Entity”); and

recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.

The participants include any employee,
director, supplier, agent, consultant,
adviser strategist, contfractor,
subcontfractor, expert or customer of
the Group and/or Invested Entity.

The maximum number of shares of the
Company in respect of which share
options might be granted under the
2013 Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of approval
of the 2013 Scheme, however this limit
might be refreshed by shareholders
in a general meeting. However, total
maximum number of shares of the
Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2013 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to fime.

34.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZT-RAF=A=1T—HLEE

BRESE (B

£l

ZEBRFBAMANT

Tl

LI

|

mo |

4 1l

oy
EI‘I_’

Bk

f=—3

() BHWSHEATHALHTED:

REAFREER /IAEEFE
HEMRAEm 2 L8 (HRE
RADEHERZS2EE R

i BrREREERHAEH
AT o

BE5
==
=

)ﬂﬂlﬂ ?ﬁFﬂ

(il BREQELAEER SR EDF
ZEMEE £S5 -HEH - RKE-
BHEARBEREHE - S
HE HERHEF °

(i) RIE=T—=FHBITEEE > BB

BRURB2ARARDEE  BEFLR
SEBALAIANR-ZE-—=ZFtEHE
B ZE#HITRAIO%R - R ZR

BAUHRRARRAS LEH - R\
—E-=FAREMEMBRER

SFREEERTEZABERITRE
REEATERAA ﬁ/_zm’“ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
,u%( BEZIABHEBAQNRTKE &

TIRM 230% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

2013 Scheme (Confinued)

(iv)

%)

vi)

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outfstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the 2013
Scheme or any other share option
scheme within any 12 months period,
must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue from tfime to
fime.

There was no requirement for a grantee
fo hold the share opfion for a certain
period before exercising the share
option save as determined by the
board of directors and provided in the
offer of grant of share option.

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option, if

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

accepted, must be made within 28
days from the date of grant with a
non-refundable payment of HKS1 from
the grantee to the Company.

34.BRESE (B

—E-=FFa0E)

(iv)y TEAZ2EERHZBREARBE 22X
NAEARGHE BREM+ @R HE
RRBE-Z-—=FFF S RNEMHAMEE
REFEOZESRERH ZEME
RERBEBEETERRTEBERER
CHEZBRE) MEHTRATFH
TZROBE RZTBEEBARQF
TREBITREZ1% -

(V) RESTEERRRUBREZSRR
BRES  RRANBARITEBRER
EEEHEANSEERE -

(Vi) TEHERAESTENRUBRERE
EZEMHE  EREABERT A5
BEZER L A RET T F o

(vii) FAHE A BRAE B 328 B A
WA (MER)  XREHESAT
EHBBIBTRE  BEERERT



34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)
2013 Scheme (Confinued)

(vii)The exercise price of a share option
must be the highest of:

the closing price of a share of the
Company on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

the average closing price of a
share of the Company for the
5 business days immediately
preceding the datfe of grant; and

the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

(ix) All the share options are vested on the
grant date.

The Board announced that on 27 April 2022,
the Company has granted to Mr. Wong,
Non-executive Director and Chairman, and
a consultant of the Group (collectively, the
"Grantees”), an aggregate of 14,000,000
share options to subscribe for up to a
total of 14,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company ("Shares”) under the 2013
scheme, representing approximately 0.84%
of the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of grant upon exercise of the share
options.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZT-RAF=A=1T—HLEE

4. BRAERE (B

—=Fat8 (&)

(Vi BREZITEELAR/UT ZEHR&H
CE-

REEBHB(ARERER) 2FX R
ARBWHE

EEREBAHASELEXRA X
DNERHFHPEHE S R

AT -BRBHEE -
() FrEmBEREN B0 8E

BEFEGEM RZTE-_ZFWAZ=-+tAH >
¢ﬁﬁam#ﬁ”§$%$ﬁ£%$&¢

—VEB (GBIEABANDRHEEH
Momowﬁﬁﬁﬁ URE-ZF—=
SHER B R 24 14,000,000 4 A 7 &
B (TR HERBREETHERER
RE RSB BITRDAEN0.84% -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 34. B RRESTEI (&
(Continued)
2013 Scheme (Continued) —E-ZFE(E)
The 2013 Scheme expired on 11 August —E-ZFFHEER=ZE==FNAT+—
2023. Upon its expiry, no further share option HEam R-ZBE—=FxZ2REmRE =0
can be granted under the 2013 Scheme, BROEBRE - HERERAAREZFRE
but the provision of the 2013 Scheme RITHEERESEBEERR T LITHE -
remains in full force and effect in respect M-E—=EHE (Y EREEMIE
of the outstanding share option granted MEZEE -

before its expiry.

Details of specific categories of options BRE-_Z—=ZFE8RE2ETHIEBR
granted under the 2013 Scheme are as BEEBUT
follows:

Fair value at Fair value at
grant date for  grant date for

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price consultant director
REHAHRT RELEHERT
BEBH FEH THE 54 TE BENATEE ESHAVEE
27 April 2022 (Note) 27 April 2022 to HK$0.72 HK$0.26 HK$0.27
26 April 2025
—E-CF (HEE) —EC-CF 0.72%& 0261t 0.27%&T
mA=t++H I BZt+tHE
—ECEE
MA=+7xA
Note: These share options were vested at the date of M ZEBRECABREBEHREE -
grant.
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34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)
2013 Scheme (Confinued)

The following table discloses movements of
the Company’s share options held by the
Grantees during the year:

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

BRESTE(E)

—E-ZFE(E)

TREBAFERRAMSARDTERE
228

Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted Exercised Lapsed at
1 April during during during 31 March
2024 the year the year the year 2025
RZF-RE R-B-IF
mA-H ZR=t-H
Option type BRERY HARTE EREH ERTE EREX W RATHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERL TER TER
Director gz
2013 Scheme —E-ZFHE 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000
Consultant B
2013 Scheme “E-ZEE 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ RERAF17fE 14,000,000
Weighted average exercise price  {TRENETIE HK$0.72 Bt N/ATER  NATER  NATER HKS0.72E7

The closing price of the Company’s share
immediately before the dates on which the
options were exercised is HK$0.72 per share.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2013 Scheme,
14,000,000 share options lapsed on 26 April
2025. Accordingly, the Company no longer
has outstanding share options under the
2013 Scheme as at the date of this report.

ARBEBRORBEEBRERTEANA 2
WHERO.72E T -

RE-_ZF—=F52WHKK > 14,000,000
HEREECR-E-_AFNA=-+BX
HeoHIE  RABEBRH  AQARRE=
ZE-=FHEATBHEEHRITENBRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 34. B RRESTEI (&
(Continued)
2023 Scheme —E =58

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
by the shareholders on 29 August 2023,
the Company adopted another new share
option scheme (the "2023 Scheme”). The
life of the 2023 Scheme is effective for 10
years from the date of adoption until 3
September 2033.

Major terms for the 2023 Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(i) The purpose is to provide incentives to
attract and retain the best available
and high-calibre personnel of the
Group, to provide additional incentives
to the Eligible Participants (as defined
below) and to promote the overall
success of the business of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZT-RAF=A=1T—HLEE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 4. B ESTE (E)
(Continued)

2023 Scheme (Continued) —E=F5F8(E)

(i) The participants (the “Eligible

Participants”) of the 2023 Share Option
Scheme include (i) director(s) and
employee(s) (whether full time or part
fime employees) of any member of
the Group (including persons who are
granted options under this Scheme as
inducement to enter info employment
contracts with any member of the
Group (“Employee Participant(s)”); (ii)
director(s) and employee(s) (whether
full fime or part time employee)
of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries or associated companies
of the Company ("Related Enfity
Participant(s)”); and (iii) person(s) who
provide services fo any member of the
Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests
of the long term growth of the Group,
which include any contractor, supplier,
agent, consultant, adviser and/
or business partner to any area of
business or business development of
the Group, but excluding any placing
agents or financial advisers providing
advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions, and other
professional services provider such
as auditors or valuers who provide
assurance, or are required to perform
their services with impartiality and
objectivity ("Service Provider(s)”).

(i —ZEZ=FEREFEZ22HE (TS
ERZHEE)ERE  ()VAEEEMAK
EQNFAzESEREE (BEREBIR
BES) (BRERELRGTEERBRE
UFEFEHEAEBEMRHE QTR
EBREENzZAL ((BEZEE])) ; (i)
AARZERAE - BRAMBRARAR
BENTA2EEREE (BER2BH
FREES) ((HHEER2EE ) ; K(i)
MAEEEAKEAREZHEBERE
EEBBEPHEILERERE 2
AL ZERBHELAEERHER
2@ BRENEAHNE HED -
RE - B BHAARREKEH
BRrEEREE AOHKRBRMZE
HARE s RENRERMKER UK
RUHRERBIAFTULERETHEE
BITEHRB 2 HEMEXRKREED
BZEEN L ER ([RBRMAE D -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

(i) The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which

share options might be granted under
the 2023 Scheme must not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of
approval of the 2023 Scheme (the
"Scheme Mandate Limit"). However,
total maximum number of shares of
the Company which might be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding
share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2023 Scheme and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2023 Scheme.

(iv) The total maximum number of shares of

the Company in respect of which share
options might be granted to Service
Providers under the 2023 Scheme
shall not exceed 50,059,704 shares,
representing approximately 3% of the
issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of adoption (the "Service
Provider Sublimit”). The Company may
seek approval of the shareholders in
general meeting to refresh Scheme
Mandate Limit and/or the Service
Provider Sublimit under 2023 Scheme
after 3 years from the adoption date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

)

v

For any twelve (12)-month period up
to and including the date of grant
of options, the aggregate number
of shares issued and fto be issued in
respect of all options granted to each
Eligible Participant (excluding any
options lapsed in accordance with the
ferms of the relevant scheme) shall not
in aggregate exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the
date of grant.

The exercise period should be any
period fixed by the board of directors
upon grant of the share option but
in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of adoption.

(vii) The acceptance of a share option,

if accepted, must be made within
21 days from the offer date with a
payment of HKS$1 from the grantee to
the Company.

(viii) The subscription price for shares to be

subscribed under the 2023 Scheme
may be determined by the board of
directors at its absolute discretion,
provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of: (a) the closing price
of the shares as shown in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the
closing prices of the shares as shown in
the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five (56) consecutive
business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (¢) the nominal
value of the share on the date of grant.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZT-RAF=A=1T—HLEE

4. BRERTE (B)

“EDZFFE(E)

(v) REFA+=Z(2)EAHEEZL 8
REBREER RNEEcEK2 A
ERHUZIEBRERSR 2B #IT
R#FERITRMDBH (T@%*E%Fﬁ
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V) TEBARESENEHERESE
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(viiy BEAARE M B2 A NES
WRE (NEH)  TREREAAT
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ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

34.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

2023 Scheme (Confinued)

(ix) All the share options must be held
by the grantee for at least 12 months

before the share options can be
exercised, exercised, provided that the
board of directors may at its discretion
grant a shorter vesting period to
an Employee Participant in the
following circumstances: (a) grants of
"make-whole” Option(s) to new joiners
to replace the share options they
forfeited when leaving fthe previous
employers; (b) grants to an Employee
Participant whose employment is
terminated due tfo death or occurrence
of any out-of conftrol event; (c) grants
that are made in batches during a
year for administrative and compliance
reasons, which include options that
should have been granted earlier if not
for such administrative or compliance
reasons had to wait for the subsequent
batch. In such case, the vesting period
may be shorter to reflect the time
from which the option would have
been granted; (d) grants of options
with a mixed or accelerated vesting
schedule such as where the options
may vest evenly over a period of
twelve (12) months; or (e) grants with
performance-based vesting conditions
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria as
determined in the conditions of grant.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no share
options were granted, exercised, cancelled
and lapsed under the 2023 Scheme.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

34.BRERTE (B)

—E-= 88

(x) FERBBELEHRREASEED
toEARF U HESETE
LTERTREETFTESSRERE
B SR HE ¢ () B0 T 00X B T
AR A DUER 4 B B AT R R
B 8 R4 (b)) B 5 T S B A T 0T
FAEHEHHALERNES SR
EBLBBE; OFTRRAERE
R—FRSHELOBER  BEE
PEARRSEEEMBELEEHE
B8 1 B0 5 L 2 98 14 0 B A o
RUEBERT SESTEERE U
R B AR A B S 1 GO B R 5 (0)BL
SEE A S R R P S 1 MO M AR
FlmERETRT—(12)EA KBS
28 R(e)URB AL B E M
BB R B E BB RS
HEHEE -

FER-FE-NF=ZA=+—
= F5HEET I8 R RIR
THE - EEER AR -

~

=\



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme
for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees.

The Group’'s and the employees’
contributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to a
maximum of HK$1,500 effective from 1 June
2014 per employee per month. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are fully
and immediately vested to the employees
once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
confribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss
of approximately HK$624,000 (2024:
HKS$741,000) represents the contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year.

DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF
SUBSIDIARIES

a) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 13 April 2023, the Group entered
info a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interest in
Hyperchannel Info for a total cash
consideration of RMB50,000 (equivalent
to HK$57,075).

35.

36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

36.DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF 36.
SUBSIDIARIES (Confinued)

a) Disposal of a subsidiary
(Continued)

The Group’s share of net liabilities
of Hyperchannel Info at the date of
disposal and the effect of disposal
were as follows:

e A E (F)
a) HE— KBS ()

AEERHERPRLEEREZA
EFERMESHZLEHINT :

HKS$'000
FET
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which %k EiE4|lE EEREEDI:
control was lost:
Other receivables, prepayments and HihEWRIE « BARIER
deposits Ze 34
Other payables and accrued charges HihESRERETTER (504)
Bank balances and cash RITEERES 104
Net liabilities disposed of EHEZEEBEFE (366)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-—BHBQR 2 :
Consideration RE 57
Net liabilities disposed of EHEZEEFE 366
Derecognition of goodwill (Note) HRIERAHE () -
Non-controlling interests FEIE R =S (38)
Reclassification of cumulative translation HERERTAE X RBEN
reserve upon disposal to profit or loss PEZEER 438
Gain on disposal HE 2z WEs 823
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HERMEECRESRHEEE
Cash consideration received i ER € KB 57
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of i : BEHEZRITEFRIRS (104)
(47)

Note: The goodwill had been fully impaired in
prior years.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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36.DISPOSAL/DEREGISTRATION OF

SUBSIDIARIES (Confinued)
b) Deregistration of a subsidiary

On 20 March 2024, the Group
deregistered Egmen in which the Group
held 55% of the equity interests and
recognised a gain on deregistration of
approximately HK$10,942,000.

On 4 July 2024, the Group deregistered
EMERMEAERRXAIN which the
Group held 100% of the equity interests
and no gain or loss on deregistration
recognised.

37.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
tfo contfinue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optfimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of net debt, which mainly includes loan
from a shareholder and loans from directors
disclosed in Notfe 30, neft cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, share premium and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
a. Categories of financial

38.¢m T H
a SMITEZER

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

instruments
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-ME
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets SEMEE
Financial assets at amortised REBERASTEZSRERE
cost 28,529 50,629
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEBHESTABSR
ZERMEE 883 1,940
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAEZEBESAEMEEKE
ZEEE 414 413
Financial liabilities =
Financial liabilities at REBHENATTEZ
amortised cost SEhEE 15,280 17,592

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include frade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, loan
receivables, amounts due from an
associate, financial assets at FVTPL,
financial assets at FVTOCI, bank
balances, short-term bank deposits,
cash and cash at financial institutions,
tfrade payables, other payables
and accrued charges, loan from
a shareholder, loan from directors
and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instfruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

b. M¥EREEEERBEX

AEBZIESRTITACGREERES
R HMERRERRZE  BRE
FoERE-BBREQATARE -BRAF
BEFABERZETHEE RLF
BEFAEMAZEARSEZEREE
RTEF EHRTER BERE
MEBRE BAUEZRN HME
NHREREFER KE-BRRZ
EX REESZERKEEEE-
ZETHMTAZFBRSMERKE -
HZEZsRTIAMEECZRREREDS
Bk (E¥ERE  FZEREEME
wEk)  FERBRABESRMRE -
FRMMBELERBRZBERERT
XN - EEEERERILERER R
RE A R R EUE E i e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency bank balances,
cash and cash at financial institutions
and financial assets at FVTPL which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated
in HKS, United States dollars (*USD"),
Japanese Yen ("JPY") and other
currencies. The Group is mainly
exposed to foreign exchange rate
risk arising from fransactions that are
denominated in USD, AUD, JPY, and
other currencies HKS relative to RMB.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the directors monitor foreign
exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.
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% 3 &

AEERH T SRERBIEERTE
Rk AALEEREE -

5

Bk
AABRETHEB LR EB NERITE
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ToEx(ExD EII(FEIIJ)&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the
Group’'s HKS, USD, JPY, and other
currencies denominated monetary
assets (including trade receivables,
amounts due from an associate, other
receivables and deposits, financial
assets at FVTPL, bank balances,
short-term bank deposits, cash and
cash at financial institutions) and
monetary liabilities (including frade
payables, other payables and accrued
charges, loan from a shareholder,
loans from directors and lease
liabilities) at the reporting date are as
follows:

38. €W IR (&)

b.

MEEREEEREREXK(B)

% /m B (48)

EEmp (&)
REBRBEEHMUBIT - XU H
BERHEMERTEZEREE (B
BWE SRR B —BEE AR
HoHMEWRERERES BLOFE
Bt ABEXRZERMEE  RTEF
BHRITER IE%&%EWH%L%%)
REREBE (BEENESZERR

EMNREARETER KB — %Hx
ReER KREESZERKEESR
&) 2BREEWT :

Assets
BE

2025 2024
—E_HE —EZNEF
HK$°000 HKS$'000
THERT FET
HK$ BT 13,466 12,973
usD ET 1,206 235
JPY = 756 711
Other currencies Hih &% =" —"

¥ It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. g IELE D A1,000/8 T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

Market risk (Continued) w5 mEE (5E)
Currency risk (Continued) BrmfE (&)
Liabilities
afE
2025 2024
—®-RF —Eo@WF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FERT
HKS BT 14,753 17.213
Sensitivity analysis BERED W

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 5% increase and
decrease in the entity’'s respective
functional currency against the
relevant foreign currencies. 5%
represents the directors’ assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their tfranslation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% change
in foreign currency rates. A positive
number below indicates an increase in
loss for the year where RMB strengthen
against the relevant foreign currencies.
For a 5% weakening of RMB against
the relevant currencies, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax loss for the year, and the
positive balances below would be
negative.

TRHAJAGSERNEERS A 2 W8E
EW A ARINE A ERRES%Z B
EoSUIEESHIMEERTRESES
B2l o MBRED MBI E T
EzERFREWIRR @ MR HKEH
REINEEE R B E)SUFHE R HE -
THEEBRTAREZEBINEAE
B zFEFBREM -HARYR
ERMNERES%  BSEHFEFRE
BBEERBROLE MTHEBS
BEREH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

CERE

THEEZRA=T-HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The analysis is prepared on the same
basis for both years.

b.

38. €W IR (&)

MEEREEEREREXK(B)

% /m B (48)

EEmp (&)

BREDN (B)
ZoMZEmEFEERNEERR -

Impact on loss
for the year
HEAFEFBEZEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE_ME
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
HKS BT (54) (159)
usb EYH 50 9
JPY H 28 27
Other currencies HihE¥ 32 —*
* It represents the amount less than HK$1,000. * B EHN1,0008 T °

In the opinion of the directors, the
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect
the exposure during the year.

EERE HREINAETAREE
ZHOERE - RERFRERIL R R
BREF 9z LB o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed fo fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
bank deposits (Note 28), refundable
rental deposits (Note 26), loan
receivables (Note 27) and lease
liabilities (Note 31). The Group is also
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances
and cash at financial institutions (Note
28). The directors have considered the
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances and cash at financial
institfutions (Note 28) to be limited
because the current market interest
rate on general deposits is relatively
low and stable.
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b. MBRAKREEEERERE (B)

FAEm ()
FIEER

AEERELRITHFR (HE28) -
REEERS (M7E206) - BRERK (|3T]L
H27) REEAE (MaE31) HEE A F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.€mIT A (&)
(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. BXEREEBEEZRBE (B)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Intferest income from financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost is
as follows:

% /m B (48)
T 7z ()

TREEFNEWANZRBHERATE
W

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FE T
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEHK AT E 2
TREE 388 361

Interest expense from financial liabilities
at amortised cost is as follows:

REBERATTECSREEBEZFEH
TWT

2025 2024
—E_HE —E-ME
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised BEERATTEZ
cost =N 133 69

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk
arising from listed equity investments
measured at FVTPL and unlisted
investments measured at FVTOCI. The
directors manage this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk and return profiles
and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Ofther price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporfing date. Sensitivity analyses for
unlisted investments with fair value
measurement categorised within Level
3 were disclosed in Nofe 38c.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2024: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$S157,000 (2024:
HK$289,000). This is mainly due to the
changes in fair value of the financial
assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment
assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the
Group’'s counterparties default on
their contfractual obligations resulting
in financial losses to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and
deposits, loan receivables, contfract
assets, amounts due from an
associate, short-term bank deposits,
and bank balances and cash at
financial institution. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets.
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38. €W IR (&)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)
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ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets under
ECL model. Information about the
Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and
the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables and confract assefts
arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debfts. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group'’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as
58% (2024: 55%) of the total trade
receivables was due from one
customer from publishing and IPs
licensing segment. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated staff responsible
for determinatfion of credif limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts and
performed annual review on customers’
and borrowers’ credit quality.

38. €W IR (&)

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
arising from contracts with customers
(Continued)

In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually.
Impairment of approximately HK$1,000
(2024: HKS$1,000) and a reversal of
approximately HK$721,000 (2024:
HK$992,000) is recognised during
the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits,
the Group performs assessment under
ECL model balances individually.
The directors believe that there is
no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL.
The Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits and
recognised approximately HK$122,000
(2024: HK$124,000) and a reversal
of approximately HK$124,000 (2024:
HK$52,000) for the year ended 31
March 2025.
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38. €W IR (&)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

1= B /@ Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (48)
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ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Bank balances, short-term bank
deposits and cash at financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances, short-term
bank deposits and cash at financial
institutions is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank
balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective
credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on bank balances and cash at
financial institutions is considered to be
insignificant.

Loan receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of debtors are performed on all debtors
requiring credit. Monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue
debtors. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on balances individually.
The directors of the Company estimate
the loss rates of loan receivables based
on internal credit rating of the debtors
as well as forward-looking information.

38. €W IR (&)

b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

The Group considers a loan receivable
in default and therefore as loss in
internal credit rating (credit-impaired)
for ECL calculations in all cases when
there is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired. As part of a qualitative
creditworthiness assessment of whether
a loan borrower is in default, the Group
also considers a variety of instances
that may indicate unlikeliness to pay.
When such events occur, the Group
carefully considers whether the event
should result in treating the loan
borrower as in default and therefore
assessed as Loss for ECL calculations
or whether other internal credit rating is
appropriate.

As at 31 March 2025, impairment
of approximately HK$1,723,000
(2024: HK$111,000) and a reversal
of approximately HK$112,000 (2024:
HKSNil) is recognised during the year.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

b. BMKEKEEAEREE (&)

1= B /@ Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

BB (&)

AEEEETRRGEBBRHER
EFERPEECHREEREZE
BoRAKRERBRTZERERESR
BH TRABEEFRFPIBEX
(AMEERE) - FAHERERAR
BENZEMFEEMNE 3D A&
BrEZREEIRATRERARED
BEZER BERSSHBER K
SEHEFETILESZBERARRE
HWEMREHFEERFERFTR
BX)  MNBREMABEETR-

R-—B-HE=ZA=+—-0 &K
He 32 6 1 A5 18 401,723,000 7t (=
Z-MFE 111,000 ) RELOY
112,000 T (ZF-WF : F#Et)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Amounts due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the
business performance of the associate.
The Group’s credit risks in fthese
balances are mitigated through the
power to participate the relevant
activities of the associate. The directors
of the Company believe that there are
no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group assessed impairment
based on 12m ECL. Based on the
impairment assessment performed by
the Group, the management of the
Group considers the loss allowance
for amounts due from an associate
within 12m ECL as at 31 March 2025
was insignificant and accordingly no
allowance for credit losses is provided.

b.

38. €W IR (&)

MEEREEEREREXK(B)

1= B /7 B R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

R — B 2 F A

FEBEREEBENT 2 EBRE -
AEEEBSRBKENTAHBEEH 2

%b HEZEREBZEERR X

NEEBERD BYMRERUR. %
EeHoFERRILEBEIEM
AEEDERT = @Hﬁ%hﬁ%ﬁ
ETRENG REAKEEET Zﬂ
E?ﬁ AEEEREERR BE

—EFE=ZR=t—-8H" %%@7@
Wnﬁm+—@ﬁﬁ$E§@ETZ
BEBBILTER BUHYENRME
AEEEERE -



38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following
categories:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

b. BMKEKEEAEREE (&)

1= B /@ Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

FEEZABEERRTIREEUT
=5l

Internal credit

Other financial and

rating Description Trade receivables contract assets

R EE TR i EKE SRR HitemMRaNEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)

i REUFENARE - FHRBEERR EARHAEERR

(BEEHE)

Medium risk The counterparty has a medium risk of  Lifetime ECL (not 12m ECL
default. credit-impaired)

o B REHUFENARATE - FHRAEEEE NEREHAEEER

(BEERE)

Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL (not
in credit risk since inifial recognition credit-impaired) credit-impaired)
through information developed
internally or external resources.

3 BEBRBAEERANBERNIRR FHRBEEEE FHRAEERR
DR EERBERBEM - (BEERE) (BEERE)

Loss There is evidence indicatfing the asset  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
is credit-impaired. (credit-impaired) (credit-impaired)

BE BREETREEHREGNE FHRAEERE FHRAEERRE

(BEERE) (BREEHE)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the  Amount is written off Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

o FREEREBEADNHBREYRAARE SHCHH SHT M

YEERBETHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial

38. €W IR (&)
b. HBEREEEEREE (E)

EE R E G (E)

TRAMIHASEEESHEEDE 2
FERR HAETRHIFEEREN

assets, which are subject to ECL & :
assessment:
Gross
carrying amount
FHAE
External Internal
Note credit rating credit rating  12-month or lifetime ECL 2025 2024
i MBEEFR ABEEFE 12BAAFHRHMEEER ZR-EE ZBopE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn
Financial assets at amortised
costs
RRERAGTEZERER
Trade receivables (Nofe i) 24 NJA Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-mpaired) 3,667 3,466
LLEEESAGED) AER ERR FHRAEERE (BEEHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (creditimpaired) 222 942
AER BB FHRAEERE (REEAE)
Other receivables and deposits 26 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (individually assessed) 778 1,104
Note i)
HERFERES (W) AER ERR 1208 ARHEEEE (BRIFME)
Loan receivables (Note iif) 27 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (individually assessed) = 8,068
FE W & 5n (R i) AER ERR 12EARHEEER (REFM)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-mpaired) 6,736 -
R FHRAEERE (BREAE)
Contract assets (Note iv) 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (nof creditimpaired) = 118
aHEE (W) AER ERR FHRBEESR (BRERE)
Bank balances and cash at 28 AcdBao2  N/A 12m ECL 15,044 38,000
financial institutions (Note v)
E%fﬁﬁ%ii&ﬁﬁﬁwm AodBac2  FEA 12BARHRESR
v
Short-ferm bank deposits 28 Aad N/A 12m ECL 3,166 -
(Note v)
RRRTER (Hitv) Aa3 AER 12BARHEESR
Amount due from an associate 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 750 -
Note vi)
Bl -ERe N ATE (K AER EER 12BARHEESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Notes:

i

ii)

i)

iv)

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the ECL on
these items by an individual basis. As part
of the Group'’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers.

As at 31 March 2025, impairment allowance
of approximately HK$1,000 and HK$222,000
(2024: HK$1,000 and HK$942,000) were
made on not credit-impaired debtors and
credit-impaired debtors, respectively.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables and deposits on
12m ECL basis. In determining the ECL,
the Group has taken into account
the historical past due experience
and forward-looking macroeconomic
information as appropriate. There had been
no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. As at 31 March 2025,
the balances of approximately HK$656,000
(2024: HK$981,000) are not past due and
the internal credit rating is considered as
low risk.

As at 31 March 2025, loan receivables with
gross carrying amount of HK$6,736,000
(2024: HK$8,068,000) was assessed
individually, and HK$6,736,000 (2024:
HKS$Nil) were considered as doubtful (2024:
Low risk) because they are either unsecured
or loan principals were extended at due
date.

There have been significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition but
they are not credit-impaired. The Group
reassesses lifetime ECL for these loan
receivables. Credit loss allowance of
HK$1,707,000 (2024: HK$112,000) was
provided for these loan receivables after
considered the default rates over the
expected life of these loan receivables and
forward-looking information at the end of
the reporting period.

The Group did not provide any lifetime
ECL on confract assets as the amount is
insignificant.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

b. M¥EREERZERBEK (&)

1= B /@ Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

M &E

)) REWEZRAMS  A5ERATEY
BHESLEREOR 2B T ERFRAY
FEBETEBERRE ~KEEBERA
BREEEEZSHE cAREESE -
AAEEFERRERE -0 A&
BHEEFEAANBEENR -

R-ZZBE-HRE=A=1+—-H CHREFE
HEZEREREEEEREZERE
SRS RIIEBREREN1,0008 TR
222,000/ T (ZF = U4 : 1,000% T &
942,000/8 7T) °

i AEERI2CEAFEREEBBEFGEEAM
BWE SRR RIEE 2BERE  RNEE
EHEEEBEN AEECEEZRBHE
BHERRERBEBAEMEES - 5K
BALUR  FERMRIEEEZIRM - R =
Z-THAF=ZRB=+—H &F#656,000
BT (ZZ M4 981,000 ) I @
B MABEEFREREBERRE -

iy BE-ZT-HEE=Z/A=+
# {8 56,736,000 T (=
8,068,000 ) 2 EWNERCHETES
Fh > B 6,736,000 T (ZE=MF ¢
ZET)RIARR(CZ-MF KA
BER)  FREAZZERYBRERR
AEERIBAERD -

ZERBERBANRERREERRBEE
ELA BEEHRHREERE - AKEC
RUERWEREHRTILZHEHNCE
BiE - KREBZERBERNBARFED
AZENRRHEH R ZAEEERR
SRt EERERETR1,707,00058 T (=
TUF 1 112,0008 ) 2 EEEERE -

iv) HBHRSBEIFEXR WAEBELERSH
EERBEMFHAENEESSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management b.

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

V) The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on
bank balances, short-term bank deposits
and cash at financial institutions as the
amount is insignificant.

vi)  The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on
amount due from an associate at financial
institutions as the amount is insignificant.

The following ftable shows the
movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under
the simplified approach.

38. €W IR (&)

MEEREEEREREXK(B)

1= B /7 B R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

FiEE : (48)

V) HREBPIFAER AAEELERRIT
EEF EHRTERRSEBBRTRER
1218 B EHEERIE -

viy HEREREBEW-—BBELINNE
WAREKR  HAEENEHRZRERBE
2@ R FEHEERE -

TRETSMBELELTEZRERE S IR
RORRAZFHRMEEFE 228 -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

FHEH FHRS

FEER FEER
(BEERE) (BEEHE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TER TER
At 31 March 2023 N-ZE-=f=ZF=1+—-8H 275 2,275 2,550
Impairment losses reversed ERERESE (272) (720) (992)
Written off 85 - (605) (605)
New financial assets originated ¥ E4EZEREE 1 - 1
Exchange realignment EXRE 3) 8) (11)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-_NE=A=+-H 1 942 943
Impairment losses reversed ERERESE (1) (720) (721)
New financial assets originated R4 &RMEE 1 - 1
At 31 March 2025 RZE-_R&E=B=1+-H 1 222 223
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g.. when
the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings or in the
case of frade receivables, when the
amounts are over three years past
due. In respect of the credit-impaired
debtor with gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$222,000 (2024:
HK$942,000) and impairment loss of
approximately HKSNil (2024: HKSNil)
was recognised for the year ended 31
March 2025, the Group considered
the debtor is in significant financial
difficulty and has taken legal action
against the debtor to recover the
amount due. During the year 31
March 2025, the Group write-off the
credit-impaired debtors provided in
prior year with the carrying amount
of approximately HKS$Nil (2024:
HK$605,000) due to there is no realistic
prospect to recover the amount.

During the year 31 March 2025,
the Group reversed the impairment
losses amount of approximately
HK$720,000 (2024: HK$720,000) on one
credit-impaired debtor provided in prior
year due to legal action taken and part
of the amount was recovered during
the year.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
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38. €W IR (&)

b BKEBREEBZERBE(E)

1= B /@ Bz R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

1ﬁﬁﬁ§¥4§ﬁﬂﬁi§}\fﬁ/‘ﬁiiﬁﬂkl
FEAWEBERTWEAS (HlW:
BEEAEE ﬁ&aﬁxa&?&r‘)
IHMEVRESZERERMS  FESED
BHBB=F AEEMHERKES
ER -BE-_ET-_REF=ZA=+—8
IEFE - RE@AEBELN AH222,000%
E(—q—@$'942000;‘%7_5)&ﬁ
BEEENTEET(ZE-_MF:

) ZEEREREKES &EEE
BEEBESBET(ZT_NF:
) AEER %ﬁiﬁ%kﬁﬁuuikﬁ?}
B PR & iemafaﬁ%khﬁy,ﬁ'f?—ﬁ
HLUERIBFEB REEZ-_S_-H
F=ZRA=1+— EIJtEF; 7 5 B B 88
RBEFEFRZ2EERERKER
HIEEBEANSBT (ZE-NF:
605,000 t) » A B I A FEH AT UK
[B] 3R I o

REBE-ZE-_HAF=A=+—HILHF
B BRRECEETE  A5EERE
RBEFERHR —HEERERKIERNR
TR 2 BER1E4720,000/8 T (=&
Z— M 720,000 T) c MAAFE
2 W= &R D KA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

b. Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment
assessment (Continued)

38. 2T H (4)

b. BMKEKREEBEREE (&)

1= B /7 B R 6l 1B 7714 (48)

The following table shows the TRETCERI2EAEHREEESE

reconciliation of loss allowances that MWEEREEEMERRERIZEN
has been recognised for 12m ECL on YR -

other receivables and deposit:

12m ECL

1218 A A

FEER

HK$’000

FET

At 1 April 2023 R-ZZE-=FDTA—H 52

Impairment losses reversed ERERERE (52)

New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 124

Exchange realignment fERFE =

At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MNE=RA=+—H 124

Impairment losses reversed ERERERE (124)

New financial assets originated FRECEMEE 122

Exchange realignment fERFE =

At 31 March 2025

It represents the amount less than HK$1,000.

R-EB-HF=ZA=+—8H 122

2L R1,00058 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-_AF=B=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.&@MIT A ()
(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. HXEREEBEZRBE(B)
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment EEREEREEFFE(E)

assessment (Continued)

TRETEHEIANBERERESERE

The following table shows the

reconciliation of loss allowances B ¥TBR -
that has been recognised for loan
receivables:
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
EHRE
128 A &5 FEER
EEEBR (BEEEHE) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TEr
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=ZFNA—H - - -
New financial assets originated ¥ R4 ERMEE 111 - 11
Exchange realignment EXRE 1 - 1
At 31 March 2024 RZZE-NF=ZA=1+-H 112 - 112
Transfer to Lifetime ECL EZFHRBEERE (112) 112 -
Impairment losses reversed ERERESE - (112) (112)
New financial assets originated #B4E2E&RMEE - 1,723 1,723
Exchange realignment EXHE - (16) (16)
At 31 March 2025 W-B-HE=f=+-8 - 1,707 1,707
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

b.

Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidlity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk,
the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and bank balances and
adequate funding from its shareholders
to meet with its liquidity requirements.

The following fable details the Group’s
remaining confractual maturity for its
financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment term. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.
The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows.

38. €W IR (&)

b.

Culturecom Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024-2025
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FFEXEZHERBLEEY UK
BERERERH 2L o

EEEHERARRBEHRRDESE
ROUBRAEERFEH RS RIET
REREBEUARKREERRZERZES -
LmEERBESER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

(Continued)
b. Financial risk management b. HXEREEBEZRBE(B)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) HBELERE (&)
Liquidity tables HEEE K
Repayable In the
Weighted  on demand second fo Total
average or within fifth year undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year inclusive cash flows amount
REXS £-ZIER AER
MEFHFE R-FREE (BREREME) HRERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TET TER TER
2025 b Sk -5
Trade payables B E 5 R - 899 - 899 899
Other payables and HtEAHER
accrued charges EER - 8,887 - 8,887 8,887
Loan from directors REESZER - 3,000 - 3,000 3,000
Lease liabilities BERE 5.2% 2,200 381 2,581 2,494
Total ok 14,986 381 15,367 15,280
2024 —EomE
Trade payables EREZER - 946 - 946 946
Other payables and Hit EAFER
accrued charges BB - 8,320 - 8,320 8,320
Loan from a shareholder RE—-EZRRZER - 4,364 - 4,364 4,364
Loans from directors REESZER - 3,436 - 3,436 3,436
Lease liabilities BEER 5% 548 - 548 526
Total o 17,614 - 17,614 17,592

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

E_HF=ZRA=+—HLFE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

c. Fair values

i)

Culturecom Holdings Limited

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asset
is categorised in ifs entirety is
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The following table illustrates

38. €W IR (&)

c. AE¥EHE

) BEEMEENAFEEHES
rEFEBEES A FEE

THEERBTEBAZATE
EERRNZER THERHQYF
BEFEREBEAREZZREE
R A BUE -

TRHUBEAEFESMTIAZ AT

the fair value measurement BETEEH :
hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:
Significant Relationship of
Fair value unobservable inputs unobservable inputs
Financial assets Fair value hierarchy Valuation technique(s) to fair value to fair value
ATEEN ATRERARATEE
SREE AVEE AVEEES  fERE EZFUBEEN  NBR
2025 2024
ISCRE CECpE
HK$'000  HKS$'000
THT T
Listed equity securifies 883 1,940 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market N/A N/A
classified as financial
assefs af FVTPL
ARRARLVEEHABER 1% ERTSHBZEAE TER TER
ZEREEZ LT RARS
Unlisted investments 44 413 Level 3 Income approach - in this approach, the 1. Discount rate: 12% 1. The higher the
classified as financial discounted cash flow method was used to (2024: 9%) discount rate, the
assets at FVTOCI capture the present value of the expected future lower the fair value
economic benefits to be derived, based on an
appropriate discount rate 2. Growth rate 2. The higher the
assumed in the growth rate, the
expected cash flows:  higher the fair value
2% (2024: 5%)
ABRRATEEF AL ER REE-agnEn ERGENERE FRY 1 BRE1(ZZ 1 BREES AVE
2ENEZEHEEL RASREERBREDAREENENRE I 9%) fEHE
FLnRE

Annual Report 2024-2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

c. Fair values (Continued)

ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair
value measurements

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

38. €W IR (&)

C.

AFEE(E)
i) EIMAFEEHFBHYE

Financial assets

At FVTOCI

NAEEEFTA

Ht2EWE 2

TRMEE

HKS$'000

FHET

At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWA—H -

Acquisition of financial asset KEEmEE 419
Total gain in other comprehensive Hth2mEWlE P WA RS

income 2

Exchange realignment [ERFE (8)

At 31 March 2024 RZZEZWF=ZA=+—H 413
Total gain in other comprehensive Hth2EWl&E P WA RS

income 5

Exchange realignment (ERFE (4)

At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-ZHRF=ZA=+—H 414

During the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024, there were no
fransfers between level 1 and 2, or
fransfer intfo or out of level 3.

The fair value of other financial
assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis are determined
in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis.

BE-F-AFR-F-ME=
BE=t-RLFE LEEIR
SR ZMNEE  REIR
BAREHE -

W REEHEENDNFEER
EvHMbEREEREMAEELZ
AFEERRBELAREEEAR
RYERRERED T MEE

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e MR RME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

C.

Fair values (Continued)

ii) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair
value measurements (Continued)

The directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair value.

Included in other comprehensive
income is an amount of
approximately HK$5,000 (2024:
HK$2,000) gain related to unlisted
investment held at the end of the
reporting period and is reported as
changes of revaluation reserve.

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a.

Compensation of key
management personnel

The key management of the Group
comprises all directors, details of their
emoluments are disclosed in Note
15. The emoluments of the directors
are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company having
regard to individual's performance,
the Group’'s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and prevailing market
condition.

38. €W IR (&)

C.

NFEEGE)
i) ZIRAFEETEHEHK (E)

EERARGEUBERRARE
HERAARZEREERTHME
B2REELEZELAFEEMES -

Htim s W m 84 —£4 55,000
B (ZFEZWME 12,000 7T)
s - W s ERERE R
BENFLETRERR LFERE
EREEEBRE -

9. FEALRS

a.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

b.

Related party transactions

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements,
the Group entered into the following
fransactions with a related party during

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

9. FEREALRS (B)

b. FREALRS

BRRGREVBBERAMBIAREE
o RER AEERUTERBREA
TRAYRS

the year:
Related party Nature of tfransaction 2025 2024
FHEEAL REME —E-HF CZEZQF
HK$'000 HKS'000
TER FET
CMEL Royalty income 20 48
FR U A
CMEL Interest expense on lease liability
(Note i) 6 22
HEEBZFEMXZ (M)
CMEL Lease payment (Note i) 179 660
& AR (B EED
CMEL Repair and maintenance (Nofe ii) = 176
HEAE R HE & (B 5D
Note i Culturecom Limited, one of the i XEEEERLAR (REEZHEBAR

Note ii:

subsidiaries of the Group, leased an
office premise from CMEL, an associate
of the Group, with a lease term of two
years.

Culturecom Limited and Citicomics
Limited, subsidiaries of the Company,
paid approximately HKSNil (2024:
HK$88,000) respectively.

Z—)  BARKEE-BEE D FCMEL
HERLEWE  AMMEF -

Mei: X{tEEERATREENCLERD
A(RABEIZHMBAR) 2RZFHOE
BT (ZZE M : 88,000/ T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZTAF=A=1T—-HLFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

a. General information of
subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are as

40. XA RF 2 EEMEA A

a MEBRAAZ—REHR

APBR=ZB-RAFE=ZA=+—HB=E
ERBARZHFMAERNT :

follows:
Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal activifies
GNERTYS BRRAREE/ RARERERAL
il PR gE4Y/8% ifax BEARAEERH  IEXE
2025 2024
S S
% %
Citicomics Limited (Nofe i Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 85 85 Publishing and IPs licensing
BRUERA (W) s EER2ET R ARERRR
Culturecom Centre Limited (Nofe i) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 100 100 Provision of management services to group
companies
TBEROERAR (i) s EER2ET RUCERHTFRENT
Culturecom Enferprises Limited (Nofe i) -~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 100 100 Provision of management services to group
companies
THEELERRAT (i) s EER2ET RUCERHFRENT
Culturecom Limited (Nofe ii Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding and publishing and IPs licensings
HK$283,774,837
T BEARAF (Aaki) s BBR3T1483TET REERIRERRARERRE
Culturecom Investments Limited (Nofei) ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securities trading
TEERERRAT (W) s EER2ET REERREAEE
Culturekid shop (HK) Limited (Nofe i Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of wine
NEEEBERE (BR)ERAA (ML) B EER2ET EEid
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-Z-_AF=B=+—HLFE

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. K AR ZEEMB AR (B)
COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of a MEBARZ—MRER (&)
subsidiaries (Continued)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal activities
GENERTYE BRAREREE/ RAREREREL
hEATER EE4Y/EX ifax BETRATENS  :EER
2025 204
S82RF CERopf
% %
Winway HX. Investments Limited (Nofe ii)  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Investment holding and securities trading
KREBRERRAR (W) B EER2ET REERRE%EE
Ucan.com Group Limited (Nofe if) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Fati) E# EBRI0000%7 REER
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,618,900 51 51 Publishing and IPs licensing
(‘The one™) (Nofe i
-RELMERAA ([-BE ) (W) B EER161690087 HRRAREERE
Eqmen (Note (i), (vi)) PRC Registered RMB833,000 N/A N/A Digital marketing business
aam (&) - (i) E AMERARY TER TER U TAERER
833,007
L& EERNEARDE(Bejing Skyvior') PR Registered 5 55 Digital marketing business
(Note i RMB10,000,000
(42%8 ) (i) I AMERARS HELTRRERR
10,000,0007
Hyperchannel Info (Nofe (i), (v)) PRC Registered N/A N/A Digital marketing business
RMB10,000,000
EEES (i), (v) e AMERARS TER TER A TAERER
10,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

40. KRR EEMB AR (&)

a MEBRXAZ-—RER(E)

Proportion of nominal
Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued share capital
incorporation or paid share capital/ indirectly held
Name of subsidiaries registration/operation  registered capifal by the Group Principal activifies
HRATEER/ BRARARRE/ RAREEEREL
| PEEL EE4%/E% ARER BRTRATELS  TEER
2025 2024
ZECRE ZECpE
% %
SR (355) RELE (BRA M (Note ii) PRC Registered 100 100 Digital marketing business
(H3k i) RMB50,000,000
I AMERARH SBLMAREER
50,000,000
S8 (535) BEARAFNote (), (i) PRC Registered 100 100" Digital marketing business
EOR0) RMB100,000,000
G AMERARY SBLMARERE
100,000,0007
¥R E5 25 ENEERAF("Beiing Star’) PRC Regstered 80 80 Digital marketing business
(Nofe (i), () RMB4,993,758
(TEREAAL]) (Wi (v) e AfERARS SBLMAREER
4,993,787
EMRENBRRAENote (i), (vil)) PRC Registered N/A 100 Digtal marketing business
(WS, (i) RMB7,000,000
G AMERARY FER HBLMAREES
7,000,0007
RECEMEENKORE) BRAA(Nle  PRC Regstered 9% 93 Naturallanguage processing business
(in.(vin) RMB100,000,000
(k). (i) G AMERARH EREERERR
100,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

a.

@

(ii

(iii)

@v)

)

D

(vii)

(viii)

This subsidiary is wholly foreign owned
enterprises established in the PRC.

These subsidiaries are limited liability
companies incorporated in Hong Kong/
established in the PRC.

This subsidiary is a limited partnership
established in the PRC.

On 15 June 2023, the Board resolved to
commence liquidation procedure of the
subsidiary.

On 13 April 2023, the entire equity interest
of this subsidiary has been disposed to an
independent third party. Further details refer
to Note 36a.

This subsidiary has been deregistered on
20 March 2024. Further details refer to Note
36b.

On 4 April 2023, 7% equity interests of
this subsidiary have been disposed to an
independent third party.

This subsidiary has been deregistered on 4
July 2024. Further details refer to Note 36b.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

The directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets or
liabilities of the Group.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

 E-E_AF=RA=+—HLFE

40. XA RIZEEMB AR (&)

a.

MEAR 2 —RER (E)

iy BEWBLAARPERILZIEEE

¥ -

(iy ZEWBRRAAREBEIMAILRNF
B 2BRAT -

iy ZMBARBRIERLZEREBLE -

(ivy, REZZZ=ZFXATHH EFFRER
BZMEBARNEERF -

(V) RZZEZ=ZHDNA+=R ZMBRAZ
HREEO—EBYE=FHE - E—F
52 HMMEES6a °

i) ZMBARER-Z_WNE=HF=-+1H
o E— BB S MM 3

(i) REB-=FRAMB - ZMED A%
BRECO—BBILE=FLHE -

i) ZHBARNER-Z-mE Lt/ MAR
S o E— S HERSBKE30b o

FEMBARMERFARFLER
THEZEMEEES -

EERRHIHMBAR ZFMAE
HEEREERTR At EREH
NETBHEAKB XANEESRR
BzMBLRF -

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X RFZ2EEMB AR (8)

COMPANY (Confinued)

a. General information of Q.

subsidiaries (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate

MEAR 2 —RER (&)

RB|EBR  ARABELFHEAEHE
MEBERZHMHKBLRF - LEH
BRARAAZHERERRRABELES
(REBELHES)EE - HLEWERQ

in Hong Kong and British Virgin Islands RZEBXEBBRAT :
("BVI"). The principal activities of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:
Principal activities Principal places of business Number of subsidiaries
FTEEK TEEXLHY WEARHE
2025 2024

“EZRHE —ZT-NF
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 17 17
REZR KEBRLEE BB
Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 7 7
RIS KEBRLES &8 1E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling
interests

The table below shows details of
non-wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material
non-conftrolling interests:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

40. XA RIZEEMB AR (&)

b. BEEXRFERERZIFEEM

BLTRFHE

TRIIRAEBEFRZEWE D A HEE
BEARFERER 2FHF

Place of
incorporation Proportion of ownership
and principal interests and voting Profit (loss) llocated Accumulated
place of  rights held by non-controlling fo non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests interests interests
ERAILER FERREREL MEFERERL
il PEET IRERMY  HARERRARESDD B (58) BifERER
2025 2024 2025 204 2025 204
S3REF CEmE 0 CRCRE CRCME 0 CRCRE CEOQE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th THn Té7 Tén
The one - Hong Kong 49% 49% a0 154 75 24
(4
Eqmen 580 PRC 3%
g
Hyperchannel Info EEE4 PRC
L 3,928
Individually immaterial FAFERRRZBAFER
subsidiaries with HEAR
non-controling interests (6,080) (5,40
(5,365) (5,108)
F ] 2024-2026 XLBEEEERATE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

40. KRR EEMB AR (&)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFEZERER ZIIFZTEMN
subsidiaries that have BARFEE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
The one — B
2025 2024
—E-HF ZEDNOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE 173 -
Current assets mENEE 1,777 1,193
Current liabilities mEEE 491 594
Equity attributable to owners of the ARQFHEE AELER
Company 744 306
Non-controlling interests of The one — 88 2 IEIERER 715 294
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

40. XA RIZEEMB AR (&)

b. BEEAFERERZFEE

subsidiaries that have BB A RS (E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
The one (Continued) —BF (&)
2025 2024
—E_-REF —E-E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Revenue A 5,948 2,868
Cost of sales SHENA (3.532) (1,946)
Gross profit E R 2,416 922
Other income, other gains and Hibz - HthiEm
losses 20 12
Expenses B (1.750) (645)
Income tax credit FEHER 173 25
Profit for the year FEER 859 314
Profit attributable to owners of the Zx2 B#EE AEERER
Company 438 160
Profit attributable to the —BF 2 EREREMN
non-controlling interests of The Kl
one 421 154
Profit for the year FEEF 859 314
Net cash inflow from operating REEBEEZRER
activities F R 532 44
Net cash inflow from investing REXBEEZRER
activities FE 6 5
Net cash (outflow o) inflow from BEEEEEZRSE (FH)
financing activities MAFEE (260) 33
Net cash inflow BERMANFE 278 82

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X RFZ2EEMB AR (8)
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEERFERERZIEE
subsidiaries that have BB AR RFE (8)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Egmen ZEF
2025 2024
—E_RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTBT
Current assets REEE = -
Current liabilities mEEE - -

Equity attributable to owners of RABEE AELRER
the Company = -

Non-controlling interests of Egmen Z &M 2 =R ER - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

40. XA RIZEEMB AR (&)

b. BEEXRFERERZIFEEM

subsidiaries that have BARFEE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Egmen (Continued) B&EF (&)
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NEF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
Revenue PN - 131
Expenses (53 - (50)
Profit for the year FEER = 81
Profit attributable to owners of RABER AEEER
the Company - 45
Profit aftributable to the SEMZFERER
non-controlling interests of & 4 % R
Egmen = 36
Profit for the year F g A - 81
Other comprehensive expense AT ER AEGEEA
attributable to owners of the 2HEHAX
Company - (307)
Other comprehensive expense a2 EREREN
atftributable to non-controlling Hih2HEAX
interest of EQmen - (251)
Other comprehensive expense for FEEMZ2MEEAX
the year - (558)
F4§ 2024-2025 XABEEEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. X RFZ2EEMB AR (8)
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. BEEAFEZERER ZIIFZTEMN
subsidiaries that have BAaFEE(8)

material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Egmen (Continued) S&FFI(4E)
2025 2024
—E-FHE —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Total comprehensive expense AAREEAEMLZE
attributable to owners of the B
Company - (262)
Total comprehensive expense SHEMZEEREREMN
attributable to non-controlling THBAZEE
interests of EQmen - (215)
Total comprehensive expense for F£EZEE X &%
the year - (477)
Net cash outflow fo operating REERELE RS
activities piifeepe:E: ] - (42)
Net cash outflow to financing MEXBELEZRE
activities R - (28,226)
Net cash outflow BeREF5E - (28,268)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE-_Z-AF=A=+—HLFE

40. R AR ZETEMB AT (B)

b. BEEXRFERERZIFEEM

subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (B = %
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Current assets REEE = -
Current liabilities REBAE - -
Equity aftributable to owners of KAREE AEEER

the Company

Non-conftrolling inferests of
Hyperchannel Info

EEAG 2 FERER

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

40.PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

40. KRR EEMB AR (&)

b. BEEXRFERERIFEEM

subsidiaries that have BARFE(E)
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)
Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEH % ()
2025 2024
—E-HF ZEDNOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Revenue ON - 8,728
Expenses Bl - -
Profit for the year FEEF - 8,728
Profit attributable to owners of RATREEB AEMLEF
the Company 4,800
Profit attributable to the BEEEKXZIFERESR
non-controlling interests of & 4 % R
Hyperchannel Info 3,928
Profit for the year FE X 8,728
Other comprehensive income RAREE AEGHA
atftributable to owners of the e g
Company 7
Other comprehensive income EERAXEERER
attributable to non-controlling & 4k H At 2 [ UK &=
interest of Hyperchannel Info - 6
Other comprehensive income for F£EHM2EUH
the year - 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Confinued)

b.

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Details of non-wholly owned b.

subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling
interests (Continued)

BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

40. XA RIZEEMB AR (&)

BEEAFERERZIFZEN
BLRFE(E)

Hyperchannel Info (Continued) EEF% (FE)
2025 2024
—E-FHE —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTERT FET
Total comprehensive income AAREEAEMLZE
attributable to owners of the s 48 5E
Company - 4,807
Total comprehensive income EERAKZFERES
attributable to non-controlling BiEE2EKRZARE
interests of Hyperchannel Info = 3,934
Total comprehensive income for FEZHEW S
the year = 8,741
Net cash outflow to operating KREEBREEZRSE
activities T FEE - (122)
Net cash inflow from financing MEXBELEZRE
activities MA - 93
Net cash outflow BEMEF8E - (29)

T3 2024-2025 XLBEEERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

41.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

AN BREXBELERB YR

BREASKFREEZY BREXBELSR
BAREREFIRRREREENAEE
CHRERERERFIEAMEEBRE

nREzgafE-

Lease Loans from a Loans from
liabilities shareholder directors Total
RE—H REEE
HEEE RREZEX ZER am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT THERT
At 1 April 2023 R-ZBEZ=HMNA—H 2,547 - - 2,547
Financing cash flows REBERE (2,342) 4,364 3,436 5,458
Non-cash changes FREET
Finance costs BisEH 69 - - 69
New lease entered/lease MEHE/RETHE
modified 252 - - 252
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-MF=A
=+—H 526 4,364 3,436 8,326
Financing cash flows RERGTE (2,282) (4,364) (436) (7.082)
Non-cash changes FHEET
Finance costs BKER 133 - - 133
New lease entered/lease i HRE/
modified RIETHE 4,117 - - 4,117
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RE
=ZA=+-—H 2,494 - 3,000 5,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
 E-E_AF=RA=+—HLFE

42. PROVISIONS 42, 31
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-WE
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Legal claim EEBR 1,565 -

Movements in provision during the financial

year are set out below:

TMHRFENREBEEHRHINNT :

2025 2024
—E-HE C—ZTHOHF
HK$’000 HKS$"000
THET FHET

Carrying amount at beginning of the  F{]iREE
year - -
Charged to profit or loss FFABE 1,579 -
Exchange realignment ERFE (14) -
Carrying amount at end of the year FRERMEE 1,565 -

Note: As at 31 March 2025, the Group had provisions

classified as current liabilities in relation to disputes
with a supplier concerning legal proceeding
against the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC. The
provision was made based on best estimation
on the outcomes of the disputes in consideration
of the development of negotiations with the
creditor and advice sought from the independent
legal advisors. In cases where the actual future
oufcomes differ from the estimation, further
provision may be required.

As a result of the legal claim, one of the bank
accounts of the subsidiary in the PRC with other
defendants, with a nominal value of approximately
RMB1,052,000, has been frozen.

ME R-ZZB-HAF=ZR=+—-—H AKEEME-F
HEBHRAKEARTECHBAR ZERER
FEEZMBELERE Y2BEARBEE-
ZEEDREEEEAEENERRB L EE
BEENER  ZHUDEROREMGFMFL -
fARREREREMGAAER  AITREFTER
HE—SBE -

HREERR PEREAR EREMKE)
Heh—EmEELS AR052,0007 BHRTERF
EWREE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

43.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 16 April 2025, the Company entered
info the warrant placing agreement with
a placing agent in connection with the
warrant placing, pursuant to which the
sole placing agent has agreed to place,
on a best effort basis, up to 200,000,000
warrants conferring rights to subscribe for
up to 200,000,000 warrants share at the
initial warrant subscription price of HKS$0.3
per warrant share (subject to adjust) to the
warrant placee(s). Each warrant carries
the right to subscribe for one warrant
share. Further details are set outf in the
announcement of the Company dated 16
April 2025.

On 16 May 2025, the Company obtained
a fixed loan from a third party for financial
support amounted to HK$2,000,000 are
unsecured and payable on or before 16
June 2025 and interest bearing 24% per
annum. As at the date of this report, the
principal amount of the loan has not yet
been settled.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
there are no material subsequent events
took place after 31 March 2025 and up to
the date of this report.

A3. FEHEREH

R-ZEBE-HZFMA+ARHE AATHEERE
REFRABEZSOESET LAREERE
EHE Bt BERERZERENEE
o] 52 AR #E 5% A AL A B & & % 200,000,000147
RREFE MEBINTRINSIREER
RESRKRARERRH0.IB T (RERAE)
788 5 %200,000,000 SRR EFE IR 17 o =
MRAREFHNETREANTRE -—RIARER
B -E—FTHBERAELLTABHA-S
“HEFMA+AREHWAE

RZZBE-HFHEA+AB  XABTHMITHE
TEHERE=ZFTNE—ZEBEER 2EA
2,000,000t  ABIKHRER_-ZT -4
FRATABHE 2R XA BERE24%
R CRAREAH ZEERLEH K
EE o

BRAREHMBoAFREEN R2F
—HFE=ZA=1t-HERREEAXAREAHY
WHEBLEBRPRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMBHERME

44.INFORMATION ABOUT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_E-_hS=A=+—HLEE

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

44. ERA DR M BIRR 2 EHR

COMPANY
a. Statement of financial position a. AARMBRRKEFEE
and reserves of the Company
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Non-current asset IREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RKE AR 2w 35,870 35,870
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL NG 1,560 8,451
Other receivables and prepayments it f& WK IE & FE A3 7138 - 327
Bank balances IRITHT 584 875
2,144 9,653
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accrued charges HttENFIEREFEH 1,648 1,335
Loan from a shareholder KE—BREZER - 4,364
Loan from a director RE—BREEZER 3,000 3,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FE A B /B 1 B FR 1B 3,732 2,774
8,380 11,473
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (6.236) (1,820)
Net assets BEEFE 29,634 34,050
Capital and reserves EAXE#E
Share capital (Note 33) B A (M$EE33) 16,687 16,687
Share premium and reserves R R E R #EE
(Note 44b) (Bt &E44b) 12,947 17,363
Total equity B 29,634 34,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMBHERNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE—_ZEZ-_fF=A=1+—HLEE

44.INFORMATION ABOUT
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Confinued)

b. Movement in the Company’s

44. BERARRBMBRR 2 ER ()

b. AATFREEEH

reserves
Capital
Share  Contribufion  redemption  Accumulofed  Share opfion
premium surplus reserve losses reserves Total
ke B4ER RIBORE ZitEE  BRERR ko
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TER TER THR TER TER
At 1 April 2023 KBz
MA-A 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,240,425) 3,753 90,323
Loss for the year EEFE - - - (72,960) - (72,960)
At 31 March 2024 RZF-QRE
ZA=1-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,313,385) 3,753 17,363
Loss for the year EEFE - - - (4,416) - (4,416)
At 31 March 2025 it .2
ZA=1-H 2,064,406 262,143 446 (2,317,801) 3,753 12,947

45. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been
reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation. The new classification was
considered to provide a more appropriate
presentation of the state of affairs of the
Group.

45. L ¥ F
ETHBRBFEENIBUANEARFEZ
2 -HAOBRABTEBEB 2 ARE
E:VES 3 O
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The consolidated results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial
years, as exfracted from the audited financial
statements are as follows:

MEERE

AEERBEREMRFEZGEXEREE
REEDNRHEEKEELYBERR  HIWOT :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEE

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
“E--F B CZEZ=Zf ZE-_NE ZBE-RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TER TET
Results ES
Revenue O 206,605 62,365 30,600 20,158 17,328
Loss before fax BEAER (71.042)  (39574)  (38503)  (20,808)  (28,728)
Income tax expenses FrEsiE% (ER)
(credit) 1,121 369 (152) a21) 328
Loss for the year from REBELEEK
continuing operations FEBR (69.921) (39,205) (38,655) (20,929) (28,400)
Loss for the year from RERLBEER
discontinued operations EEEB (374) - - - -
Loss for the year KAREE AR
attributable fo owners of FEFE.
the Company:
- From continuing - REFELEER
operations (56,889)  (28.943)  (37.223)  (20.782)  (27.963)
- From discontinued - RERLEEER
operations (302) - - - =
(57,191)  (28.943)  (37.223)  (20.782)  (27,963)
Loss for the year FEREREN
attributable to EEBE:
non-controlling interests:
- From continuing -REGELEEY
operations (13,032) (10,262) (1.432) (147) (437)
- From discontinued -REALEEER
operations (72) = = = -
(13.104)  (10,262) (1,432) (147) (437)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRE

As at 31 March

R=ZA=+-AH
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
“E--F B CZE-=ZF ZE-_NE ZE-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FER TER TER TER TAER
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Property and equipment MERRE 473 163 89 81 113
Right-of-use assefs ERAEEE 2,260 172 617 273 777
Deposits e 1,333 - 466 488 485
Interests in associates REE AR 2R 1,195 935 765 222 98
Goodwill RS 1,396 - - - -
Intangible assets BN EE 5,366 2,057 6,013 5,525 29,761
Financial assets af fair value R A EEBE AER
through profit or loss ReoRMERE 1,802 8,032 6,301 226 187
Financial assets at fair BRAFEESA
value through other Hitt2EME 2
comprehensive income SREE - - - 413 414
Loan receivables EHRER - - - - 4,344
Deferred tax asset ELEHBEEE - - 31 40 456
Net current assets REBEETFE 160,377 179,547 133,475 101,411 43,847
174,202 190,906 147,757 108,679 80,482
Non-current liabilifies ES LY | (1,628) (12) (357) - (363)
172,574 190,894 147,400 108,679 80,119
Share capital LN 13,907 16,687 16,687 16,687 16,687
Share premium and ROGEREE
reserves 151,383 166,153 121,863 97,100 68,797
Equity attributable to ARAEE AL
owners of the Company B 165,290 182,840 138,550 113,787 85,484
Non-controlling interests FERER 7.284 8,054 8,850 (5.108) (5.365)
172,574 190,894 147,400 108,679 80,119
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